Western SGraduate&PostdoctoralStudies

Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-11-2013 12:00 AM

Amyloid beta resistance and the Warburg effect: Re-examining Alzheimer's disease

Jordan Taylor Newington The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor Dr. Robert Cumming *The University of Western Ontario*

Graduate Program in Biology A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree in Doctor of Philosophy © Jordan Taylor Newington 2013

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Cell Biology Commons, Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons, and the Nervous System Diseases Commons

Recommended Citation

Newington, Jordan Taylor, "Amyloid beta resistance and the Warburg effect: Re-examining Alzheimer's disease" (2013). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 1311. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/1311

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

AMYLOID BETA RESISTANCE AND THE WARBURG EFFECT: RE-EXAMINING ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

(Thesis format: Integrated Article)

by

Jordan Taylor Newington

Graduate Program in Biology

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Jordan Newington 2013

Abstract

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is characterized by deposition of the amyloid beta (A β) peptide in the brain, an event which frequently but not universally correlates with nerve cell death. Although most nerve cells die in response to $A\beta$, small populations of cells are able to survive by becoming resistant to $A\beta$ toxicity. Understanding the mechanisms by which cells become resistant to $A\beta$ may reveal novel treatments for AD. Interestingly, nerve cell lines selected for resistance against A β exhibit increased glucose uptake and glycolytic flux. Here I show that these metabolic changes are mediated through an upregulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1) and increased lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) activity. These metabolic alterations in A β resistant nerve cells are reminiscent of the Warburg effect, also known as aerobic glycolysis, a common anti-apoptotic mechanism elicited by cancer cells. Similar to cancer cells, $A\beta$ -resistant nerve cells exhibit reduced mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. Inhibiting PDK1 or LDHA expression or activity resensitized resistant cells to $A\beta$ toxicity. In contrast, overexpression of either PDK1 or LDHA in sensitive cells conferred resistance to $A\beta$ and other neurotoxins. Importantly, cells overexpressing either PDK1 or LDHA displayed repressed mitochondrial oxygen consumption with a concomitant decrease in mitochondrial ROS levels. Furthermore, these cells maintained cellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP) pools when exposed to $A\beta$, whereas sensitive cells became depleted of ATP. Immunoblot analysis revealed a decrease in PDK1 and LDHA levels in mouse primary cortical neurons treated with A β and in cortical tissue extracts from 12-month-old AD transgenic (APPswe/PS1dE9) mice. A similar decrease in PDK1 expression was observed in post-mortem brain extracts from AD patients. Treatment of cultured nerve cell lines and primary cortical neurons with CNB-001 and J147, novel neurotrophic drugs that prevent cognitive decline in AD mice, restored PDK1 and LDHA expression following A β treatment. Moreover, PDK1 expression was maintained in AD mice fed CNB-001. Collectively, these findings suggest that the Warburg effect plays a central role in mediating neuronal resistance to AB by decreasing mitochondrial activity and subsequent ROS production. Loss of this protective effect may render elderly individuals susceptible to AD.

Keywords

Alzheimer's disease, amyloid beta, Warburg effect, aerobic glycolysis, pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase, lactate dehydrogenase, toxicity, resistance, oxidative phosphorylation, reactive oxygen species, mitochondrial membrane potential

Co-Authorship Statement

Chapter 2: Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cell lines is mediated by the Warburg effect

This chapter has been published in its entirety in the journal, PLoS One. I performed all the experiments, and wrote the manuscript. Though I executed all of the experiments, compiled the data and performed statistical analysis, Andrew Chien quantified the mitochondrial reactive oxygen species fluorescence. Both Andrea Pitts and Robert Arsenault helped tend to my cells throughout the project. Dave Schubert supplied all the cell lines used for the study. My supervisor Dr. Robert Cumming contributed to the experimental design and assisted in the final drafting of the manuscript.

Note: PLoS One is an Open Access journal and does not require a request for copyright permission to use material published in a thesis.

Chapter 3: **Overexpression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 and lactate dehydrogenase A in nerve cells confers resistance to amyloid beta and other toxins by decreasing mitochondrial respiration and ROS production**

This chapter has been published in the Journal of Biological Chemistry. I conceptualized all experiments and drafted the manuscript. I played a role in the execution of all experiments, data collection and statistical analysis. Tim Rappon aided in the time-lapse microscopy and the making of the videos. He also performed the O_2 consumption and ATP experiments. Shawn Albers and Daisy Wong prepared the primary cortical nerve cell cultures. R. Jane Rylette provided the primary cells and allowed for use of her facilities. Dr. Robert Cumming contributed to the experimental design and drafting of the manuscript.

Note: The Journal of Biological Chemistry does not require a request for copyright permission for use of a published article in a thesis.

Chapter 5: General Discussion and Conclusions

Portions of this chapter have been taken from a review article that has been accepted for publication in the Journal of Neurodegenerative Diseases. I drafted the manuscript in its

entirety. Richard Harris helped in the making of the figures. Dr. Robert Cumming helped conceptualize and draft the manuscript.

Note: The Journal of Neurodegenerative Diseases does not require a request for copyright permission for use of a published article in a thesis.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Robert Cumming. Rob it has been a great pleasure to work with you over the last 5 years. Your support and guidance has been unwavering throughout this whole process, and for that I am truly grateful. My project would have never come to fruition if you did not decide to take a risk, and I thank you for taking that risk. You have helped me develop and hone my skills as a scientist, and I could not have asked for a better mentor. I have been so lucky to work with a supervisor who truly loves science and cares about the success of his students. I hope in the future I will continue to approach science in the way you have taught me to. Thank you so much for helping reach my goals.

I would like to thank the members of my advisor committee, Dr. Louise Milligan and Dr. Jim Staples for your time, guidance and encouragement throughout this process. I would also like to send a special thank you to Dr. Ron Podesta, for you constant support. You have always believed in me and given me countless opportunities. My career would not be as rich without your support. I am truly grateful for everything you have done for me.

I would like to thank Dr. Jane Rylette for sharing her resources and allowing me to use her facilities to complete my project. I would also like to thank Shawn Albers and Daisy Wong of the Rylette Lab for their help with the primary nerve cells.

Dr. David Schubert, your generosity has been the foundation to my project. Thank you for continuing to offer essential resources to me throughout my project, which without this project would have never gotten off the ground

To all the members of the Cumming lab, past and present you have all made my experience an unforgettable one. Andrea Pitts you are one of the strongest women I have met and you have inspired me to stand up for what I believe in. Robert Arseneault working with you was truly amazing and I am very lucky to have you as a friend. Tim Rappon, thank you for all your help throughout the years, you are truly a special person and I can't wait to see you succeed in all your future endeavors. Thank you to Richard Harris for a great last year, and for taking this project to the next stage. I would also like to thank members of the Damjonovski and Kelly lab for your support over the last 5 years. In order to foster good science, it is so important that people continue to share ideas and reagents in the way our labs do. A special thanks to Michelle Nieuwesteeg, you have been such an important person to me throughout this process.

I would also like to acknowledge the Ontario Graduate Scholarship, Queen Elizabeth II and the Alzheimer's Society of London and Middlesex for their financial support.

Lastly, I need to send my heartfelt thanks to my family. To my husband, Adam, you have always believed in me even when I haven't. I can't thank you enough for always encouraging me to go after my dreams; I could not have done this without your support. To my parents your love and support throughout the years is the reason I am here. To Graham, you make me want to strive to do better. To Carol and Morgan your love and support is so much appreciated.

Abstract	t	ii		
Co-Authorship Statementiv				
Table of	Conte	entsviii		
List of 7	Tables	xiv		
List of F	Figures	S XV		
List of A	Abbrev	viations xvii		
Chapte	r 1			
1 Intro	ductio	n and Literature Review		
1.1 4	Alzhei	mer's disease		
1	1.1.1	Alzheimer's disease overview		
1	1.1.2	Causes of AD		
1	1.1.3	Tau		
1	1.1.4	APP and $A\beta$		
1.2	Гhe Ar	nyloid hypothesis		
1	1.2.1	The Amyloid hypothesis overview7		
1	1.2.2	Oxidative stress and AD 11		
1	1.2.3	A β accumulation is associated with oxidative stress		
1.3	Aβ ind	uced mitochondrial dysfunction		
]	1.3.1	Mitochondria play a central role in Aβ toxicity		
]	1.3.2	Aβ accumulates within mitochondria and interacts with mitochondrial proteins		
1	1.3.3	$A\beta$ perturbs mitochondrial respiration and increases ROS production 15		
1.4 (Glucos	e metabolism and Aβ resistant cells16		
1	1.4.1	Glucose metabolism in nerve cells		

Table of Contents

		1.4.2	Glucose metabolism and AD	. 20
		1.4.3	Aβ resistance	. 20
	1.5	The W	arburg effect	. 22
		1.5.1	The Warburg effect (aerobic glycolysis) overview	. 22
		1.5.2	LDHA	. 24
		1.5.3	PDK1	. 25
		1.5.4	Aerobic glycolysis and the AD brain	. 26
	1.6	Alzhei	mer's disease cell lines and mouse models	. 27
		1.6.1	PC12 cells	. 27
		1.6.2	B12 cells	. 28
		1.6.3	HT22 cells	. 28
		1.6.4	Primary nerve cells	. 28
		1.6.5	APP/PS1	. 29
	1.7	Resear	ch Questions	. 29
		1.7.1	Summary	. 29
		1.7.2	Hypothesis and Objectives	. 30
	1.8	Refere	nces	. 32
C	hapt	er 2		.50
2	Am	yloid b	eta resistance in nerve cell lines is mediated by the Warburg effect	. 50
	2.1	Introdu	action	. 50
		2.1.1	Alzheimer's disease and amyloid resistance	. 50
		2.1.2	Aerobic glycolysis (the Warburg effect) in cancer	. 51
		2.1.3	Aerobic glycolysis in AD	. 52
	2.2	Metho	ds	. 53
		2.2.1	Materials	. 53

		2.2.2	Cell culture	. 54
		2.2.3	LDHA assay	. 54
		2.2.4	Lactate assay	. 55
		2.2.5	Immunoblot Analysis	. 56
		2.2.6	Cytotoxicity assay	. 56
		2.2.7	Fluorescence microscopy	. 57
		2.2.8	Derivation of PDK1 and LDHA knockdown cell lines	. 57
		2.2.9	Statistical Analysis	. 58
	2.3	Results	5	. 58
		2.3.1	Increased LDHA activity and lactate production in Aβ-resistant cells	. 58
		2.3.2	PDK1 levels are elevated in Aβ-resistant cells	. 59
		2.3.3	Mitochondrial ROS production is decreased in Aβ-resistant cells	. 60
		2.3.4	Chemical inhibition of LDHA or PDK1 restores sensitivity to $A\beta$ in resistant cells	. 68
		2.3.5	Attenuated LDHA and PDK1 expression reverses $A\beta$ resistance	. 71
	2.4	Discus	sion	. 75
	2.5	Conclu	ision	. 78
	2.6	Refere	nces	. 79
C	hapt	er 3		. 84
3	Ove nerv mite	erexpres ve cells ochondr	sion of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 and lactate dehydrogenase A ir confers resistance to amyloid beta and other toxins by decreasing tial respiration and ROS production	า . 84
	3.1	Introdu	iction	. 84
	3.2	Metho	ds	. 87
		3.2.1	Materials	. 87
		3.2.2	Cell culture	. 87
		3.2.3	Derivation of PDK1 and LDHA overexpressing cell lines	. 88

	3.2.4	Derivation of PDK1 and LDHA knockdown cell lines	88
	3.2.5	Immunoblot Analysis	88
	3.2.6	Cytotoxicity assay	89
	3.2.7	Oxygen Consumption	89
	3.2.8	ATP levels	90
	3.2.9	Fluorescence microscopy	90
	3.2.10	Primary nerve cell cultures	92
	3.2.11	Mouse and Human Tissue	92
	3.2.12	Statistical Analysis	93
3.3	Results	5	95
	3.3.1	Overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 confers resistance to $A\beta$, H_2O_2 and staurosporine toxicity	95
	3.3.2	Attenuated LDHA and PDK1 re-sensitizes cells to $A\beta$, H_2O_2 and staurosporine toxicity	98
	3.3.3	Decreased mitochondrial membrane potential in LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells	.01
	3.3.4	Overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 decreases oxygen consumption but maintains ATP levels in the presence of $A\beta$.04
	3.3.5	Attenuated mitochondrial and cellular ROS in LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing B12 cells	.07
	3.3.6	Decreased LDHA and PDK1 expression in primary nerve cells following exposure to $A\beta$	g .08
	3.3.7	Decreased LDHA and PDK1 expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice at months	12 08
	3.3.8	Decreased PDK1 expression in human AD cortical samples 1	.08
3.4	Discus	sion1	20
	3.4.1	Mitochondrial membrane potential, ROS production and Aβ sensitivity	20
	3.4.2	Protective role of LDHA and PDK1 1	21

		3.4.3	Glucose metabolism in the AD brain	3
	3.5	Conclu	12 usions	6
	3.6	Refere	nces	8
C	hapt	er 4		3
4	Nov exp	vel drug ression	as protect against A β and glutamate toxicity in nerve cells and sustain the of Warburg effect enzymes	3
	4.1	Introdu	action	3
	4.2	Metho	ds130	6
		4.2.1	Materials	6
		4.2.2	Cell Culture	7
		4.2.3	Immunoblot analysis	8
		4.2.4	Fluorescence Microscopy	8
		4.2.5	AD mouse tissue	9
		4.2.6	Statistical Analysis	9
	4.3	Result	s	9
		4.3.1	CNB-001 and J147 protect cells exposed to glutamate and preserves PDK1 and LDHA expression	9
		4.3.2	CNB-001 or J147 protects against Aβ toxicity and maintains PDK1 and LDHA expression in primary nerve cells	5
		4.3.3	CNB-001 maintains PDK1 expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice 152	2
	4.4	Discus	sion	5
		4.4.1	Glutamate toxicity and aerobic glycolysis	5
		4.4.2	Protective role for maintenance of a Warburg effect in nerve cells exposed to $A\beta$	1 7
		4.4.3	Activation of PDK1 or LDHA by CNB-001 and J14715	8
	4.5	Conclu	usions	0
	4.6	Refere	nces	1
C	Chapter 5			

5	5 General Discussion and Conclusions 1		
	5.1	Summ	ary166
		5.1.1	Summary of Findings
		5.1.2	Limitations of study 170
	5.2	Global	l perspective of findings 172
		5.2.1	Aerobic glycolysis and the AD brain
		5.2.2	AD and cancer
		5.2.3	Lactate is a neuroprotective metabolite
		5.2.4	Astrocytic lactate production and memory 174
		5.2.5	Exercise induced lactate production enhances memory 176
	5.3	Conclu	usions and Future Studies
		5.3.1	Conclusions and suggestions for future research
5.4 References		ences	
C	urric	ulum V	itae

List of Tables

Table 1. Control and AD patient details	. 94	4
---	------	---

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic of amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing
Figure 1.2 The amyloid cascade hypothesis 10
Figure 1.3 Hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) alterations in glucose metabolism in response to hypoxia
Figure 2.1 LDHA activity and lactate levels are elevated in Aβ-resistant cells
Figure 2.2 PDK1 is upregulated in Aβ resistant cells
Figure 2.3 Decreased mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in $A\beta$ resistant cells
Figure 2.4 Chemically inhibiting LDHA or PDK1 decreases cell viability in Aβ resistant cells
Figure 2.5 Attenuated LDHA or PDK1 expression increases sensitivity of resistant cell lines to Aβ
Figure 3.1 Overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 increases resistance to Aβ and other toxins in B12 sensitive cells
Figure 3.2 Attenuated LDHA and PDK1 expression increases sensitivity to Aβ and other neurotoxins
Figure 3.3 Decreased mitochondrial membrane potential in LDHA and PDK 1 overexpressing cells
Figure 3.4 Respiration is decreased but ATP levels are maintained in cells overexpressing LDHA and PDK1
Figure 3.5 Decreased mitochondrial ROS in LDHA and PDK 1 overexpressing cells 110
Figure 3.6 Decreased cellular ROS in LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells 113

Figure 3.7 A β exposure inhibits expression of Warburg effect enzymes in mouse primary
cortical neurons 115
Figure 3.8 PDK1 and LDHA protein levels are decreased in APP/PS1 transgenic mice 117
Figure 3.9 PDK1 is decreased in cortical extracts from AD patients
Figure 3.10 Proposed model describing the relationship between aerobic glycolysis and AD
Figure 4.1 CNB-001 and J147 protect HT22 cells from glutamate toxicity 142
Figure 4.2 CNB-001 and J147 maintain PDK1 and LDHA expression in HT22 cells exposed
to glutamate
Figure 4.3 CNB-001 and J147 protect primary cortical neurons from Aβ toxicity 147
Figure 4.4 CNB-001 increases PDK1 and LDHA in primary cortical neurons treated with $A\beta$
Figure 4.5 J147 maintains the expression of PDK1 and LDHA in primary cortical neurons exposed to Aβ
Figure 4.6 CNB-001 preserves PDK1 expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice 154
Figure 5.1 Aerobic glycolysis in Aβ resistant cells

List of Abbreviations

α-KGDHC	α-ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex
$\Delta \psi_m$	mitochondrial membrane potential
Αβ	amyloid beta
ABAD	alcohol dehydrogenase
Acetyl-CoA	acetyl coenzyme A
AD	Alzheimer's disease
APH-1A	anterior pharynx-defective 1A
APOE-E4	apolipoprotein E
APP	amyloid precursor protein
ATP	adensoine triphosphate
BACE	β-site APP cleaving enzyme
BBB	blood brain barrier
BNDF	brain derived neurotrophic factor
cDNA	complimentary deoxyribonucleic acid
COX	cytochrome oxidase
CNS	central nervous system
Cyt c	cytochrome c
DCA	dichloroacetic acid
DCFDA	dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
DIAN	dominantly inherited Alzheimer's network
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagles medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline
Drp1	dynamin-related protein 1
DS	down's syndrome
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ETC	electron transport chain
FAD	familial Alzheimer's disease
FBS	fetal bovine Serum
FDG	fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose
FTDP-17	frontotemporal dementia and parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17
G6PDH	glucose 6 phosphate dehydrogenase
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GLUT	glucose transporters
GSH	glutathione
HIF-1	hypoxia inducible factor 1
HK	hexokinase
HNE	4-hydroxynonenal
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HS	horse serum
J147	1-(2,4-dimethylphenyl)-2-(3-methoxybenzylidene) hydrazine chloride
LDHA	lactate dehydrogenase A
MAPT	microtubule associated protein tau

MCT	monocarboxylate transporters
MnSOD	manganese superoxide dismutase
MT	microtubules
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethlythiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
MTR	mitotracker red CM-H2XRos
NAD	nicotinamide adenine dinucleuotide
NDAN	non-demented individuals with Alzheimer's disease neuropathology
NF-κB	nuclear factor-kappa B
NFT	neurofibrillary tangles
NGF	nerve growth factor
OMM	outer mitochondrial membrane
OXOPHOS	oxidative phosphorylation
PCA	perchloric acid
PET	positron emission tomography
PDH	pyruvate dehydrogenase
PDK	pyruvate dehydrogenase kinasae
PHF	paired helical fragments
PI	propidium iodide
PIB	pittsburg compound
РК	pyruvate kinase
PMI	post-mortem interval
PMSF	phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
PPF	plaques per field
PPS	pentose phosphate shunt
Prx	peroxiredoxin
P/S	penicillin/streptomycin
PS1	presenilin 1
PS2	presenilin 2
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
RAGE	receptor for advanced glycation end products
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SCR	scramble
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
shRNA	short hairpin ribonucleic acid
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TCA	tricarboxylic acid cycle
TFAM	transcription factor A, mitochondrial
tg-AD	APPswe/PSEN1dE9 double transgenic mouse strain
TMRM	tetramethyl rhodamine methyl ester
WT	wild type

Chapter 1

1 Introduction and Literature Review

1.1 Alzheimer's disease

1.1.1 Alzheimer's disease overview

Alzheimer disease (AD) is one of the most common neurodegenerative disorders in the elderly and is characterized by behavioral, cognitive and memory impairment. AD is the most common form of dementia accounting for 60-80% of reported cases in the United States, where one in eight individuals over the age of 65 are suffering from some form of dementia (Corrada et al., 2008; Plassman et al., 2007). In 2009 an estimated 34.4 million individuals were affected with dementia, and an estimated \$279 billion was spent worldwide for direct costs to care for patients suffering from AD and related dementias (Wimo et al., 2010). Currently, approximately 5.4 million Americans are living with AD, a number which is expected to double or triple by 2050 (Thies and Bleiler, 2011). Moreover, AD is the fifth leading cause of death in the United States (Thies and Bleiler, 2011). Clearly AD represents a critical public health issue for societies worldwide. Efforts focused on further understanding the pathology of the disease could aid in the development of effective preventions, treatments or cures which could significantly reduce the physical, emotional and financial burden of Pathologically, AD is characterized by widespread nerve cell death and the AD. accumulation of extracellular plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) within the brain (Masters et al., 1985a,b). The frequency of plaques and tangles are often concentrated in the cortex and hippocampus, areas of the brain associated with higher cognitive functions and memory and severely affected in AD (Mann et al., 1985; Sabuncu et al., 2011). These plaques are primarily composed of amyloid- β -peptide (A β), a 40-42 amino acid peptide derived from the proteolytic cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) by secretase complexes, including β -secretase, Presenilin 1 (PS1), Presenilin 2 (PS2) and γ secretase (Hardy, 1997; Masters et al., 1985b; Selkoe, 1998). The intraneuronal NFTs are composed of the microtubule (MT) associated phosphoprotein tau (Koster et al., 1989; Mandelkow and Mandelkow, 1998). In AD, tau becomes hyperphosphorylated which leads

to its aggregation resulting in destabilization of MTs and the disruption of axonal transport (Delacourte and Buee, 1997; Mandelkow et al., 1995; Trojanowski and Lee, 1995).

1.1.2 Causes of AD

The majority of AD cases are sporadic and occur at a late age (greater than 65 years), with only a small percentage of cases associated with autosomal dominant mutations. The cause or causes of AD are poorly understood, with the greatest risk factor being age. In the rare familial forms of the disease, mutations in three major genes have been identified that result in early onset AD (Levy-Lahad et al., 1995; Piaceri et al., 2013; Williamson et al., 2009). These genes encode APP, PS1 and PS2 (Levy-Lahad et al., 1995; Piaceri et al., 2013; Williamson et al., 2009). All mutations associated with AD alter the processing of APP to favor the production and accumulation of A β (Hardy, 1997; Williamson et al., 2009). Additionally an apolipoprotein E (APOE) allelic variant, APOE-E4, has been identified as a risk factor for the development of late-onset AD (Farrer et al., 1997; Tang et al., 1998). The APOE-E4 polymorphism is associated with increased Aβ deposition and fibril formation, and decreased AB clearance (Ma et al., 1994; Schmechel et al., 1993). Thus, taken together, AB has garnered a great deal of attention due to its likely role in the pathogenesis of AD. More recently using genome-wide association studies researchers have identified a number of allelic variants of genes associated with an increased risk for the development of late-onset AD, including CLU, PICALM, TREM, SORL1 and CR1 (Alexopoulos et al. 2011; Cruchaga et al. 2013; Guo et al. 2012; Harold et al. 2009; Jin et al. 2012; Zhang et al 2010). Further investigation into the effects of these genes is required to advance the understanding of the Though not associated with familial forms of the disease the causes of late-onset AD. accumulation of intracellular NFTs composed of tau protein has also been proposed to play a primary role in the pathogenesis of AD.

1.1.3 Tau

Tau proteins belong to the family of microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs), and are found almost exclusively in nerve cells (Schoenfeld and Obar, 1994; Tucker, 1990). Located on chromosome 17 the *tau* gene, also known as microtubule-associated protein tau (*MAPT*), expresses a primary transcript containing 16 exons which can be differentially spliced into six tau isoforms (Andreadis et al., 1992; Goedert et al., 1989; Neve et al., 1986). The six

isoforms range in molecular weight from 45-65 kDa and are differentially expressed during development suggesting unique physiological roles for each isoform (Buee et al., 2000; Kosik et al., 1989). Importantly all six isoforms are expressed in the adult brain (Goedert and Jakes, 1990; Kosik et al., 1989). The mature tau proteins promote the assembly of tubulin and function to stabilize MTs through their association with this cytoskeletal component (Alonso et al., 2001; Drubin and Kirschner, 1986; Weingarten et al., 1975). The stabilization of axonal MTs plays a critical role in the transport of important proteins along axons to synapses. Tau proteins are normally regulated by their degree of phosphorylation (Lindwall and Cole, 1984). In patients with AD, tau is abnormally hyperphosphorylated affecting its ability to associate with and stabilize MTs thereby disrupting their assembly and ultimately disrupting axonal transport (Iqbal et al., 1986; Kopke et al., 1993). The hyperphosphorylation of tau promotes the aggregation of the protein into paired helical filaments (PHF) which are the major constituent of intracellular tangles found in the AD brain (Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986a; Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986b). As a result of its dysregulation and formation of tangles in AD, hyperphosphoryated tau has been proposed to play an important role in the pathogenesis of AD (Noble et al., 2011).

1.1.4 APP and $A\beta$

The *APP* gene is located on chromosome 21 and encodes a receptor like integral membrane protein which is ubiquitiously expressed in cells throughout the body (De Strooper and Annaert, 2000; Kang et al., 1987). Though APP may have a role in synapse formation and transmission (Priller et al., 2006), neural plasticity (Turner et al., 2003) and iron export (Duce et al., 2010), a primary role of APP has not yet been clearly defined. APP has a short half life and is constitutively cleaved into various fragments by different secretases; namely α -secretase, β -secretase and γ -secretase. Proteolytic cleavage by α -secretase or β -secretase releases the soluble 100-120 kDa ectodomain of APP, leaving the 10-12 kDa transmembrane C-terminal domain (De Strooper and Annaert, 2000; Shoji et al., 1992). Subsequent cleavage by γ -secretase of the APP C-terminal fragment produced by α -secretase results in the secretion of a 4 kDa 40-42 amino acid long A β peptide which can be toxic to nerve cells

(Figure 1.1) (De Strooper and Annaert, 2000; Shoji et al., 1992). $A\beta_{1-40}$ is the most commonly produced peptide and is less likely to have a pathogenic effect, whereas $A\beta_{1,42}$ peptide is more fibrillogenic due to the two additional hydrophobic amino acids: isoleucine and alanine (Jarrett et al., 1993). The P3 fragment and A β are constitutively released by normal cells and can be detected in the cerebral spinal fluid from normal individuals and those with AD, however in the case of AD, A β is primarily produced and is virtually the exclusive constituent of the plaques that form in the brain (Haass et al., 1992; Seubert et al., 1992; Shoji et al., 1992). In normal individuals $A\beta$ is actively metabolized, however individuals with AD have increased production of A β and perturbed clearance which leads to an imbalance between the production and removal of this toxic species (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Mawuenyega et al., 2010). Though not well understood, clinically relevant levels of A β deposition occurs only in the brain (Selkoe, 1998). Once released the A β protein undergoes conformational switching between an α -helix conformation to a β -sheet structure (Lansbury, 1999; Serpell, 2000). The β -sheet structure is tightly linked to fibril formation in which the peptide strands are aligned orthogonally to the direction of fibril growth, also known as the "cross- β " motif, which is the main constituent of neuritic plaques (Lansbury, 1999; Serpell, 2000). Small oligomeric intermediates and short protofibres consisting of 5-6 β -sheets are also present in AD and both are believed to be precursors to full length fibres (Harper et al., 1997; Stine et al., 1996; Walsh et al., 1999). An overall increase in A β production, as observed in AD, results in increases in A β oligomers, fibrils and plaques in the central nervous system (CNS). Though it is often debated whether A β fibrils or A β oligomers play a more important role in the pathogenesis of AD, both are neurotoxic and appear to be important players.

Figure 1.1 Schematic of amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing. The APP protein is a transmembrane protein that is cleaved by two distinct pathways: non-amyloidogenic (left) or amyloidgenic (right). Cleavage of APP by α -secretase followed by γ -secretase results in the production of a non-pathogenic P3 fragment. In contrast, cleavage by β -secretase followed by γ -secretase results in the generation of a pathogenic A β peptide which can subsequently form oligomers, protofobrils and fibrils which are neurotoxic to nerve cells.



1.2 The Amyloid hypothesis

1.2.1 The Amyloid hypothesis overview

The amyloid hypothesis, first proposed over 20 years ago, suggests that A β deposition in the brain is the primary causative agent of AD (Hardy and Higgins, 1992; Selkoe, 1991). A few major observations formed the basis of this hypothesis. Importantly, the first genetic mutations associated with familial AD (FAD) were in the APP gene and were associated with the overproduction of A β (Goate et al., 1991; Hardy, 1992; Hendriks et al., 1992; Mullan et al., 1992). The other identified inherited mutations are in *PS1* and *PS2*, which also increase the processing of APP to favor the production of A β (Scheuner et al., 1996). PS1 and PS2 form a complex with γ -secretase and play a direct role in the processing of APP (Sisodia and St George-Hyslop, 2002). Thus all identified genetic mutations causing AD are associated with the increased production of $A\beta$. Moreover, individuals with Down's syndrome (DS) display similar neuropathological features of AD, mainly plaques, tangles and neurodegeneration, with most individuals developing dementia early in life (Head et al., 2002; Mann and Esiri, 1989; Wisniewski et al., 1985). DS is caused by an extra copy of chromosome 21, the location of the APP gene, therefore APP is overexpressed in people with this disorder. Though the cause of late-onset AD remains elusive, the only identified risk factor is inheritance of the APOE-E4 allele, a genetic variant of the APOE gene (Corder et al., 1993). Interestingly mice lacking APOE crossed with transgenic mice overexpressing mutant human APP, exhibited reduced A β deposition compared to APP transgenic mice, suggesting that APOE affects AB deposition in vivo (Bales et al., 1997; Holtzman et al., 2000). These observations coupled with studies showing A β readily kills cultured nerve cells, led to the theory that A β is the primary factor driving AD pathogenesis (Behl et al., 1992; Mattson et al., 1992; Yankner et al., 1990).

Although hyperphosphoryated tau has also been implicated as a pathogenic protein in AD, mutations in *MAPT* have not been detected in FAD. However, mutations in *MAPT* have been associated with an autosomal dominantly inherited dementia named frontotemporal dementia and Parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17 (FTDP-17, Pick's disease), which is characterized by severe neurodegeneration in the frontotemporal lobe and the presence of NFTs in both nerve and glial cells (Hutton et al., 1998; Poorkaj et al., 1998; Spillantini and

Goedert, 1998). Notably, there is no A_β deposition associated with FTDP-17 (Hutton et al., 1998; Poorkaj et al., 1998; Spillantini and Goedert, 1998). Thus alterations in tau that lead to neurodegeneration and NFT deposition are not sufficient to promote A β deposition as observed in AD (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002). Therefore it has been proposed that NFTs composed of wild type (WT) tau as seen in AD, likely arise secondarily to A β deposition (Hardy et al., 1998). Transgenic mice expressing a human tau containing the most common FTDP-17 mutation (P301L) exhibited NFT formation in the midbrain and spinal cord, but had no NFTs in the cortex and hippocampus, areas known to be affected in AD (Lewis et al., 2000). However, crossing these transgenic mice with AD transgenic mice expressing mutant APP resulted in A β deposits and NFTs throughout the cortex, suggesting that A β influences the formation of NFTs in areas affected in AD (Lewis et al., 2001). Taken together the excess of A β deposition in the brains of patients with AD appears to play a principle role in the pathogenesis of AD. The proposed mechanisms by which $A\beta$ elicits nerve cell toxicity and contributes to the pathogenic events leading to AD will be discussed in detail below. In summary, A β production and accumulation, as a result of genetic mutations or in most cases unknown causes, results in the hyperphosphorylation of tau, increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), mitochondrial dysfunction and activation of inflammatory processes. The resulting increase in oxidative stress promotes neurodegeneration leading to synaptic loss and nerve cell death which clinically manifests as cognitive deficits and memory loss which are classical symptoms of AD (Figure 1.2).

Figure 1.2 The amyloid cascade hypothesis. The amyloid cascade hypothesis contends that $A\beta$ deposition is the primary influence driving Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain pathology. The accumulation of $A\beta$ as a result of rare familial mutations in the amyloid precursor protein (*APP*), presenilin 1 (*PS1*) and presenilin 2 (*PS2*) or in most cases due to unknown causes results in altered tau regulation leading to its hyperphosphorylation and aggregation into tangles within nerve cells. Moreover, $A\beta$ directly and indirectly induces mitochondrial dysfunction and increases reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels resulting in increased oxidative stress. $A\beta$ induced oxidative stress activates an inflammatory response which further potentiates the production of $A\beta$. These $A\beta$ induced cellular changes lead to synaptic loss and widespread nerve cell loss in the brain, which is clinically manifested as cognitive

deficits and memory loss typical of AD.



1.2.2 Oxidative stress and AD

The AD brain exhibits extensive free radical damage, due to the accumulation of ROS (Butterfield, 1997; Markesbery, 1997; Smith et al., 2000). ROS are highly reactive molecules which contain an unpaired electron on the outermost shell of oxygen. Due to their reactivity, ROS are capable of modifying macromolecules by oxidizing lipids, proteins and nucleic acids often altering their biological functions. The redox state in a cell is defined by the balance between pro-oxidant and anti-oxidant processes. Pro-oxidant processes result in the production of ROS, whereas anti-oxidant processes detoxify ROS and/or prevent their formation. ROS are formed by several different mechanisms but most notably are formed as a natural byproduct of the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC) due to the early offloading of electrons at Complex I or III of the ETC onto molecular oxygen during normal In an adult, approximately 2% of molecular oxygen consumed by the metabolism. respiratory chain gives rise to ROS, a number which is known to rise with age (Balaban et al., 2005). The production of ROS is balanced by the antioxidant defense system, which consists of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants. Enzymatic antioxidants include superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, the glutathione (GSH) system (GSH peroxidases and reductases), peroxiredoxins (Prxs) and thioredoxins. For example the superoxide (O_2) anion produced as a result of the partial reduction of oxygen in the mitochondria is quickly reduced to hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) by SOD which can be further degraded into water and oxygen by catalase. However, in the presence of transition metals (Fe, Cu, Cr and Co), H_2O_2 can be converted to highly reactive hydroxyl radicals (OH), a species for which there is no known detoxifying system (Gutteridge, 1994). These reactive hydroxyl radicals can damage almost any macromolecule, wreaking havoc on a cell when produced.

At normal physiological levels ROS function as important signal transducers which play an important role in regulating cellular function (Covarrubias et al., 2008; Marchi et al., 2012; Ufer et al., 2010). However an imbalance in the production and/or detoxification of ROS can result in oxidative stress and subsequent oxidative damage which can ultimately lead to cell death (Pratico, 2008). The brain is especially susceptible to oxidative damage due to its high rate of oxidative metabolism (it consumes 20% of oxygen while only representing 2% of body mass), low levels of antioxidants (compared to other organs), high concentrations of polyunsaturated fats and high content of transition metals (Behl, 1997; Halliwell, 1989, 1992;

Halliwell et al., 1992; Pratico, 2008). Polyunsaturated fats are particularly susceptible to oxidation by ROS resulting in lipid peroxidation or oxidative degradation of lipids in membranes which cause significant damage to the cell (Butterfield and Lauderback, 2002). Moreover, transition metals themselves are capable of catalyzing ROS formation, further contributing to oxidative stress in a cell. In AD there is an imbalance between pro- and antioxidant processes which results in oxidative damage (Behl, 1997; Markesbery, 1997). As a result, markers of oxidative stress have been well described in the AD brain including protein, DNA and RNA oxidation and lipid peroxidation (Butterfield, 1997; Markesbery, 1997; Smith et al., 2000). These observations have led to the oxidative stress hypothesis which posits that elevated oxidative stress results in cumulative damage over time that promotes AD pathogenesis (Markesbery, 1997; Pratico, 2008). The increase in ROS in the AD brain is believed to arise, in part, by A β deposition and mitochondrial dysfunction (Behl, 1997; Casley et al., 2002; Caspersen et al., 2005; Pratico, 2008). A β -induced ROS production and mitochondrial dysfunction will be discussed below.

1.2.3 Aβ accumulation is associated with oxidative stress

Evidence suggests that $A\beta$ deposition both directly and indirectly induces oxidative stress in the AD brain which is likely to contribute to the peptides neurotoxicity (Behl, 1997). The overexpression of APP in M17 cells results in increased levels of cellular ROS (Wang et al., 2008). Similarly, exogenous $A\beta$ has been shown to produce a dose dependent increase in free-radical generation (H₂O₂) and neurotoxicity *in vitro* (Behl et al., 1992; Behl et al., 1994b; Harris et al., 1995). Increased levels of H₂O₂ were also observed in the brains of AD transgenic mice, which were directly related to the level of soluble $A\beta$ (Manczak et al., 2006). The increase in ROS elicited by $A\beta$ exposure ultimately results in lipid peroxidation, which is prominent in the AD brain (Arlt et al., 2002; Behl et al., 1992; Subbarao et al., 1990). Importantly, exogenously applied antioxidants protect against $A\beta$ toxicity *in vitro* (Behl et al., 1992; Behl et al., 1994b). Taken together ROS, more specifically H₂O₂, appear to be closely associated with $A\beta$ induced neurotoxicity.

Elevated levels of H_2O_2 as observed in AD, can also activate the transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) (Schreck et al., 1991). The activation of NF- κ B results in the transcription of genes involved in the inflammatory response which when activated further

potentiates the production of ROS (Schreck et al., 1991). Aβ has also been shown to induce the activity of NF-κB (Behl et al., 1994b; Kaltschmidt et al., 1997; Valerio et al., 2006). Moreover, NF-κB inhibitors prevented intraneuronal accumulation and secretion of Aβ, suggesting a possible positive feedback loop of Aβ production (Valerio et al., 2006). Further contributing to the accumulation of Aβ, H₂O₂ and 4-Hydroxynonenal (HNE), a product of lipid peroxidation, have been shown to increase the activity of β-secretase or β-site APP cleaving enzyme (BACE1) *in vitro* (Bourne et al., 2007; Tamagno et al., 2005). Additionally, NF-κB binding elements have been identified in the human *BACE1* promoter region and the overexpression of NF-κB subunit p65 up-regulates BACE1 cleavage and Aβ production (Chen et al., 2011). Thus, initial activation of NF-κB as a result of Aβ deposition and increased H₂O₂ levels is likely to induce expression of *BACE1*, leading to the increased production of Aβ and potentiating toxicity in a positive feedback loop (Chen et al., 2011). Both BACE1 and NF-κB subunit p65 levels are significantly increased in the brains of AD patients (Chen et al., 2011; Terai et al., 1996). Taken together it appears that ROS is an important mediator of Aβ induced neurotoxicity.

1.3 Aβ induced mitochondrial dysfunction

1.3.1 Mitochondria play a central role in A β toxicity

Mitochondria are specialized organelles that function as key regulators of cell survival and cell death. Most notably, mitochondria are the site of cellular respiration and are responsible for the production of the majority of cellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP). The impairment of mitochondrial metabolism in AD has been well documented (Casley et al., 2002; Caspersen et al., 2005; Gibson et al., 1998). Moreover, mitochondrial abnormalities are believed to be the primary source of oxidative damage in the AD brain (Beal, 2005; Hirai et al., 2001). Importantly, mitochondrial dysfunction is a common feature of different FAD mouse models (PS1, APP, APP/PS1) which occurs prior to plaque deposition and cognitive defects (Trushina et al., 2012). Moreover, functional mitochondria appear to actually be required for A β to elicit cellular toxicity (Cardoso et al., 2001). Treatment of NT2 cells, a human tetracarcinoma cell line capable of differentiating into neurons, with A β results in a dose dependent reduction in cell viability (Cardoso et al., 2001). However, NT2 cells depleted of their mitochondrial DNA (thus incapable of oxidative phosphorylation

(OXOPHOS) were unaffected by exposure to $A\beta$ (Cardoso et al., 2001). Though often a topic of debate, several mechanisms by which $A\beta$ induces mitochondrial dysfunction have been proposed.

1.3.2 Aβ accumulates within mitochondria and interacts with mitochondrial proteins

It is not entirely clear how A β perturbs mitochondrial function; however, A β has been shown to accumulate within mitochondria of CNS neurons in AD patients and AD transgenic mice (Hernandez-Zimbron et al., 2012; Lustbader et al., 2004; Manczak et al., 2006; Yao et al., 2011). Interestingly, A β is present in the mitochondria of AD transgenic mice as early as 4 months of age, prior to plaque deposition and cognitive deficits suggesting mitochondrial accumulation of A β is an early event in the pathogenesis of AD (Caspersen et al., 2005). The early accumulation of A β appears to preferentially occur in synaptic mitochondria which results in decreased respiration and increased oxidative stress (Du et al., 2010). Primary neurons from AD transgenic mice were also shown to accumulate oligometric A β within their mitochondria which was accompanied by increased death in culture (Calkins et al., 2011). The mitochondrial translocase of the outer membrane (TOM) machinery is believed to mediate AB accumulation within the mitochondria, as AB has been shown to be transported into mitochondria isolated from rat liver in a TOM dependent manner (Hansson Petersen et al., 2008). Moreover, immunoelectron microscopy after import revealed A β was localized to mitochondrial cristae, which has also been observed in human cortical brain biopsies (Hansson Petersen et al., 2008). Once transported into the mitochondria, $A\beta$ can directly interact with and inhibit the enzymatic activity of alcohol dehydrogenase (ABAD), a multifunctional enzyme that catalyzes the oxidation of alcohols in mitochondria (Yao et al., 2011). Disrupting the interaction between A β and ABAD reduces mitochondrial derived ROS and increases oxygen consumption and mitochondrial activity (Hong et al., 2007). A β has also been shown to bind directly to cytochrome oxidase (COX) subunit 1, a member of complex IV of the ETC, which likely accounts for the decreased activity of this enzyme in AD (Gibson et al., 1998). In addition to interacting with mitochondrial proteins involved in metabolism, A β was shown to interact with dynamin-related protein 1 (Drp1), a protein which plays an important role in mitochondrial fragmentation, both in the AD brain and in

primary hippocampal cells from transgenic mice carrying the FAD linked APP Swedish mutation (APPswe) (Manczak et al., 2011). Transmission electron microscopy revealed mitochondria from APPswe primary nerve cells are more fragmented and structurally damaged than WT neurons, which may be a result of the interaction between Drp1 and A β (Calkins et al., 2011). Therefore the transport, accumulation and interaction of A β with specific mitochondrial proteins leads to structural abnormalities and the disruption of mitochondrial function.

1.3.3 Aβ perturbs mitochondrial respiration and increases ROS production

Mitochondrial respiration is central to maintaining ATP levels in nerve cells. Many lines of evidence suggest that A β induces mitochondrial dysfunction by disrupting OXOPHOS leading to oxidative stress. Aberrations in energy metabolism including decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, ATP production and Complex IV activity have been reported as early as 3 months in AD transgenic mouse models prior to plaque formation (Hauptmann et al., 2009). The progressive accumulation of A β within the mitochondria of AD mice results in decreased activity of Complex III and IV of the ETC and decreased overall oxygen consumption (Caspersen et al., 2005). Similarly, isolated mitochondria from rat brain exposed to $A\beta$ show a significant reduction in state 3 and 4 respiration (Casley et al., 2002). Additionally, the activities of key enzymes involved in respiration: COX, α ketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex (α -KGDHC) and pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), were inhibited by exposure to AB (Casley et al., 2002). Moreover, reduced activity and expression of enzymes participating in the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) cycle and ETC have been well documented in the brains of AD patients (Brooks et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2008). Treatment of SK-N-SH cells, a human neuroblastoma cell line, with Aβ results in a dose dependent decrease in mRNA levels of mitochondrial COX subunits (Liang et al., 2008). RNA levels of human mitochondrial transcription factor-1 (Transcription factor A, mitochondrial (TFAM)), a key regulator of transcription of mitochondrial genes, are also decreased following A β -treatment (Liang et al., 2008). These changes in mitochondrial metabolism are believed to result in increased generation of ROS which further potentiates A β accumulation and toxicity (Leuner et al., 2012). Mice deficient in Complex I or AD mice

treated with a complex I inhibitor (rotenone), exhibited increased levels of A β (Leuner et al., 2012). Thus mitochondrial ROS produced at Complex I as a result of mitochondrial dysfunction is sufficient to potentiate A β production (Leuner et al., 2012). Similar results were obtained when AD mice were exposed to the pesticide paraquat which resulted in oxidative damage primarily in the mitochondria, elevated A β levels and induced cognitive impairment, which was rescued by the overexpression of the mitochondrial antioxidant Prx3 (Chen et al., 2012). Thus mitochondrial derived ROS, as a result of dysfunctional OXOPHOS, appears to underlie cognitive impairment and elevated amyloidogenesis associated with AD.

1.4 Glucose metabolism and Aβ resistant cells

1.4.1 Glucose metabolism in nerve cells

The human brain consumes approximately 20% of the body's total energy yet only represents 2% of the total body mass, far outweighing the demand of other organs in the body. While other tissues in the body rely on a variety of energy sources, the brain is believed to primarily depend upon the oxidation of glucose to meet its energy demands. The majority of the energy produced by the oxidation of glucose is used for the maintenance and restoration of ion gradients associated with synaptic transmission, as well as uptake and recycling of neurotransmitters (Attwell and Laughlin, 2001). As an essential organ, the brain requires adequate glucose and oxygen delivery from the vasculature system, a process controlled by the precise regulation of energy supply and demand. Consequently, changes in brain activity are accompanied by changes in cerebral blood flow, a phenomenon which forms the basis of functional brain imaging technologies. Glucose is taken into nerve cells by glucose transporters (GLUTs), transmembrane proteins that facilitate the transport of glucose into the cell (Dwyer et al., 2002). Of the 12 known glucose transporters, seven have been identified in the brain: GLUT1-6 and GLUT 8 (Dwyer et al., 2002). However, GLUT 1 and 3 are the predominant glucose transporters in the brain (Dwyer et al., 2002). GLUT1 is ubiquitously expressed in the brain, with cells of the blood brain barrier (BBB), astrocytes and endothelial cells, representing major sites of expression (Boado and Pardridge, 1990; Dick et al., 1984; Gerhart et al., 1989). GLUT 3 is the predominant neuronal glucose transporter (Leino et al., 1997; Maher et al., 1992; Nagamatsu et al., 1993). Once transported into nerve cells, glucose

17

is converted to pyruvate by glycolysis within the cell cytosol producing a net of 2 ATP. In the presence of oxygen, pyruvate is taken into mitochondria where it is converted into acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl CoA) by the mitochondrial enzyme pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH). Subsequently acetyl CoA can enter and drive the TCA cycle, producing the electron donors NADH and FADH₂, which donate their electrons to the ETC ultimately producing ATP by OXOPHOS.

Eighteen times more energy is produced from mitochondrial respiration than from glycolysis (36 ATP versus 2 respectively per glucose molecule). Therefore, neurometabolism has traditionally been perceived as a process with a strict reliance on the oxidation of pyruvate in the mitochondria in order to meet the high energy needs of neurons. However, when oxygen becomes limited, cells become more dependent on glycolysis and lactate production to fuel their energy needs. In hypoxic environments, low oxygen conditions, pyruvate is reduced to lactate by lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) in the cell cytosol regenerating NAD⁺, an important co-factor required to sustain high levels of glycolysis. The shift in metabolism from OXOPHOS to lactate production is driven by the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) (Semenza, 1999). HIF-1 is a heterodimeric transcription factor made up of a HIF-1 α subunit and the constitutively expressed HIF-1 β subunit (Semenza, 2002). Under normoxic conditions HIF-1 α is constitutively synthesized and degraded by the proteosome (Semenza, 2002). However in hypoxic microenvironments, HIF-1 α is stabilized allowing for the activation of the HIF-1 transcription complex (Semenza, 2002). Importantly, HIF-1 regulates the expression of genes involved in glucose transport (GLUT 1 and GLUT 3), glycolysis and lactate production (Heilig et al., 2003; Semenza, 1999; Semenza et al., 1996; Additionally, HIF-1 upregulates the expression of pyruvate Zhang et al., 1999). dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1), an enzyme that phosphorylates and inhibits PDH, thereby reducing the rate of respiration (Figure 1.3) (Kim et al., 2006; Papandreou et al., 2006). Furthermore, the switch to lactate production associated with HIF-1 activation attenuates mitochondrial ROS production.
Figure 1.3 Hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) alterations in glucose metabolism in response to hypoxia. In hypoxic microenviroments the stabilization HIF-1 α and subsequent increased activity of HIF-1 stimulates increased expression of glucose transporters (Glut1/3), and glycolytic enzymes increasing the conversion of glucose to pyruvate. Additionally, HIF-1 promotes the reduction of pyruvate to lactate through the upregulation of lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA). HIF-1 also actively suppresses the production of acetyl CoA through the mitochondria via increased expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1), which phosphorylates and inhibits pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) resulting in decreased flux through the tricarboxcylic acid (TCA) cycle and repressed oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). The decrease in electron transport activity decreases the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and allows for cell survival in absence of oxygen.



1.4.2 Glucose metabolism and AD

The progressive decline in cerebral glucose utilization is known to occur with age and in AD, possibly contributing to both nerve cell loss and memory decline (Heiss et al., 1991; Mielke et al., 1998). Reductions in cerebral glucose metabolism, as measured by fluoro-2deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET), are a common diagnostic feature of AD (Herholz et al., 2007; Mosconi, 2005). Alterations in the expression and activity of enzymes involved in the TCA and ETC have been proposed to play a role in the observed reduction of glucose metabolism. Significant reductions, up to 70% in some areas, in the expression of genes encoding subunits of the ETC and key enzymes in the TCA cycle were observed in the cortex and hippocampus of post-mortem tissue from AD patients (Brooks et al., 2007; Liang et al., 2008). Moreover the activities of metabolic enzymes including PDH, COX and α -KGDHC, were reduced in the cerebral cortex of AD patients (Gibson et al., 1998; Kish, 1997). Reduced COX activity was also observed in the cortex of AD transgenic mice prior to the appearance of A β plaques (Manczak et al., 2006). In contrast, increased activity of the glycolytic enzymes pyruvate kinase (PK) and LDHA in the frontal and temporal cortex of patients with AD have been observed (Bigl et al., 1999; Soucek et al., 2003). Interestingly, young (3 month old) AD transgenic mice (APP/PS1) exhibit decreased [¹⁸F]-FDG uptake when compared to their aged-matched controls (Poisnel et al., 2011). However plaque accumulation in APP/PS1 mice is associated with an age dependent increase in [¹⁸F]-FDG uptake in the hippocampus and cortex, compared to control mice (Poisnel et al., 2011). Moreover, glucose uptake is significantly increased in regions associated with A β plaque accumulation in 12 month old AD mice when compared with the same brain regions of control mice (Poisnel et al., 2011). Collectively, studies over the last few decades have revealed a complex, and at times conflicting picture of glucose metabolism in AD.

1.4.3 A β resistance

As discussed above, the amyloid hypothesis posits that AD is caused primarily by $A\beta$ deposition within the brain, which leads to mitochondrial dysfunction, increased ROS production, oxidative damage, and cell death (Hardy, 1992; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Selkoe, 1991). However, numerous immunohistochemical studies of brain tissue from individuals

that died without any history of dementia showed that up to 40% of the autopsied samples had significant plaque accumulation but little or no nerve cell loss (Bouras et al., 1994; Price and Morris, 1999). It has been argued that asymptomatic individuals with high plaque accumulation likely had undiagnosed mild cognitive impairment and would have eventually developed AD if they lived long enough. However, an alternative hypothesis is that these individuals may have acquired or exhibit an innate resistance mechanism to the toxic effects of A β . While difficult to study in patients, models of A β -resistance have been generated in cell culture following the continual exposure of nerve cell lines to concentrations of A β that would otherwise be toxic and the eventual emergence of surviving clonal nerve cell populations (Behl et al., 1994b; Sagara et al., 1996). Interestingly, these Aβ resistant nerve cells exhibit cross-resistance to a number of neurotoxins or toxic conditions including glutamate, H_2O_2 , rotenone, cystine depletion and nitric oxide (Behl et al., 1994b; Dargusch and Schubert, 2002; Sagara et al., 1996). An observed cross resistance to a variety of toxins suggests a possible common resistance mechanism has been acquired by these cells to survive exposure to a variety of environmental stressors including $A\beta$. Analysis of these $A\beta$ resistant nerve cells revealed an upregulation of both anti-oxidant and glycolytic enzymes compared to the sensitive parental cells (Sagara et al., 1996; Soucek et al., 2003). Furthermore, A β -resistant cells exhibited increased glucose uptake and flux through the glycolytic pathway and heightened sensitivity to glucose deprivation suggesting that the altered glycolytic metabolism in these cells may mediate A β resistance (Soucek et al., 2003). Interestingly, the A β -induced changes in glucose metabolism are believed to arise due to the activation of HIF-1 (Soucek et al., 2003). Moreover, inducing HIF-1 activity in A β -sensitive cells by treatment with a metal chelator (mimosine) or by the expression of a non-degradable HIF-1 α was sufficient to protect against A β toxicity (Soucek et al., 2003). Importantly the induced activity of HIF-1 was associated with increased glycolysis, and enhanced sensitivity to glucose deprivation suggesting a reliance on a high glycolytic flux is associated with resistance (Soucek et al., 2003). Taken together alterations in glucose metabolism may

contribute to protection against neurotoxins including $A\beta$.

1.5 The Warburg effect

1.5.1 The Warburg effect (aerobic glycolysis) overview

In the early 1920's Otto Warburg made the observation that even in the presence of oxygen cancer cells predominantly produce ATP via high rates of glycolysis and lactate production. This metabolic phenotype is now referred to as a Warburg effect or aerobic glycolysis Importantly, the Warburg effect appears to be a common metabolic (Warburg, 1956b). hallmark of cancer cells and has been exploited as a clinical diagnostic tool for the detection of tumors via PET imaging following the administration of [¹⁸F]-FDG (Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Hsu and Sabatini, 2008). Due to the increased reliance on glycolysis, cancer cells must sustain high levels of glucose uptake in order to support their demanding energy needs. The increased glycolytic flux in cancer cells also renders them more sensitive to glucose deprivation (Aft et al., 2002). Initially Warburg proposed this switch in metabolism was a result of mitochondrial impairment in cancer cells however little evidence was found that indicated mitochondria in cancer cells are actually damaged (Koppenol et al., 2011; Warburg, 1956a). Furthermore, mitochondrial function is not impaired in most cancer cells (Fantin et al., 2006; Moreno-Sanchez et al., 2007; Weinhouse, 1976). A more popular hypothesis to explain aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells is that this metabolic phenotype confers a unique advantage for survival and proliferation in the tumor microenvironment (Bonnet et al., 2007; Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Hsu and Sabatini, 2008; Koppenol et al., 2011). The initial switch from mitochondrial respiration to lactate production is believed to be triggered by a hypoxic microenvironment of a growing tumor, leading to the activation of HIF-1 (Hsu and Sabatini, 2008; Semenza, 2003, 2007, 2010). However, HIF-1a expression has been observed in a number of non-hypoxic cancer cell lines, indicating that other mechanisms of normoxic activation of HIF-1 are likely to also play an important role in inducing the Warburg effect (Akakura et al., 2001). The activation of HIF-1 shifts metabolism away from the mitochondria towards lactate production by increasing expression of enzymes such as PDK1 and LDHA (Kim et al., 2006; Papandreou et al., 2006). However, once the tumor becomes vascularized, and despite the increased availability of oxygen, cancer cells maintain high rates of lactate production and sustain HIF-1 transcriptional activity.

In non cancerous cells under normoxic conditions HIF-1 α is hydroxylated at specific proline residues (Pro⁴⁰² and Pro⁵⁶⁴) by prolyl hydroxylase, which targets HIF-1 α for destruction by the E3 ubiquitin ligase containing the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor protein (pVHL) (Ivan et al., 2001). Importantly, normoxic stabilization of HIF-1 in cancer cells is associated with increased growth and survival of tumors, increased angiogenesis and tumor development and a poor clinical prognosis (Akakura et al., 2001; Birner et al., 2000; Kung et al., 2000; Zhong et al., 1999). Elevated HIF-1 α has been detected in primary tumors of brain, breast, colon, lung, ovary and their metastases (Zhong et al., 1999). Thus it has been proposed that the activation of HIF-1 and subsequent upregulation of LDHA and PDK1 in cancer cells are key events that facilitate the Warburg effect (Semenza, 2003, 2007, 2010). The role of LDHA and PDK1 will be discussed in the following section.

Aerobic glycolysis is much less efficient than OXOPHOS in terms of ATP yield per glucose molecule, so the big question with respect to the Warburg effect in cancer cells is why highly proliferative cells which have high metabolic requirements chose a much less efficient means of producing energy? The answer appears to lie in the inhibition of apoptosis or programmed cell death. There are two well defined pathways that lead to cellular apoptosis; the 'extrinsic' and the 'intrinsic' pathway. Mitochondria are known to play a role in both pathways, but are direct regulators of the intrinsic pathway to cell death (Galluzzi et al., 2012). The intrinsic pathway involves the permeablization of the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) which results in the release of proapoptotic mediator cytochrome c (cyt c) into the cytoplasm which subsequently binds to Apaf-1 thereby promoting the formation of a multi complex called the apoptosome which, in turn, initiates the caspase cascade through activation of pro-caspase 9 (Galluzzi et al., 2012; Gogvadze et al., 2008). The intrinsic pathway can be initiated by a number of factors including loss of mitochondrial membrane potential, oxidative stress and changes in metabolism (Galluzzi et al., 2012; Kroemer et al., 2007; Plas and Thompson, 2002). Reduced mitochondrial metabolism in cancer cells results in the decreased production of ROS, agents which can trigger apoptosis if left unchecked (Bonnet et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2006). This has led some researchers to hypothesize that a decrease in mitochondrial respiration and the resultant decrease in mitochondrial ROS production renders cancer cells more resistant to apoptotic stimuli (Bonnet et al., 2007; Koppenol et al., 2011). Importantly, decreased ROS production is a common feature of cancer cells (Bonnet et al., 2007). The inhibition of LDHA or PDK1, key enzymes regulating aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells, results in increased mitochondrial ROS production, arrested tumorigenesis and elevated sensitivity to chemotherapeutic agents (Bonnet et al., 2007; Michelakis et al., 2010; Michelakis et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2010). Moreover, the proapoptotic activity of cyt c is dependent on its oxidation, and in cancer cells cyt c is maintained in a reduced state as a result of increased glycolysis and pentose phosphate shunt (PPS) activity (Vaughn and Deshmukh, 2008). Increases in ROS associated with increased ETC activity in cancer cells can result in the oxidation and activation of cyt c thereby initiating apoptosis in these cells (Vaughn and Deshmukh, 2008). Interestingly pyruvate, a major glycolytic product, scavenges H_2O_2 , thus increased production of pyruvate as observed in cancer cells helps to further reduce intracellular ROS that can trigger apoptosis (Nath et al., 1995). Moreover, glycolytic enzymes including hexokinase (HK) and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) have been shown to play an active role inhibiting apoptosis (Kim and Dang, 2005). For example HK can bind to the voltage dependent anion channels (VDAC), preventing the release of cyt c from the mitochondria thereby acting as a direct inhibitor of apoptosis (Gottlob et al., 2001). Taken together aerobic glycolysis tightly regulates the redox status of a cell, which is closely linked to resistance against apoptotic stimuli.

1.5.2 LDHA

The interconversion between lactate and pyruvate is catalyzed by the enzyme LDH. There are five known LDH isoenzymes, each composed of tetramers containing different ratios of the LDHA or LDHB subunits. LDH isoenzymes made up of mostly or all LDHA subunits preferentially catalyze the reduction of pyruvate to lactate whereas those rich in LDHB subunits favor the oxidation of lactate to pyruvate. Increased LDHA expression has been well documented in a number of human breast cancer lines and contributes to a Warburg effect in these cells (Balinsky et al., 1983; Hilf et al., 1976; Koukourakis et al., 2003). The upregulation of LDHA in cancer cells occurs, in part, by the increased activity of HIF-1 which recognizes hypoxia response elements in the promoter region of *LDHA* (Semenza et al., 1996). Inhibition of LDHA activity in human lymphoma cells results in increased mitochondrial metabolism, elevated ROS levels and cell death; events which are partially counteracted with treatment of an antioxidant N-acetylcysteine (Le et al., 2010). Similarly

knockdown of LDHA expression in a variety of mammary gland tumor cell lines stimulates mitochondrial metabolism and reduces the tumorgenicity of cancer cells, which was rescued when LDHA was overexpressed in these cells (Fantin et al., 2006). Finally, LDHA inhibition reduces tumor initiation and inhibits tumor progression *in vivo* (Fantin et al., 2006; Le et al., 2010). These results suggest that LDHA is an important mediator of aerobic glycolysis and plays a key role in tumor maintenance and progression.

1.5.3 PDK1

PDH is a protein complex located in the mitochondrial matrix that controls the entry of pyruvate into the TCA cycle and is found at the interface between glycolysis and aerobic respiration. PDH is composed of three enzymes that contribute to pyruvate decarboxylation, the conversion of pyruvate to acetyl CoA. Phosphorylation of the PDH α subunit by PDK inhibits PDH activity (Roche et al., 2001). In humans there are four PDK isoforms (1-4), which are expressed in a tissue specific manner (Bowker-Kinley et al., 1998). In examining the tissue distribution of the four isozymes, PDK1, 2 and 4 were found in all regions of the brain in young and aged rats (Nakai et al., 2000). More specifically, the levels of PDK1 were higher in the cerebral cortex when compared with the other isoforms (Nakai et al., 2000). Enhanced PDK1 expression is regulated directly by HIF-1 (Kim et al., 2006; Papandreou et al., 2006). In cancer cells the inhibition of PDH through enhanced PDK1 expression contributes to the Warburg effect in a variety of different cancers, making it an important mediator of aerobic glycolysis in these cells (Bonnet et al., 2007; Fujiwara et al., 2013; Hitosugi et al., 2011; Hur et al., 2013; McFate et al., 2008). Interestingly, the inhibition of PDH is associated with normoxic stabilization of HIF-1a as knockdown of PDK1 expression eliminated the normoxic accumulation of HIF-1 α (McFate et al., 2008). Similarly, treatment with dichloroacetate (DCA), a chemical inhibitor of PDK, reduced HIF-1a stabilization in vitro and in vivo (Michelakis et al., 2010). Thus PDK1 inhibition of PDH appears to play a critical role in the normoxic stabilization of HIF-1 α observed in a variety of cancer cells. The overexpression of PDK1 in HIF-1 α null cells attenuates mitochondrial respiration, decreases toxic ROS production and increases lactate production suggesting that PDK1 expression acts as metabolic switch that favors aerobic glycolysis (Kim et al., 2006). Knock down of PDK1 expression in cancer cells shifts metabolism towards mitochondrial respiration which

dramatically decreases the production of lactate, and attenuates tumor growth (McFate et al., 2008). Similarly, treatment of a variety of cancers *in vitro* and *in vivo* with DCA results in depolarized mitochondrial membrane potential, increased ROS and induced apoptosis (Bonnet et al., 2007; Michelakis et al., 2010). Taken together, PDK1 appears to play an important role in the survival of cancer cells by mediating a Warburg effect in these cells.

1.5.4 Aerobic glycolysis and the AD brain

Over the last few decades, key information about brain metabolism has been gathered using PET imaging. PET allows for the *in vivo* determination of the cerebral rate of glucose consumption, rate of oxygen consumption and blood flow. Traditionally, (FDG)-PET signals were believed to primarily measure glucose utilization by neurons due to the high energy demand of this cell type during activation (Sokoloff et al., 1977). However, in the mid to late 1980s, an important series of PET studies challenged this assumption by showing that cerebral glucose consumption exceeds oxygen utilization in certain regions of the human brain (Fox and Raichle, 1986; Fox et al., 1988). These early observations suggested that the metabolic needs of active neural tissue are met in a partially non-oxidative manner (Fox and Raichle, 1986; Fox et al., 1988). More recently, Marcus Raichle and colleagues, using a more refined PET analysis of 33 healthy adults, identified high rates of aerobic glycolysis in the medial and lateral parietal and prefrontal cortices; regions known to participate in cognitive control networks (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). These observations brought support to the notion that the metabolic needs of active brain tissue are met, at least partially, by aerobic Further support was provided by various in vivo ¹H-magnetic resonance glycolysis. spectroscopy (MRS) studies in healthy adults which showed activity-dependent increases in lactate levels in brain areas similar to those found in the PET studies (Lin et al., 2010; Maddock et al., 2006; Urrila et al., 2003). The question then arises as to whether the changes in glucose metabolism (oxidative versus aerobic glycolysis) are taking place in different cellular compartments of the brain and/or are dependent on the specific needs of these areas. Although a reduction in cerebral glucose metabolism is a common diagnostic feature of AD, recent evidence suggests that glucose utilization is more complex in the AD brain (Mosconi, 2005; Vlassenko et al., 2010). Studies using PET imaging, which measured both glucose consumption and oxygen utilization, revealed a strong correlation between the spatial distribution of elevated aerobic glycolysis and A β plaques in brain tissue from patients with

both AD, as well as normal individuals with high levels of A β -deposition but without clinical manifestation of the disease (Vlassenko et al., 2010). Moreover, PET studies of cognitively normal individuals have shown an age-associated decrease in FDG uptake in regions of the brain frequently affected in AD, although these studies did not determine what proportion of glucose was processed by aerobic glycolysis versus oxidative phosphorylation (Cunnane et al., 2011). Thus it appears that aerobic glycolysis plays an important role in brain metabolism and possibly AD. Understanding why cells exhibit a Warburg effect in the brains of individuals with A β accumulation could offer insight into why some individuals develop AD while others appear resistant to the disease.

1.6 Alzheimer's disease cell lines and mouse models

There are a number of immortalized cell culture lines that have been used to study AD. Additionally, primary nerve cells derived from various areas of the rodent brain are also widely used in the field of Alzheimer's research. In examining A β toxicity, these models rely on the use of exogenous synthetic A β . A β peptides containing the highly hydrophobic 29-35 amino acid residues form stable fibrils and aggregate within 24 hr following solubilization in sterilized deionized water (Pike et al., 1993). A β peptide mediated toxicity has been associated with its aggregation state (Pike et al., 1993). The 10 amino acid A β_{25-35} peptide, henceforth referred to as A β , was used throughout this study unless otherwise stated. Though A β_{1-42} is more toxic to cells, A β_{25-35} readily kills cells in culture and has been widely used in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of AD (Pike et al., 1993; Yanker, 1996). Moreover A β_{25-35} exhibits the same early neurotropic and late neurotoxic activities as A β_{1-42} (Iversen et al., 1995). There are also a number of mouse models of AD. Below is a description of the cell lines and mouse model used in this study.

1.6.1 PC12 cells

PC12 cells are one of the most intensively studied cell lines in neurobiology. They were originally derived from a rat adrenal pheochromocytoma (Greene and Tischler, 1976). These cells differentiate into sympathetic-like neurons when treated with nerve growth factor (NGF) and can also synthesize and store catecholamine neurotransmitters, dopamine and norepinephrine (Greene and Tischler, 1976). Additionally, these cells are able to make

acetylcholine and form cholinergic synapses with immortalized skeletal muscle cells (Schubert et al., 1977). Importantly, PC12 cells are sensitive to $A\beta_{25-35}$ or $A\beta_{1-42}$ toxicity in culture (Behl et al., 1992; Behl et al., 1994a). A β resistant PC12 cells were derived by growing cells in the presence of $A\beta_{25-35}$ for 4 months (Behl et al., 1994b; Sagara et al., 1996). Subclones were then isolated and maintained in the presence of $A\beta_{25-35}$ and tested for their resistance against $A\beta_{1-42}$ (Behl et al., 1994b; Sagara et al., 1996). The study presented here made use of the resistant subclones one and seven (R1 and R7).

1.6.2 B12 cells

B12 cells are a central nervous system line, derived from nitrosoethylurea induced brain tumors in rats (Schubert et al., 1974). Similar to PC12 cells, B12 cells are sensitive to exogenously applied A β (25-35 and 1-42)(Behl et al., 1994a). Resistant clones were derived for the B12 cell line as described above (Behl et al., 1994b; Sagara et al., 1996). In this study, the resistant subclones two and four (R2 and R4) were examined.

1.6.3 HT22 cells

HT22 cells are an immortalized mouse hippocampal nerve cell line derived from the HT4 cell line (Morimoto and Koshland, 1990). These cells are sensitive to glutamate toxicity, but do not contain active ionotropic glutamate receptors and thus are not subject to excitotoxicity (Davis and Maher, 1994). Treatment of HT22 cells with glutamate results in a programmed cell death called oxytosis which is related to cystine depletion (Tan et al., 2001). Additionally, these cells possess functional cholinergic properties which has made them a useful *in vitro* model for elucidating mechanisms involved in cognitive defects in AD (Liu et al., 2009).

1.6.4 Primary nerve cells

Primary nerve cell cultures are isolated from different areas of the fetal brain of mice and rats and cultured in special media (Silva et al., 2006). Primary cultures have been used to investigate cell survival and cell death, neurotransmission and neuroinflammation (Silva et al., 2006). Primary cultures isolated from the cortex and hippocampus are of particular interest, as these areas of the brain are associated with extensive nerve cell death in the AD brain. Primary nerve cell cultures are a valuable model for studying neurotoxicity as a result of their enhanced sensitivity to toxins in comparison to immortalized cell lines (Aschner and Syversen, 2004; Silva et al., 2006). Moreover, because these cells are not immortalized they more closely mimic nerve cells *in vivo*. Importantly, primary nerve cells are sensitive to $A\beta$ toxicity in culture (Koh et al., 1990; Mattson et al., 1992; Yankner et al., 1990). Primary nerve cells taken from the cortex of fetal mice, embryonic day 14-17, were used for this study.

1.6.5 APP/PS1

Many mice models of AD are in existence and are currently used in AD research. Transgenic models of AD have become a popular choice, as these models tend to be a better representation of the human disease (Kobayashi and Chen, 2005). The amyloid hypothesis has led to the development of a variety of mouse models that are focused on amyloid accumulation (Kobayashi and Chen, 2005). A popular AD mouse model used in this study is a double transgenic model that expresses a chimeric mouse/human APP containing the Swedish mutation (Mo/HuAPP695swe) and mutant human presenilin 1 (PS1-dE9) both directed to CNS neurons. Both mutations are associated with early-onset FAD and transgenic mice carrying these mutations develop A β deposits throughout the cortex and hippocampus by six to seven months of age (Borchelt et al., 1997; Borchelt et al., 1996; De Strooper et al., 1995; Thinakaran et al., 1996). A β plaque accumulation in various brain regions of these mice is strongly associated with oxidative damage and altered mitochondrial function (Aso et al., 2012). Additionally, these mice show defects in memory and learning as early as nine months of age (Aso et al., 2012).

1.7 Research Questions

1.7.1 Summary

The Warburg effect is the phenomenon in which cells rely on aerobic glycolysis, and is a common feature of cancer cells (Warburg, 1956b). Given the inefficiency of aerobic glycolysis and lack of evidence suggesting that the mitochondria of cancer cells are damaged or dysfunctional, it has been hypothesized that this metabolic phenotype offers a special survival advantage to rapidly proliferating cancer cells. This shift in metabolism away from mitochondrial respiration and towards lactate production is mediated by HIF-1 (Semenza,

2010). Interestingly, HIF-1 α has been shown to be stabilized in clonal nerve cell lines and primary cortical neurons that are resistant to $A\beta$ toxicity (Soucek et al., 2003). Moreover, these cells exhibit increased flux through the glycolytic pathway and increased reliance on glucose uptake, which is believed to be a result of HIF-1 activation (Soucek et al., 2003). Cells selected for resistance against A β toxicity are also more resistant to a variety of neurotoxins, suggesting these cells exhibit a common mechanism that confers resistance to diverse environmental stressors (Behl et al., 1994b; Sagara et al., 1996). One compelling idea is A β resistant cells exhibit a Warburg effect, similar to cancer cells, which contributes to their resistance against A β toxicity and other toxins. Importantly, there exists a population of people who, despite the accumulation of plaques, fail to develop AD. Similarly, in areas of the brains of AD patients with high A β deposition and exhibiting significant nerve cell death, pockets of surviving neurons exist. These observations suggest that $A\beta$ resistant cells also exist *in vivo*. Understanding the mechanisms acquired by nerve cells to evade the toxic effects of A β is essential to further our understanding of A β toxicity and resistance. Furthermore, exposing mechanisms of resistance to AB may uncover possible therapeutic targets for the prevention and/or treatment of AD.

1.7.2 Hypothesis and Objectives

In this study I hypothesized that A β -resistant cells will exhibit the Warburg effect and that this metabolic reprogramming contributes to their resistance against A β toxicity and other neurotoxins. Moreover, I hypothesized that the expression of key enzymes responsible for driving the Warburg effect will be down regulated in nerve cells that are sensitive to A β toxicity and in the brains of AD transgenic mice and individuals with AD. Compounds that activate aerobic glycolysis are hypothesized to protect nerve cells against neurotoxins including A β . To address my central hypothesis, the following objectives were explored:

(1) Determine if aerobic glycolysis occurs in $A\beta$ resistant cells.

(2) Determine if mitochondrial activity is repressed in $A\beta$ resistant cells.

(3) Determine if chemical or genetic modulation of LDHA and/or PDK1 activity in A β sensitive /resistant cells can alter sensitivity/resistance to A β and other neurotoxins.

(4) Determine if the expression pattern of LDHA and PDK1 in primary cortical neurons is altered following exposure to $A\beta$

(5) Determine if key Warburg effect enzymes (LDHA and PDK1) are altered in the brains of AD mice and post-mortem AD human tissue relative to control mice and unaffected individuals respectively.

(6) Examine the ability of neuroprotective compounds to regulate Warburg effect enzymes in nerve cells in the presence or absence of $A\beta$

1.8 References

Aft, R.L., Zhang, F.W., and Gius, D. (2002). Evaluation of 2-deoxy-D-glucose as a chemotherapeutic agent: mechanism of cell death. Br J Cancer *87*, 805-812.

Akakura, N., Kobayashi, M., Horiuchi, I., Suzuki, A., Wang, J., Chen, J., Niizeki, H., Kawamura, K., Hosokawa, M., and Asaka, M. (2001). Constitutive expression of hypoxiainducible factor-1alpha renders pancreatic cancer cells resistant to apoptosis induced by hypoxia and nutrient deprivation. Cancer Res *61*, 6548-6554.

Alonso, A.D., Zaidi, T., Novak, M., Barra, H.S., Grundke-Iqbal, I., and Iqbal, K. (2001). Interaction of tau isoforms with Alzheimer's disease abnormally hyperphosphorylated tau and in vitro phosphorylation into the disease-like protein. J Biol Chem *276*, 37967-37973.

Andreadis, A., Brown, W.M., and Kosik, K.S. (1992). Structure and novel exons of the human tau gene. Biochemistry *31*, 10626-10633.

Arlt, S., Beisiegel, U., and Kontush, A. (2002). Lipid peroxidation in neurodegeneration: new insights into Alzheimer's disease. Curr Opin Lipidol *13*, 289-294.

Aschner, M., and Syversen, T. (2004). Neurotoxicology: principles and considerations of in vitro assessment. Altern Lab Anim *32*, 323-327.

Aso, E., Lomoio, S., Lopez-Gonzalez, I., Joda, L., Carmona, M., Fernandez-Yague, N., Moreno, J., Juves, S., Pujol, A., Pamplona, R., *et al.* (2012). Amyloid generation and dysfunctional immunoproteasome activation with disease progression in animal model of familial Alzheimer's disease. Brain Pathol *22*, 636-653.

Attwell, D., and Laughlin, S.B. (2001). An energy budget for signaling in the grey matter of the brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *21*, 1133-1145.

Balaban, R.S., Nemoto, S., and Finkel, T. (2005). Mitochondria, oxidants, and aging. Cell *120*, 483-495.

Bales, K.R., Verina, T., Dodel, R.C., Du, Y., Altstiel, L., Bender, M., Hyslop, P., Johnstone, E.M., Little, S.P., Cummins, D.J., *et al.* (1997). Lack of apolipoprotein E dramatically reduces amyloid beta-peptide deposition. Nat Genet *17*, 263-264.

Balinsky, D., Platz, C.E., and Lewis, J.W. (1983). Isozyme patterns of normal, benign, and malignant human breast tissues. Cancer Res *43*, 5895-5901.

Beal, M.F. (2005). Mitochondria take center stage in aging and neurodegeneration. Ann Neurol 58, 495-505.

Behl, C. (1997). Amyloid beta-protein toxicity and oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Tissue Res *290*, 471-480.

Behl, C., Davis, J., Cole, G.M., and Schubert, D. (1992). Vitamin E protects nerve cells from amyloid beta protein toxicity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *186*, 944-950.

Behl, C., Davis, J.B., Klier, F.G., and Schubert, D. (1994a). Amyloid beta peptide induces necrosis rather than apoptosis. Brain Res *645*, 253-264.

Behl, C., Davis, J.B., Lesley, R., and Schubert, D. (1994b). Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. Cell *77*, 817-827.

Bigl, M., Bruckner, M.K., Arendt, T., Bigl, V., and Eschrich, K. (1999). Activities of key glycolytic enzymes in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm *106*, 499-511.

Birner, P., Schindl, M., Obermair, A., Plank, C., Breitenecker, G., Kowalski, H., and Oberhuber, G. (2000). Lymphatic microvessel density in epithelial ovarian cancer: its impact on prognosis. Anticancer Res *20*, 2981-2985.

Boado, R.J., and Pardridge, W.M. (1990). The brain-type glucose transporter mRNA is specifically expressed at the blood-brain barrier. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *166*, 174-179.

Bonnet, S., Archer, S.L., Allalunis-Turner, J., Haromy, A., Beaulieu, C., Thompson, R., Lee, C.T., Lopaschuk, G.D., Puttagunta, L., Harry, G., *et al.* (2007). A mitochondria-K+ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. Cancer Cell *11*, 37-51.

Borchelt, D.R., Ratovitski, T., van Lare, J., Lee, M.K., Gonzales, V., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G., Price, D.L., and Sisodia, S.S. (1997). Accelerated amyloid deposition in the brains of transgenic mice coexpressing mutant presenilin 1 and amyloid precursor proteins. Neuron *19*, 939-945.

Borchelt, D.R., Thinakaran, G., Eckman, C.B., Lee, M.K., Davenport, F., Ratovitsky, T., Prada, C.M., Kim, G., Seekins, S., Yager, D., *et al.* (1996). Familial Alzheimer's disease-linked presenilin 1 variants elevate Abeta1-42/1-40 ratio in vitro and in vivo. Neuron *17*, 1005-1013.

Bouras, C., Hof, P.R., Giannakopoulos, P., Michel, J.P., and Morrison, J.H. (1994). Regional distribution of neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in the cerebral cortex of elderly patients: a quantitative evaluation of a one-year autopsy population from a geriatric hospital. Cereb Cortex *4*, 138-150.

Bourne, K.Z., Ferrari, D.C., Lange-Dohna, C., Rossner, S., Wood, T.G., and Perez-Polo, J.R. (2007). Differential regulation of BACE1 promoter activity by nuclear factor-kappaB in neurons and glia upon exposure to beta-amyloid peptides. J Neurosci Res *85*, 1194-1204.

Bowker-Kinley, M.M., Davis, W.I., Wu, P., Harris, R.A., and Popov, K.M. (1998). Evidence for existence of tissue-specific regulation of the mammalian pyruvate dehydrogenase complex. Biochem J *329* (*Pt 1*), 191-196.

Brooks, W.M., Lynch, P.J., Ingle, C.C., Hatton, A., Emson, P.C., Faull, R.L., and Starkey, M.P. (2007). Gene expression profiles of metabolic enzyme transcripts in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res *1127*, 127-135.

Buee, L., Bussiere, T., Buee-Scherrer, V., Delacourte, A., and Hof, P.R. (2000). Tau protein isoforms, phosphorylation and role in neurodegenerative disorders. Brain Res Brain Res Rev *33*, 95-130.

Butterfield, D.A. (1997). beta-Amyloid-associated free radical oxidative stress and neurotoxicity: implications for Alzheimer's disease. Chem Res Toxicol *10*, 495-506.

Butterfield, D.A., and Boyd-Kimball, D. (2005). The critical role of methionine 35 in Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide (1-42)-induced oxidative stress and neurotoxicity. Biochim Biophys Acta *1703*, 149-156.

Butterfield, D.A., and Lauderback, C.M. (2002). Lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation in Alzheimer's disease brain: potential causes and consequences involving amyloid beta-peptide-associated free radical oxidative stress. Free Radic Biol Med *32*, 1050-1060.

Calkins, M.J., Manczak, M., Mao, P., Shirendeb, U., and Reddy, P.H. (2011). Impaired mitochondrial biogenesis, defective axonal transport of mitochondria, abnormal mitochondrial dynamics and synaptic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Hum Mol Genet *20*, 4515-4529.

Cardoso, S.M., Santos, S., Swerdlow, R.H., and Oliveira, C.R. (2001). Functional mitochondria are required for amyloid beta-mediated neurotoxicity. Faseb J *15*, 1439-1441.

Casley, C.S., Canevari, L., Land, J.M., Clark, J.B., and Sharpe, M.A. (2002). Beta-amyloid inhibits integrated mitochondrial respiration and key enzyme activities. J Neurochem *80*, 91-100.

Caspersen, C., Wang, N., Yao, J., Sosunov, A., Chen, X., Lustbader, J.W., Xu, H.W., Stern, D., McKhann, G., and Yan, S.D. (2005). Mitochondrial Abeta: a potential focal point for neuronal metabolic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J *19*, 2040-2041.

Chen, C.H., Zhou, W., Liu, S., Deng, Y., Cai, F., Tone, M., Tone, Y., Tong, Y., and Song, W. (2011). Increased NF-kappaB signalling up-regulates BACE1 expression and its therapeutic potential in Alzheimer's disease. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol *18*, 1-14.

Chen, L., Yoo, S.E., Na, R., Liu, Y., and Ran, Q. (2012). Cognitive impairment and increased Abeta levels induced by paraquat exposure are attenuated by enhanced removal of mitochondrial H_2O_2 . Neurobiol Aging 33, 432 e415-426.

Clementi, M.E., Pezzotti, M., Orsini, F., Sampaolese, B., Mezzogori, D., Grassi, C., Giardina, B., and Misiti, F. (2006). Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide (1-42) induces cell death in human neuroblastoma via bax/bcl-2 ratio increase: an intriguing role for methionine 35. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *342*, 206-213.

Corder, E.H., Saunders, A.M., Strittmatter, W.J., Schmechel, D.E., Gaskell, P.C., Small, G.W., Roses, A.D., Haines, J.L., and Pericak-Vance, M.A. (1993). Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science *261*, 921-923.

Corrada, M.M., Brookmeyer, R., Berlau, D., Paganini-Hill, A., and Kawas, C.H. (2008). Prevalence of dementia after age 90: results from the 90+ study. Neurology *71*, 337-343.

Covarrubias, L., Hernandez-Garcia, D., Schnabel, D., Salas-Vidal, E., and Castro-Obregon, S. (2008). Function of reactive oxygen species during animal development: passive or active? Dev Biol *320*, 1-11.

Crouch, P.J., Barnham, K.J., Duce, J.A., Blake, R.E., Masters, C.L., and Trounce, I.A. (2006). Copper-dependent inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase by Abeta(1-42) requires reduced methionine at residue 35 of the Abeta peptide. J Neurochem *99*, 226-236.

Cunnane, S., Nugent, S., Roy, M., Courchesne-Loyer, A., Croteau, E., Tremblay, S., Castellano, A., Pifferi, F., Bocti, C., Paquet, N., *et al.* (2011). Brain fuel metabolism, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition *27*, 3-20.

Dargusch, R., and Schubert, D. (2002). Specificity of resistance to oxidative stress. J Neurochem *81*, 1394-1400.

Davis, J.B., and Maher, P. (1994). Protein kinase C activation inhibits glutamate-induced cytotoxicity in a neuronal cell line. Brain Res *652*, 169-173.

De Strooper, B., and Annaert, W. (2000). Proteolytic processing and cell biological functions of the amyloid precursor protein. J Cell Sci 113 (*Pt* 11), 1857-1870.

De Strooper, B., Simons, M., Multhaup, G., Van Leuven, F., Beyreuther, K., and Dotti, C.G. (1995). Production of intracellular amyloid-containing fragments in hippocampal neurons expressing human amyloid precursor protein and protection against amyloidogenesis by subtle amino acid substitutions in the rodent sequence. Embo J *14*, 4932-4938.

Delacourte, A., and Buee, L. (1997). Normal and pathological Tau proteins as factors for microtubule assembly. Int Rev Cytol *171*, 167-224.

Dick, A.P., Harik, S.I., Klip, A., and Walker, D.M. (1984). Identification and characterization of the glucose transporter of the blood-brain barrier by cytochalasin B binding and immunological reactivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *81*, 7233-7237.

Drubin, D.G., and Kirschner, M.W. (1986). Tau protein function in living cells. J Cell Biol *103*, 2739-2746.

Du, H., Guo, L., Yan, S., Sosunov, A.A., McKhann, G.M., and Yan, S.S. (2010). Early deficits in synaptic mitochondria in an Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 18670-18675.

Duce, J.A., Tsatsanis, A., Cater, M.A., James, S.A., Robb, E., Wikhe, K., Leong, S.L., Perez, K., Johanssen, T., Greenough, M.A., *et al.* (2010). Iron-export ferroxidase activity of betaamyloid precursor protein is inhibited by zinc in Alzheimer's disease. Cell *142*, 857-867.

Dwyer, D.S., Vannucci, S.J., and Simpson, I.A. (2002). Expression, regulation, and functional role of glucose transporters (GLUTs) in brain. Int Rev Neurobiol *51*, 159-188.

Fantin, V.R., St-Pierre, J., and Leder, P. (2006). Attenuation of LDH-A expression uncovers a link between glycolysis, mitochondrial physiology, and tumor maintenance. Cancer Cell *9*, 425-434.

Farrer, L.A., Cupples, L.A., Haines, J.L., Hyman, B., Kukull, W.A., Mayeux, R., Myers, R.H., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Risch, N., and van Duijn, C.M. (1997). Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease. A meta-analysis. APOE and Alzheimer Disease Meta Analysis Consortium. Jama 278, 1349-1356.

Fox, P.T., and Raichle, M.E. (1986). Focal physiological uncoupling of cerebral blood flow and oxidative metabolism during somatosensory stimulation in human subjects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *83*, 1140-1144.

Fox, P.T., Raichle, M.E., Mintun, M.A., and Dence, C. (1988). Nonoxidative glucose consumption during focal physiologic neural activity. Science 241, 462-464.

Fujiwara, S., Kawano, Y., Yuki, H., Okuno, Y., Nosaka, K., Mitsuya, H., and Hata, H. (2013). PDK1 inhibition is a novel therapeutic target in multiple myeloma. Br J Cancer *108*, 170-178.

Galluzzi, L., Kepp, O., Trojel-Hansen, C., and Kroemer, G. (2012). Mitochondrial control of cellular life, stress, and death. Circ Res *111*, 1198-1207.

Gatenby, R.A., and Gillies, R.J. (2004). Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer *4*, 891-899.

Gerhart, D.Z., LeVasseur, R.J., Broderius, M.A., and Drewes, L.R. (1989). Glucose transporter localization in brain using light and electron immunocytochemistry. J Neurosci Res *22*, 464-472.

Gibson, G.E., Sheu, K.F., and Blass, J.P. (1998). Abnormalities of mitochondrial enzymes in Alzheimer disease. J Neural Transm *105*, 855-870.

Goate, A., Chartier-Harlin, M.C., Mullan, M., Brown, J., Crawford, F., Fidani, L., Giuffra, L., Haynes, A., Irving, N., James, L., *et al.* (1991). Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. Nature *349*, 704-706.

Goedert, M., and Jakes, R. (1990). Expression of separate isoforms of human tau protein: correlation with the tau pattern in brain and effects on tubulin polymerization. Embo J *9*, 4225-4230.

Goedert, M., Spillantini, M.G., Jakes, R., Rutherford, D., and Crowther, R.A. (1989). Multiple isoforms of human microtubule-associated protein tau: sequences and localization in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron *3*, 519-526.

Gogvadze, V., Orrenius, S., and Zhivotovsky, B. (2008). Mitochondria in cancer cells: what is so special about them? Trends Cell Biol *18*, 165-173.

Gomez, J., Sanchez-Roman, I., Gomez, A., Sanchez, C., Suarez, H., Lopez-Torres, M., and Barja, G. (2011). Methionine and homocysteine modulate the rate of ROS generation of isolated mitochondria in vitro. J Bioenerg Biomembr *43*, 377-386.

Gottlob, K., Majewski, N., Kennedy, S., Kandel, E., Robey, R.B., and Hay, N. (2001). Inhibition of early apoptotic events by Akt/PKB is dependent on the first committed step of glycolysis and mitochondrial hexokinase. Genes Dev *15*, 1406-1418.

Greene, L.A., and Tischler, A.S. (1976). Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *73*, 2424-2428.

Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Quinlan, M., Tung, Y.C., Zaidi, M.S., and Wisniewski, H.M. (1986a). Microtubule-associated protein tau. A component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. J Biol Chem *261*, 6084-6089.

Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Tung, Y.C., Quinlan, M., Wisniewski, H.M., and Binder, L.I. (1986b). Abnormal phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau (tau) in Alzheimer cytoskeletal pathology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *83*, 4913-4917.

Gutteridge, J.M. (1994). Hydroxyl radicals, iron, oxidative stress, and neurodegeneration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 738, 201-213.

Haass, C., Koo, E.H., Mellon, A., Hung, A.Y., and Selkoe, D.J. (1992). Targeting of cellsurface beta-amyloid precursor protein to lysosomes: alternative processing into amyloidbearing fragments. Nature *357*, 500-503.

Halliwell, B. (1989). Oxidants and the central nervous system: some fundamental questions. Is oxidant damage relevant to Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, traumatic injury or stroke? Acta Neurol Scand Suppl *126*, 23-33.

Halliwell, B. (1992). Reactive oxygen species and the central nervous system. J Neurochem *59*, 1609-1623.

Halliwell, B., Gutteridge, J.M., and Cross, C.E. (1992). Free radicals, antioxidants, and human disease: where are we now? J Lab Clin Med *119*, 598-620.

Hansson Petersen, C.A., Alikhani, N., Behbahani, H., Wiehager, B., Pavlov, P.F., Alafuzoff, I., Leinonen, V., Ito, A., Winblad, B., Glaser, E., *et al.* (2008). The amyloid beta-peptide is imported into mitochondria via the TOM import machinery and localized to mitochondrial cristae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 13145-13150.

Hardy, J. (1992). Framing beta-amyloid. Nat Genet 1, 233-234.

Hardy, J. (1997). Amyloid, the presenilins and Alzheimer's disease. Trends Neurosci 20, 154-159.

Hardy, J., Duff, K., Hardy, K.G., Perez-Tur, J., and Hutton, M. (1998). Genetic dissection of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: amyloid and its relationship to tau. Nat Neurosci *1*, 355-358.

Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D.J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. Science 297, 353-356.

Hardy, J.A., and Higgins, G.A. (1992). Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256, 184-185.

Harper, J.D., Wong, S.S., Lieber, C.M., and Lansbury, P.T. (1997). Observation of metastable Abeta amyloid protofibrils by atomic force microscopy. Chem Biol *4*, 119-125.

Harris, M.E., Hensley, K., Butterfield, D.A., Leedle, R.A., and Carney, J.M. (1995). Direct evidence of oxidative injury produced by the Alzheimer's beta-amyloid peptide (1-40) in cultured hippocampal neurons. Exp Neurol *131*, 193-202.

Hauptmann, S., Scherping, I., Drose, S., Brandt, U., Schulz, K.L., Jendrach, M., Leuner, K., Eckert, A., and Muller, W.E. (2009). Mitochondrial dysfunction: an early event in Alzheimer pathology accumulates with age in AD transgenic mice. Neurobiol Aging *30*, 1574-1586.

Head, E., Lott, I.T., Cribbs, D.H., Cotman, C.W., and Rohn, T.T. (2002). Beta-amyloid deposition and neurofibrillary tangle association with caspase activation in Down syndrome. Neurosci Lett *330*, 99-103.

Heilig, C., Brosius, F., Siu, B., Concepcion, L., Mortensen, R., Heilig, K., Zhu, M., Weldon, R., Wu, G., and Conner, D. (2003). Implications of glucose transporter protein type 1 (GLUT1)-haplodeficiency in embryonic stem cells for their survival in response to hypoxic stress. Am J Pathol *163*, 1873-1885.

Heiss, W.D., Szelies, B., Kessler, J., and Herholz, K. (1991). Abnormalities of energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease studied with PET. Ann N Y Acad Sci 640, 65-71.

Hendriks, L., van Duijn, C.M., Cras, P., Cruts, M., Van Hul, W., van Harskamp, F., Warren, A., McInnis, M.G., Antonarakis, S.E., Martin, J.J., *et al.* (1992). Presenile dementia and cerebral haemorrhage linked to a mutation at codon 692 of the beta-amyloid precursor protein gene. Nat Genet *1*, 218-221.

Herholz, K., Carter, S.F., and Jones, M. (2007). Positron emission tomography imaging in dementia. Br J Radiol *80 Spec No 2*, S160-167.

Hernandez-Zimbron, L.F., Luna-Munoz, J., Mena, R., Vazquez-Ramirez, R., Kubli-Garfias, C., Cribbs, D.H., Manoutcharian, K., and Gevorkian, G. (2012). Amyloid-beta peptide binds to cytochrome C oxidase subunit 1. PLoS One *7*, e42344.

Hilf, R., Rector, W.D., and Orlando, R.A. (1976). Multiple molecular forms of lactate dehydrogenase and glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase in normal and abnormal human breast tissues. Cancer *37*, 1825-1830.

Hirai, K., Aliev, G., Nunomura, A., Fujioka, H., Russell, R.L., Atwood, C.S., Johnson, A.B., Kress, Y., Vinters, H.V., Tabaton, M., *et al.* (2001). Mitochondrial abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci *21*, 3017-3023.

Hitosugi, T., Fan, J., Chung, T.W., Lythgoe, K., Wang, X., Xie, J., Ge, Q., Gu, T.L., Polakiewicz, R.D., Roesel, J.L., *et al.* (2011). Tyrosine phosphorylation of mitochondrial pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 is important for cancer metabolism. Mol Cell *44*, 864-877.

Holtzman, D.M., Bales, K.R., Tenkova, T., Fagan, A.M., Parsadanian, M., Sartorius, L.J., Mackey, B., Olney, J., McKeel, D., Wozniak, D., *et al.* (2000). Apolipoprotein E isoform-dependent amyloid deposition and neuritic degeneration in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *97*, 2892-2897.

Hong, W.K., Han, E.H., Kim, D.G., Ahn, J.Y., Park, J.S., and Han, B.G. (2007). Amyloidbeta-peptide reduces the expression level of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase subunits. Neurochem Res *32*, 1483-1488.

Hsu, P.P., and Sabatini, D.M. (2008). Cancer cell metabolism: Warburg and beyond. Cell *134*, 703-707.

Huang, X., Atwood, C.S., Hartshorn, M.A., Multhaup, G., Goldstein, L.E., Scarpa, R.C., Cuajungco, M.P., Gray, D.N., Lim, J., Moir, R.D., *et al.* (1999a). The A beta peptide of Alzheimer's disease directly produces hydrogen peroxide through metal ion reduction. Biochemistry *38*, 7609-7616.

Huang, X., Cuajungco, M.P., Atwood, C.S., Hartshorn, M.A., Tyndall, J.D., Hanson, G.R., Stokes, K.C., Leopold, M., Multhaup, G., Goldstein, L.E., *et al.* (1999b). Cu(II) potentiation of alzheimer abeta neurotoxicity. Correlation with cell-free hydrogen peroxide production and metal reduction. J Biol Chem 274, 37111-37116.

Hur, H., Xuan, Y., Kim, Y.B., Lee, G., Shim, W., Yun, J., Ham, I.H., and Han, S.U. (2013). Expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-1 in gastric cancer as a potential therapeutic target. Int J Oncol *42*, 44-54.

Hutton, M., Lendon, C.L., Rizzu, P., Baker, M., Froelich, S., Houlden, H., Pickering-Brown, S., Chakraverty, S., Isaacs, A., Grover, A., *et al.* (1998). Association of missense and 5'-splice-site mutations in tau with the inherited dementia FTDP-17. Nature *393*, 702-705.

Iqbal, K., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Zaidi, T., Merz, P.A., Wen, G.Y., Shaikh, S.S., Wisniewski, H.M., Alafuzoff, I., and Winblad, B. (1986). Defective brain microtubule assembly in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet *2*, 421-426.

Ivan, M., Kondo, K., Yang, H., Kim, W., Valiando, J., Ohh, M., Salic, A., Asara, J.M., Lane, W.S., and Kaelin, W.G., Jr. (2001). HIFalpha targeted for VHL-mediated destruction by proline hydroxylation: implications for O₂ sensing. Science *292*, 464-468.

Jarrett, J.T., Berger, E.P., and Lansbury, P.T., Jr. (1993). The carboxy terminus of the beta amyloid protein is critical for the seeding of amyloid formation: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Biochemistry *32*, 4693-4697.

Joshi, G., Perluigi, M., Sultana, R., Agrippino, R., Calabrese, V., and Butterfield, D.A. (2006). In vivo protection of synaptosomes by ferulic acid ethyl ester (FAEE) from oxidative stress mediated by 2,2-azobis(2-amidino-propane)dihydrochloride (AAPH) or Fe^{2+}/H_2O_2 : insight into mechanisms of neuroprotection and relevance to oxidative stress-related neurodegenerative disorders. Neurochem Int *48*, 318-327.

Kaltschmidt, B., Uherek, M., Volk, B., Baeuerle, P.A., and Kaltschmidt, C. (1997). Transcription factor NF-kappaB is activated in primary neurons by amyloid beta peptides and in neurons surrounding early plaques from patients with Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *94*, 2642-2647.

Kang, J., Lemaire, H.G., Unterbeck, A., Salbaum, J.M., Masters, C.L., Grzeschik, K.H., Multhaup, G., Beyreuther, K., and Muller-Hill, B. (1987). The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. Nature *325*, 733-736.

Kim, J.W., and Dang, C.V. (2005). Multifaceted roles of glycolytic enzymes. Trends Biochem Sci *30*, 142-150.

Kim, J.W., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2006). HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Cell Metab *3*, 177-185.

Kish, S.J. (1997). Brain energy metabolizing enzymes in Alzheimer's disease: alphaketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex and cytochrome oxidase. Ann N Y Acad Sci 826, 218-228.

Kobayashi, D.T., and Chen, K.S. (2005). Behavioral phenotypes of amyloid-based genetically modified mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. Genes Brain Behav 4, 173-196.

Koh, J.Y., Yang, L.L., and Cotman, C.W. (1990). Beta-amyloid protein increases the vulnerability of cultured cortical neurons to excitotoxic damage. Brain Res *533*, 315-320.

Kopke, E., Tung, Y.C., Shaikh, S., Alonso, A.C., Iqbal, K., and Grundke-Iqbal, I. (1993). Microtubule-associated protein tau. Abnormal phosphorylation of a non-paired helical filament pool in Alzheimer disease. J Biol Chem *268*, 24374-24384.

Koppenol, W.H., Bounds, P.L., and Dang, C.V. (2011). Otto Warburg's contributions to current concepts of cancer metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer 11, 325-337.

Kosik, K.S., Orecchio, L.D., Bakalis, S., and Neve, R.L. (1989). Developmentally regulated expression of specific tau sequences. Neuron 2, 1389-1397.

Koster, R., Esiri, M.M., and Wilcock, G.K. (1989). Pathologic diagnosis of Alzheimer's. Neurology *39*, 1268-1269.

Koukourakis, M.I., Giatromanolaki, A., and Sivridis, E. (2003). Lactate dehydrogenase isoenzymes 1 and 5: differential expression by neoplastic and stromal cells in non-small cell lung cancer and other epithelial malignant tumors. Tumour Biol *24*, 199-202.

Kroemer, G., Galluzzi, L., and Brenner, C. (2007). Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. Physiol Rev 87, 99-163.

Kung, A.L., Wang, S., Klco, J.M., Kaelin, W.G., and Livingston, D.M. (2000). Suppression of tumor growth through disruption of hypoxia-inducible transcription. Nat Med *6*, 1335-1340.

Lansbury, P.T., Jr. (1999). Evolution of amyloid: what normal protein folding may tell us about fibrillogenesis and disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 3342-3344.

Le, A., Cooper, C.R., Gouw, A.M., Dinavahi, R., Maitra, A., Deck, L.M., Royer, R.E., Vander Jagt, D.L., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2010). Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 2037-2042.

Leino, R.L., Gerhart, D.Z., van Bueren, A.M., McCall, A.L., and Drewes, L.R. (1997). Ultrastructural localization of GLUT 1 and GLUT 3 glucose transporters in rat brain. J Neurosci Res *49*, 617-626.

Leuner, K., Schutt, T., Kurz, C., Eckert, S.H., Schiller, C., Occhipinti, A., Mai, S., Jendrach, M., Eckert, G.P., Kruse, S.E., *et al.* (2012). Mitochondria-derived ROS lead to enhanced amyloid beta formation. Antioxid Redox Signal *9*, 9.

Levy-Lahad, E., Wasco, W., Poorkaj, P., Romano, D.M., Oshima, J., Pettingell, W.H., Yu, C.E., Jondro, P.D., Schmidt, S.D., Wang, K., *et al.* (1995). Candidate gene for the chromosome 1 familial Alzheimer's disease locus. Science *269*, 973-977.

Lewis, J., Dickson, D.W., Lin, W.L., Chisholm, L., Corral, A., Jones, G., Yen, S.H., Sahara, N., Skipper, L., Yager, D., *et al.* (2001). Enhanced neurofibrillary degeneration in transgenic mice expressing mutant tau and APP. Science *293*, 1487-1491.

Lewis, J., McGowan, E., Rockwood, J., Melrose, H., Nacharaju, P., Van Slegtenhorst, M., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Paul Murphy, M., Baker, M., Yu, X., *et al.* (2000). Neurofibrillary tangles, amyotrophy and progressive motor disturbance in mice expressing mutant (P301L) tau protein. Nat Genet *25*, 402-405.

Liang, W.S., Reiman, E.M., Valla, J., Dunckley, T., Beach, T.G., Grover, A., Niedzielko, T.L., Schneider, L.E., Mastroeni, D., Caselli, R., *et al.* (2008). Alzheimer's disease is associated with reduced expression of energy metabolism genes in posterior cingulate neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 4441-4446.

Lin, A.L., Fox, P.T., Hardies, J., Duong, T.Q., and Gao, J.H. (2010). Nonlinear coupling between cerebral blood flow, oxygen consumption, and ATP production in human visual cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 8446-8451.

Lindwall, G., and Cole, R.D. (1984). Phosphorylation affects the ability of tau protein to promote microtubule assembly. J Biol Chem 259, 5301-5305.

Liu, J., Li, L., and Suo, W.Z. (2009). HT22 hippocampal neuronal cell line possesses functional cholinergic properties. Life Sci *84*, 267-271.

Lustbader, J.W., Cirilli, M., Lin, C., Xu, H.W., Takuma, K., Wang, N., Caspersen, C., Chen, X., Pollak, S., Chaney, M., *et al.* (2004). ABAD directly links Abeta to mitochondrial toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Science *304*, 448-452.

Ma, J., Yee, A., Brewer, H.B., Jr., Das, S., and Potter, H. (1994). Amyloid-associated proteins alpha 1-antichymotrypsin and apolipoprotein E promote assembly of Alzheimer beta-protein into filaments. Nature *372*, 92-94.

Maddock, R.J., Buonocore, M.H., Lavoie, S.P., Copeland, L.E., Kile, S.J., Richards, A.L., and Ryan, J.M. (2006). Brain lactate responses during visual stimulation in fasting and hyperglycemic subjects: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study at 1.5 Tesla. Psychiatry Res *148*, 47-54.

Maher, F., Vannucci, S., Takeda, J., and Simpson, I.A. (1992). Expression of mouse-GLUT3 and human-GLUT3 glucose transporter proteins in brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *182*, 703-711.

Manczak, M., Anekonda, T.S., Henson, E., Park, B.S., Quinn, J., and Reddy, P.H. (2006). Mitochondria are a direct site of A beta accumulation in Alzheimer's disease neurons: implications for free radical generation and oxidative damage in disease progression. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 1437-1449.

Manczak, M., Calkins, M.J., and Reddy, P.H. (2011). Impaired mitochondrial dynamics and abnormal interaction of amyloid beta with mitochondrial protein Drp1 in neurons from patients with Alzheimer's disease: implications for neuronal damage. Hum Mol Genet *20*, 2495-2509.

Mandelkow, E.M., Biernat, J., Drewes, G., Gustke, N., Trinczek, B., and Mandelkow, E. (1995). Tau domains, phosphorylation, and interactions with microtubules. Neurobiol Aging *16*, 355-362; discussion 362-353.

Mandelkow, E.M., and Mandelkow, E. (1998). Tau in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol 8, 425-427.

Mann, D.M., and Esiri, M.M. (1989). The pattern of acquisition of plaques and tangles in the brains of patients under 50 years of age with Down's syndrome. J Neurol Sci *89*, 169-179.

Mann, D.M., Yates, P.O., and Marcyniuk, B. (1985). Some morphometric observations on the cerebral cortex and hippocampus in presenile Alzheimer's disease, senile dementia of Alzheimer type and Down's syndrome in middle age. J Neurol Sci *69*, 139-159.

Marchi, S., Giorgi, C., Suski, J.M., Agnoletto, C., Bononi, A., Bonora, M., De Marchi, E., Missiroli, S., Patergnani, S., Poletti, F., *et al.* (2012). Mitochondria-ros crosstalk in the control of cell death and aging. J Signal Transduct *2012*, 329635.

Markesbery, W.R. (1997). Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 23, 134-147.

Masters, C.L., Multhaup, G., Simms, G., Pottgiesser, J., Martins, R.N., and Beyreuther, K. (1985a). Neuronal origin of a cerebral amyloid: neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease contain the same protein as the amyloid of plaque cores and blood vessels. Embo J *4*, 2757-2763.

Masters, C.L., Simms, G., Weinman, N.A., Multhaup, G., McDonald, B.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1985b). Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *82*, 4245-4249.

Mattson, M.P., Cheng, B., Davis, D., Bryant, K., Lieberburg, I., and Rydel, R.E. (1992). beta-Amyloid peptides destabilize calcium homeostasis and render human cortical neurons vulnerable to excitotoxicity. J Neurosci *12*, 376-389.

Mawuenyega, K.G., Sigurdson, W., Ovod, V., Munsell, L., Kasten, T., Morris, J.C., Yarasheski, K.E., and Bateman, R.J. (2010). Decreased clearance of CNS beta-amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. Science *330*, 1774.

McFate, T., Mohyeldin, A., Lu, H., Thakar, J., Henriques, J., Halim, N.D., Wu, H., Schell, M.J., Tsang, T.M., Teahan, O., *et al.* (2008). Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity controls metabolic and malignant phenotype in cancer cells. J Biol Chem 283, 22700-22708.

Michelakis, E.D., Sutendra, G., Dromparis, P., Webster, L., Haromy, A., Niven, E., Maguire, C., Gammer, T.L., Mackey, J.R., Fulton, D., *et al.* (2010). Metabolic modulation of glioblastoma with dichloroacetate. Sci Transl Med *2*, 31ra34.

Michelakis, E.D., Webster, L., and Mackey, J.R. (2008). Dichloroacetate (DCA) as a potential metabolic-targeting therapy for cancer. Br J Cancer *99*, 989-994.

Mielke, R., Kessler, J., Szelies, B., Herholz, K., Wienhard, K., and Heiss, W.D. (1998). Normal and pathological aging--findings of positron-emission-tomography. J Neural Transm *105*, 821-837.

Moreno-Sanchez, R., Rodriguez-Enriquez, S., Marin-Hernandez, A., and Saavedra, E. (2007). Energy metabolism in tumor cells. Febs J *274*, 1393-1418.

Morimoto, B.H., and Koshland, D.E., Jr. (1990). Excitatory amino acid uptake and Nmethyl-D-aspartate-mediated secretion in a neural cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 3518-3521.

Mosconi, L. (2005). Brain glucose metabolism in the early and specific diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. FDG-PET studies in MCI and AD. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging *32*, 486-510.

Mullan, M., Houlden, H., Windelspecht, M., Fidani, L., Lombardi, C., Diaz, P., Rossor, M., Crook, R., Hardy, J., Duff, K., *et al.* (1992). A locus for familial early-onset Alzheimer's

disease on the long arm of chromosome 14, proximal to the alpha 1-antichymotrypsin gene. Nat Genet 2, 340-342.

Nagamatsu, S., Sawa, H., Kamada, K., Nakamichi, Y., Yoshimoto, K., and Hoshino, T. (1993). Neuron-specific glucose transporter (NSGT): CNS distribution of GLUT3 rat glucose transporter (RGT3) in rat central neurons. FEBS Lett *334*, 289-295.

Nakai, N., Obayashi, M., Nagasaki, M., Sato, Y., Fujitsuka, N., Yoshimura, A., Miyazaki, Y., Sugiyama, S., and Shimomura, Y. (2000). The abundance of mRNAs for pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase isoenzymes in brain regions of young and aged rats. Life Sci *68*, 497-503.

Nath, K.A., Ngo, E.O., Hebbel, R.P., Croatt, A.J., Zhou, B., and Nutter, L.M. (1995). alpha-Ketoacids scavenge H_2O_2 in vitro and in vivo and reduce menadione-induced DNA injury and cytotoxicity. Am J Physiol 268, C227-236.

Neve, R.L., Harris, P., Kosik, K.S., Kurnit, D.M., and Donlon, T.A. (1986). Identification of cDNA clones for the human microtubule-associated protein tau and chromosomal localization of the genes for tau and microtubule-associated protein 2. Brain Res *387*, 271-280.

Noble, W., Pooler, A.M., and Hanger, D.P. (2011). Advances in tau-based drug discovery. Expert Opin Drug Discov *6*, 797-810.

Papandreou, I., Cairns, R.A., Fontana, L., Lim, A.L., and Denko, N.C. (2006). HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell Metab *3*, 187-197.

Piaceri, I., Nacmias, B., and Sorbi, S. (2013). Genetics of familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Front Biosci *5*, 167-177.

Pike, C.J., Burdick, D., Walencewicz, A.J., Glabe, C.G., and Cotman, C.W. (1993). Neurodegeneration induced by beta-amyloid peptides in vitro: the role of peptide assembly state. J Neurosci *13*, 1676-1687.

Plas, D.R., and Thompson, C.B. (2002). Cell metabolism in the regulation of programmed cell death. Trends Endocrinol Metab *13*, 75-78.

Plassman, B.L., Langa, K.M., Fisher, G.G., Heeringa, S.G., Weir, D.R., Ofstedal, M.B., Burke, J.R., Hurd, M.D., Potter, G.G., Rodgers, W.L., *et al.* (2007). Prevalence of dementia in the United States: the aging, demographics, and memory study. Neuroepidemiology *29*, 125-132.

Poisnel, G., Herard, A.S., El Tannir El Tayara, N., Bourrin, E., Volk, A., Kober, F., Delatour, B., Delzescaux, T., Debeir, T., Rooney, T., *et al.* (2011). Increased regional cerebral glucose uptake in an APP/PS1 model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging *11*, 11.

Poorkaj, P., Bird, T.D., Wijsman, E., Nemens, E., Garruto, R.M., Anderson, L., Andreadis, A., Wiederholt, W.C., Raskind, M., and Schellenberg, G.D. (1998). Tau is a candidate gene for chromosome 17 frontotemporal dementia. Ann Neurol *43*, 815-825.

Pratico, D. (2008). Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease: a reappraisal. Trends Pharmacol Sci 29, 609-615.

Price, J.L., and Morris, J.C. (1999). Tangles and plaques in nondemented aging and "preclinical" Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 45, 358-368.

Priller, C., Bauer, T., Mitteregger, G., Krebs, B., Kretzschmar, H.A., and Herms, J. (2006). Synapse formation and function is modulated by the amyloid precursor protein. J Neurosci 26, 7212-7221.

Roche, T.E., Baker, J.C., Yan, X., Hiromasa, Y., Gong, X., Peng, T., Dong, J., Turkan, A., and Kasten, S.A. (2001). Distinct regulatory properties of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase and phosphatase isoforms. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol *70*, 33-75.

Sabuncu, M.R., Desikan, R.S., Sepulcre, J., Yeo, B.T., Liu, H., Schmansky, N.J., Reuter, M., Weiner, M.W., Buckner, R.L., Sperling, R.A., *et al.* (2011). The dynamics of cortical and hippocampal atrophy in Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol *68*, 1040-1048.

Sagara, Y., Dargusch, R., Klier, F.G., Schubert, D., and Behl, C. (1996). Increased antioxidant enzyme activity in amyloid beta protein-resistant cells. J Neurosci *16*, 497-505.

Scheuner, D., Eckman, C., Jensen, M., Song, X., Citron, M., Suzuki, N., Bird, T.D., Hardy, J., Hutton, M., Kukull, W., *et al.* (1996). Secreted amyloid beta-protein similar to that in the senile plaques of Alzheimer's disease is increased in vivo by the presenilin 1 and 2 and APP mutations linked to familial Alzheimer's disease. Nat Med 2, 864-870.

Schmechel, D.E., Saunders, A.M., Strittmatter, W.J., Crain, B.J., Hulette, C.M., Joo, S.H., Pericak-Vance, M.A., Goldgaber, D., and Roses, A.D. (1993). Increased amyloid betapeptide deposition in cerebral cortex as a consequence of apolipoprotein E genotype in lateonset Alzheimer disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *90*, 9649-9653.

Schoenfeld, T.A., and Obar, R.A. (1994). Diverse distribution and function of fibrous microtubule-associated proteins in the nervous system. Int Rev Cytol *151*, 67-137.

Schreck, R., Rieber, P., and Baeuerle, P.A. (1991). Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1. Embo J *10*, 2247-2258.

Schubert, D., Heinemann, S., Carlisle, W., Tarikas, H., Kimes, B., Patrick, J., Steinbach, J.H., Culp, W., and Brandt, B.L. (1974). Clonal cell lines from the rat central nervous system. Nature 249, 224-227.

Schubert, D., Heinemann, S., and Kidokoro, Y. (1977). Cholinergic metabolism and synapse formation by a rat nerve cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74, 2579-2583.

Selkoe, D.J. (1991). The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 6, 487-498.

Selkoe, D.J. (1998). The cell biology of beta-amyloid precursor protein and presenilin in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol *8*, 447-453.

Semenza, G. (2002). Signal transduction to hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Biochem Pharmacol *64*, 993-998.

Semenza, G.L. (1999). Regulation of mammalian O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *15*, 551-578.

Semenza, G.L. (2003). Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 3, 721-732.

Semenza, G.L. (2007). HIF-1 mediates the Warburg effect in clear cell renal carcinoma. J Bioenerg Biomembr *39*, 231-234.

Semenza, G.L. (2010). HIF-1: upstream and downstream of cancer metabolism. Curr Opin Genet Dev 20, 51-56.

Semenza, G.L., Jiang, B.H., Leung, S.W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J.P., Maire, P., and Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem 271, 32529-32537.

Serpell, L.C. (2000). Alzheimer's amyloid fibrils: structure and assembly. Biochim Biophys Acta *1502*, 16-30.

Seubert, P., Vigo-Pelfrey, C., Esch, F., Lee, M., Dovey, H., Davis, D., Sinha, S., Schlossmacher, M., Whaley, J., Swindlehurst, C., *et al.* (1992). Isolation and quantification of soluble Alzheimer's beta-peptide from biological fluids. Nature *359*, 325-327.

Shoji, M., Golde, T.E., Ghiso, J., Cheung, T.T., Estus, S., Shaffer, L.M., Cai, X.D., McKay, D.M., Tintner, R., Frangione, B., *et al.* (1992). Production of the Alzheimer amyloid beta protein by normal proteolytic processing. Science *258*, 126-129.

Silva, R.F., Falcao, A.S., Fernandes, A., Gordo, A.C., Brito, M.A., and Brites, D. (2006). Dissociated primary nerve cell cultures as models for assessment of neurotoxicity. Toxicol Lett *163*, 1-9.

Sisodia, S.S., and St George-Hyslop, P.H. (2002). γ -Secretase, Notch, Abeta and Alzheimer's disease: where do the presenilins fit in? Nat Rev Neurosci *3*, 281-290.

Smith, M.A., Rottkamp, C.A., Nunomura, A., Raina, A.K., and Perry, G. (2000). Oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta *1502*, 139-144.

Sokoloff, L., Reivich, M., Kennedy, C., Des Rosiers, M.H., Patlak, C.S., Pettigrew, K.D., Sakurada, O., and Shinohara, M. (1977). The [¹⁴C]deoxyglucose method for the measurement of local cerebral glucose utilization: theory, procedure, and normal values in the conscious and anesthetized albino rat. J Neurochem 28, 897-916.

Soucek, T., Cumming, R., Dargusch, R., Maher, P., and Schubert, D. (2003). The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. Neuron *39*, 43-56.

Spillantini, M.G., and Goedert, M. (1998). Tau protein pathology in neurodegenerative diseases. Trends Neurosci 21, 428-433.

Stine, W.B., Jr., Snyder, S.W., Ladror, U.S., Wade, W.S., Miller, M.F., Perun, T.J., Holzman, T.F., and Krafft, G.A. (1996). The nanometer-scale structure of amyloid-beta visualized by atomic force microscopy. J Protein Chem *15*, 193-203.

Subbarao, K.V., Richardson, J.S., and Ang, L.C. (1990). Autopsy samples of Alzheimer's cortex show increased peroxidation in vitro. J Neurochem 55, 342-345.

Tamagno, E., Parola, M., Bardini, P., Piccini, A., Borghi, R., Guglielmotto, M., Santoro, G., Davit, A., Danni, O., Smith, M.A., *et al.* (2005). Beta-site APP cleaving enzyme upregulation induced by 4-hydroxynonenal is mediated by stress-activated protein kinases pathways. J Neurochem *92*, 628-636.

Tan, S., Schubert, D., and Maher, P. (2001). Oxytosis: A novel form of programmed cell death. Curr Top Med Chem *1*, 497-506.

Tang, M.X., Stern, Y., Marder, K., Bell, K., Gurland, B., Lantigua, R., Andrews, H., Feng, L., Tycko, B., and Mayeux, R. (1998). The APOE-epsilon4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer disease among African Americans, whites, and Hispanics. Jama 279, 751-755.

Terai, K., Matsuo, A., and McGeer, P.L. (1996). Enhancement of immunoreactivity for NF-kappa B in the hippocampal formation and cerebral cortex of Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res *735*, 159-168.

Thies, W., and Bleiler, L. (2011). 2011 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimers Dement 7, 208-244.

Thinakaran, G., Borchelt, D.R., Lee, M.K., Slunt, H.H., Spitzer, L., Kim, G., Ratovitsky, T., Davenport, F., Nordstedt, C., Seeger, M., *et al.* (1996). Endoproteolysis of presenilin 1 and accumulation of processed derivatives in vivo. Neuron *17*, 181-190.

Trojanowski, J.Q., and Lee, V.M. (1995). Phosphorylation of paired helical filament tau in Alzheimer's disease neurofibrillary lesions: focusing on phosphatases. Faseb J 9, 1570-1576.

Trushina, E., Nemutlu, E., Zhang, S., Christensen, T., Camp, J., Mesa, J., Siddiqui, A., Tamura, Y., Sesaki, H., Wengenack, T.M., *et al.* (2012). Defects in mitochondrial dynamics and metabolomic signatures of evolving energetic stress in mouse models of familial Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One *7*, e32737.

Tucker, R.P. (1990). The roles of microtubule-associated proteins in brain morphogenesis: a review. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 15, 101-120.

Turner, P.R., O'Connor, K., Tate, W.P., and Abraham, W.C. (2003). Roles of amyloid precursor protein and its fragments in regulating neural activity, plasticity and memory. Prog Neurobiol *70*, 1-32.

Ufer, C., Wang, C.C., Borchert, A., Heydeck, D., and Kuhn, H. (2010). Redox control in mammalian embryo development. Antioxid Redox Signal *13*, 833-875.

Urrila, A.S., Hakkarainen, A., Heikkinen, S., Vuori, K., Stenberg, D., Hakkinen, A.M., Lundbom, N., and Porkka-Heiskanen, T. (2003). Metabolic imaging of human cognition: an fMRI/1H-MRS study of brain lactate response to silent word generation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *23*, 942-948.

Vaishnavi, S.N., Vlassenko, A.G., Rundle, M.M., Snyder, A.Z., Mintun, M.A., and Raichle, M.E. (2010). Regional aerobic glycolysis in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17757-17762.

Valerio, A., Boroni, F., Benarese, M., Sarnico, I., Ghisi, V., Bresciani, L.G., Ferrario, M., Borsani, G., Spano, P., and Pizzi, M. (2006). NF-kappaB pathway: a target for preventing beta-amyloid (A β)-induced neuronal damage and Abeta42 production. Eur J Neurosci 23, 1711-1720.

Vaughn, A.E., and Deshmukh, M. (2008). Glucose metabolism inhibits apoptosis in neurons and cancer cells by redox inactivation of cytochrome c. Nat Cell Biol *10*, 1477-1483.

Vlassenko, A.G., Vaishnavi, S.N., Couture, L., Sacco, D., Shannon, B.J., Mach, R.H., Morris, J.C., Raichle, M.E., and Mintun, M.A. (2010). Spatial correlation between brain aerobic glycolysis and amyloid-beta (A β) deposition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17763-17767.

Walsh, D.M., Hartley, D.M., Kusumoto, Y., Fezoui, Y., Condron, M.M., Lomakin, A., Benedek, G.B., Selkoe, D.J., and Teplow, D.B. (1999). Amyloid beta-protein fibrillogenesis. Structure and biological activity of protofibrillar intermediates. J Biol Chem 274, 25945-25952.

Wan, L., Nie, G., Zhang, J., Luo, Y., Zhang, P., Zhang, Z., and Zhao, B. (2011). beta-Amyloid peptide increases levels of iron content and oxidative stress in human cell and Caenorhabditis elegans models of Alzheimer disease. Free Radic Biol Med *50*, 122-129.

Wang, X., Su, B., Siedlak, S.L., Moreira, P.I., Fujioka, H., Wang, Y., Casadesus, G., and Zhu, X. (2008). Amyloid-beta overproduction causes abnormal mitochondrial dynamics via differential modulation of mitochondrial fission/fusion proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 19318-19323.

Warburg, O. (1956a). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science 124, 269-270.

Warburg, O. (1956b). On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123, 309-314.

Weingarten, M.D., Lockwood, A.H., Hwo, S.Y., and Kirschner, M.W. (1975). A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72, 1858-1862.

Weinhouse, S. (1976). The Warburg hypothesis fifty years later. Z Krebsforsch Klin Onkol Cancer Res Clin Oncol 87, 115-126.

Williamson, J., Goldman, J., and Marder, K.S. (2009). Genetic aspects of Alzheimer disease. Neurologist 15, 80-86.

Wimo, A., Winblad, B., and Jonsson, L. (2010). The worldwide societal costs of dementia: Estimates for 2009. Alzheimers Dement *6*, 98-103.

Wisniewski, K.E., Wisniewski, H.M., and Wen, G.Y. (1985). Occurrence of neuropathological changes and dementia of Alzheimer's disease in Down's syndrome. Ann Neurol *17*, 278-282.

Yankner, B.A., Duffy, L.K., and Kirschner, D.A. (1990). Neurotrophic and neurotoxic effects of amyloid beta protein: reversal by tachykinin neuropeptides. Science 250, 279-282.

Yao, J., Du, H., Yan, S., Fang, F., Wang, C., Lue, L.F., Guo, L., Chen, D., Stern, D.M., Gunn Moore, F.J., *et al.* (2011). Inhibition of amyloid-beta (Abeta) peptide-binding alcohol dehydrogenase-Abeta interaction reduces Abeta accumulation and improves mitochondrial function in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci *31*, 2313-2320.

Yatin, S.M., Varadarajan, S., Link, C.D., and Butterfield, D.A. (1999). In vitro and in vivo oxidative stress associated with Alzheimer's amyloid beta-peptide (1-42). Neurobiol Aging 20, 325-330; discussion 339-342.

Zhang, J.Z., Behrooz, A., and Ismail-Beigi, F. (1999). Regulation of glucose transport by hypoxia. Am J Kidney Dis *34*, 189-202.

Zhong, H., De Marzo, A.M., Laughner, E., Lim, M., Hilton, D.A., Zagzag, D., Buechler, P., Isaacs, W.B., Semenza, G.L., and Simons, J.W. (1999). Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in common human cancers and their metastases. Cancer Res *59*, 5830-5835.

Zhou, M., Zhao, Y., Ding, Y., Liu, H., Liu, Z., Fodstad, O., Riker, A.I., Kamarajugadda, S., Lu, J., Owen, L.B., *et al.* (2010). Warburg effect in chemosensitivity: targeting lactate dehydrogenase-A re-sensitizes taxol-resistant cancer cells to taxol. Mol Cancer *9*, 33.

Chapter 2

2 Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cell lines is mediated by the Warburg effect

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Alzheimer's disease and amyloid resistance

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a complex neurodegenerative condition, and is the most common form of dementia among the elderly. Currently, there is no cure for the disease and treatment options remain limited. AD is characterized at the histopathological level by widespread nerve cell death, synaptic loss and the accumulation of intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and extracellular plaques within the brain (Selkoe, 2004). These plaques are primarily composed of amyloid β -peptide (A β), a 40-42 amino acid peptide derived from the proteolytic cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) (Hardy, 1997; Masters et al., 1985; Selkoe, 1998). A prevalent theory in the field is that AD is caused primarily by A β deposition within the brain, which leads to an increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), oxidative damage, mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death (Behl, 1997; Behl et al., 1992; Behl et al., 1994; Butterfield et al., 2007; Markesbery, 1997). Interestingly, some populations of cells within the brain survive by becoming resistant to $A\beta$ toxicity. Immunohistochemical analysis of brain tissue from individuals that died without any history of dementia has revealed that up to 40% of the autopsied samples had significant plaque accumulation (Bouras et al., 1994; Price and Morris, 1999). While difficult to study *in vivo*, it is possible to examine amyloid resistance in cultured nerve cells. Clonal nerve cell lines selected for resistance to $A\beta$ toxicity exhibit increased resistance to a wide array of neurotoxins suggesting that these cells have acquired a common resistance mechanism to survive exposure to environmental stresses (Behl et al., 1994; Dargusch and Schubert, 2002; Sagara et al., 1996). Initial studies revealed that $A\beta$ -resistant cells upregulate several antioxidant and glycolytic enzymes (Cumming et al., 2007; Sagara et al., 1996; Soucek et al., 2003). However, further investigation into these survival mechanisms is necessary for a greater understanding of A β -sensitivity and resistance.

2.1.2 Aerobic glycolysis (the Warburg effect) in cancer

In normal nerve cells glucose is converted to pyruvate through a number of steps within the cytosol. In the presence of oxygen, pyruvate is converted into acetyl-Coenzyme A (acetyl-CoA), by pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) within the mitochondria. Acetyl-CoA is subsequently fed into the tricarboxcylic acid cycle (TCA cycle), ultimately producing ATP via oxidative phosphorylation (OXOPHOS). In an environment lacking oxygen cells must depend on glycolysis whereby pyruvate is converted into lactate by lactate dehydrogenase subunit A (LDHA). Hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), a transcription factor induced in hypoxic microenvironments, mediates the critical cellular metabolic adaptation to hypoxia through activation of several glycolytic genes including LDHA (Semenza, 1999; Semenza et al., 1996). In addition to mediating the increased conversion of pyruvate to lactate, HIF-1 has recently been shown to suppress mitochondrial respiration by directly upregulating the expression of the gene encoding pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1) (Kim et al., 2006; Papandreou et al., 2006). PDK1 phosphorylates and inhibits PDH, thereby acting as a molecular switch between glycolysis and aerobic respiration to meet cellular ATP needs. Initially HIF-1 was believed to be a transcription factor involved in mediating the cellular metabolic adaptation to hypoxia, however it has more recently been shown to be active in normoxic conditions, such as vascularised cancer tissues, suggesting an addition role for the transcription factor (Semenza, 2007, 2010).

Enhanced glycolysis and increased lactate production is a common property of invasive cancers and its upregulation in cancer may result in the suppression of apoptosis (Bonnet et al., 2007; Michelakis et al., 2008). The initial upregulation of glycolysis in tumors is believed to be triggered by a hypoxic microenvironment and HIF-1 activity. However, despite increasing oxygen availability the glycolytic phenotype persists (Gatenby and Gillies, 2004; Semenza, 2010). This phenomenon has been termed the Warburg effect or aerobic glycolysis (Bonnet et al., 2007; Warburg, 1956). In addition to upregulation of glycolysis, cancer cells decrease the flux of pyruvate through the mitochondria via upregulation of PDK1, and the inhibition of PDH (Bonnet et al., 2007; Koukourakis et al., 2005; Michelakis et al., 2010). This shift in metabolism causes a drop in both mitochondrial oxygen consumption and associated ROS production (Bonnet et al., 2007). Therefore, lower levels of mitochondrial activity lead to a decrease in both ROS production and the propensity of

mitochondria to depolarize; two events that trigger apoptosis. The Warburg effect is believed to provide a selective advantage for the survival and proliferation of tumorigenic cells however it has rarely been examined in other cellular contexts (Bonnet et al., 2007; Michelakis et al., 2008).

2.1.3 Aerobic glycolysis in AD

Recent studies using PET imaging revealed a strong spatial correlation between aerobic glycolysis and A β deposition in the brains of AD patients (Vlassenko et al., 2010). Additionally, activities of the glycolytic enzymes pyruvate kinase (PK), and lactate LDHA, are elevated in the frontal and temporal cortex of patients with AD (Bigl et al., 1999). In contrast, the reductions of various mitochondrial enzymes involved in cellular respiration have been reported in the AD brain (Brooks et al., 2007; Gibson et al., 1998; Liang et al., 2008). Interestingly, A β -resistant nerve cells *in vitro* exhibit increased glucose uptake and flux through the glycolytic pathway (Soucek et al., 2003). A β -resistant cells are also highly sensitive to glucose deprivation suggesting that the altered glycolytic metabolism in these cells may mediate A β resistance. However, it is unknown if A β resistant cells repress mitochondrial respiration and rely primarily on glycolysis for their energy needs.

Evidence to suggest a Warburg effect may exist in AD is supported by the observation that elevated levels of HIF-1 α are detected in cultured A β resistant cells and in the brains of AD transgenic mice compared to controls (Soucek et al., 2003). Additionally, stabilization of HIF-1 α and an increase in HIF-1 activity protect cortical neurons from A β toxicity (Soucek et al., 2003). Potentially, HIF-1 may act in a manner similar to cancer cells by upregulating LDHA and PDK1 in A β resistant cells and surviving neurons of the AD brain. Elevated mitochondrial-derived ROS is strongly linked to A β induced death (Behl et al., 1992; Behl et al., 1994; Sagara et al., 1996). The impairment of mitochondrial metabolism in AD has been well documented and it is possible that a decrease in the flux of pyruvate through the mitochondria in A β resistant cells results in decreased mitochondrial respiration and ROS production similar to cancer cells (Bonnet et al., 2007; Casley et al., 2002; Caspersen et al., 2005). An increased reliance on glycolysis for production of ATP may give surviving cells an advantage in the hostile environment of the AD brain. Additionally, decreased mitochondrial activity may attenuate the release of apoptogenic factors (Bonnet et al., 2007;

Zamzami and Kroemer, 2001). Taken together, the increase in glycolysis and lactate production and/or repression of mitochondrial activity may play a role in the protection of neurons against A β toxicity in AD, although this hypothesis has never formally been examined.

To investigate if a Warburg effect exists in $A\beta$ resistant cells, and if this contributes to their resistance against $A\beta$ toxicity, two nerve like cell lines, PC12 and B12, and their $A\beta$ resistant derivatives were selected and characterized. Here we show that nerve cell lines which are resistant to $A\beta$, break down glucose in a manner reminiscent of cancer cells. Western blot analysis revealed increased levels of PDK1 in $A\beta$ resistant cells exposed to $A\beta$ compared to parental sensitive cells. $A\beta$ resistant cells showed higher levels of LDHA activity and also generated higher levels of lactic acid compared to sensitive cells. Chemical and genetic inactivation of either LDHA or PDK1 promoted increased cell death in $A\beta$ -resistant cells following $A\beta$ exposure. These findings indicate that a shift in metabolism to rely heavily on glycolysis for energy needs may provide nerve cells with a mechanism to survive $A\beta$ accumulation within the AD brain.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Materials

Cell culture reagents including Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium (DMEM), penicillin/streptomycin (P/S), DMEM without phenol red and Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS, 1X) were purchased from Biowhittaker (Walkersville, MD, USA). Dialyzed fetal bovine serum (FBS) and horse serum (HS) were obtained from PAA Laboratories Inc. (Etobicoke, ON, Canada). OPTIMEM I (1X) and TrypLE Express (1X) were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Amyloid beta (A β) peptide (25-35) was purchased from California peptide research (San Francisco, CA, USA). Poly-D-lysine, L-Lactic dehydrogenase solution Type II, L(+)-lactic acid~98%, β -Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺), β -Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide reduced disodium salt (NADH), sodium pyruvate, potassium hydroxide, perchloric acid, sodium oxamate, dichloroacetic acid (DCA) \geq 99%, Bisbenzimide (Hoechst), Poly-D-lysine, puromycin, dimethyl formamide, 3-(4,5dimethlythiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) were all purchased from
Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). G418 sulfate was purchased from Calbiochem (EMD Chemicals Inc., Darmstadt, Germany). Mitotracker Red CM-H2XRos (Molecular Probes) was purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA).

2.2.2 Cell culture

The PC12 and B12 immortalized nerve cell lines and their A β resistant derivatives were obtained from Dr. David Schubert (The Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA) and cultured as previously described (Behl et al., 1994; Sagara et al., 1996). The PC12 cell lines used in this study are a subclone of a cell line originally derived from a rat pheochromocytoma (Greene and Tischler, 1976) and were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 5% HS and 1% P/S. The B12 central nervous system cells are an immortalized clonal cell line derived from a nitrosoethylurea induced brain tumor in rats (Schubert et al., 1974) and were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, and 1% P/S. The PC12 and B12 A β resistant cell lines were isolated following 4 months growth in the presence of A β and subsequent cloning (Behl et al., 1994; Sagara et al., 1996). All cells were grown in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂ and 1% O₂. Prior to experimentation the A β resistant clones were re-selected in 20 μ M A β (25–35) for two weeks. The A β peptide (25-35) was dissolved in sterilized deionized water at 1 mg/ml, left overnight at room temperature to promote fibril formation and subsequently stored at -20°C.

2.2.3 LDHA assay

The activity of LDHA was determined spectrophotometrically. PC12 and B12 cells were plated at an appropriate density to achieve 70-80% confluency before exposure to $A\beta_{25-35}$ (20 μ M). PC12 and B12 parental samples exposed to hypoxic conditions (1% O₂) for 24 hrs were used as positive controls. A β –treated and untreated PC12 and B12 cells were washed twice in DPBS and harvested in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 2% SDS and 1 mM PMSF) at 24 hr and 48 hr. Following a freeze/thaw cycle, protein extracts were quantified by a Lowry Assay (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). LDHA catalyzes the reversible reduction of pyruvate to lactate, using NADH as a co-substrate. The activity of LDHA in each sample was determined by measuring the change in absorbance as a result of the oxidation of NADH

at a wavelength of 340 nm (37°C) (Shimadzu-UV 160 Spectrophotometer, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) as previously described (Lamster et al., 1985). Cell lysates were added to equilibrated cuvettes containing: 460 μ L dionized (DI) H₂O, 430 μ L MOPS buffer (50 mM pH 7.0), 30 μ L NADH (6.4 mM), 30 μ L sodium pyruvate (1 M). The NADH and sodium pyruvate were dissolved in potassium phosphate buffer (50 mM pH 7.4). The reference cuvette contained an additional 30 μ L of DI water and lacked pyruvate. Contents were mixed and the change in absorbance was recorded over 120 seconds. The maximum reaction rate (V_{max}) was taken between 30-90 seconds for each sample. LDHA activities were calculated from the changes in absorbance and the specific absorbance of NADH at 340 nm (6.22L/mmol for a path length of 1.0 cm) and standardized to protein concentrations.

2.2.4 Lactate assay

Lactate levels in the extracellular fluid of AB treated and untreated PC12 and B12 parental and resistant lines were measured enzymatically (Itoh et al., 2003). PC12 and B12 cells were plated on 35 mm dishes at an appropriate density to achieve 70-80% confluency following an overnight incubation. One day after seeding the media was aspirated, the cells were washed with DPBS and the media was replaced with OPTIMEM I media. $A\beta_{25-35}$ (20 µM) was also added to the test dishes immediately after changing the media to OPTIMEM I. Following 24 hr and 48 hr incubation lactate released into the medium was measured. One tenth volume of 70% perchloric acid (PCA) was added to the harvested media, and samples were put on ice for 10 minutes. Precipitated proteins were removed by centrifugation, and the acidified supernatant was neutralized by adding the appropriate amount of 10 M KOH to achieve pH 7.5. Lactate levels were measured by following the change in absorbance as a result of the reduction NAD⁺, which is coupled to the oxidation of lactate, at a wavelength of 340 nm (37°C) (Shimadzu-UV 160 Spectrophotometer, Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan) as described previously (Itoh et al., 2003). Twenty five microliters of the sample were added to both the reference and test cuvettes containing 500 µl DI H₂O, 400 µl glycine buffer (1 M pH 9.5), 50 µl hydrazine sulfate (0.56 M pH 8.6), and 20 µl NAD⁺ (1.0 M pH 6.75). Following a 5 min equilibration period at 37°C, 2 µl (~2.7 units) of LDH was added to the test cuvette. The rate of the reduction of NAD⁺ to NADH was recorded until completion of the reaction. Lactate concentrations were determined by comparison to a lactate standard curve.

2.2.5 Immunoblot Analysis

To assess the levels of LDHA and PDK1, treated (20 μ M A β_{25-35}) and untreated PC12 and B12 cells from subconfluent cultures were washed twice in cold DPBS and harvested in a Tris extraction buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 2% SDS and 1 mM PMSF) at 24 hr and 48 hr. Protein extracts were quantified by a Lowry assay, resolved by 12% SDS PAGE and electroblotted onto PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad Richmond, CA, USA) (Cumming et al., Membranes were probed with the following antibodies: polyclonal anti-LDHA 2007). (1:1000; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA), polyclonal anti-PDK1 (1:1000; Stressgen, San Diego, CA, USA) and a monoclonal anti- β -actin (1:2000; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) followed by incubation with an appropriate horseradish peroxidase (HRP) -conjugated secondary antibody (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). The blots were developed using Pierce ECL western blotting substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) and visualized with a Bio-Rad Molecular Imager (ChemiDoc XRS, Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). Densitometric analysis was performed using Image J software. Band densities were standardized against β -actin, and the ratio of LDHA/PDK1-specific bands relative to the β actin band was determined. Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/ or PDK1/ β -actin ratio of the resistant lines to the same ratio in the parental cell line.

2.2.6 Cytotoxicity assay

Aβ induced cell cytotoxicity (cell viability) was assessed by a modified MTT assay (Behl et al., 1994; Hansen et al., 1989; Sagara et al., 1996). The MTT assay measures the reduction of the tetrazolium salt MTT to a colored formazan in living cells (Behl et al., 1994; Sagara et al., 1996). Cells were seeded $(3x10^3 \text{ cells/well})$ in a 96 well microtiter plate and, following overnight incubation, Aβ₂₅₋₃₅ was added to the test wells at a concentration of 20 µM. Neutralized DCA (2.5 mM), an inhibitor of PDK1, or oxamate (20 mM), an inhibitor of LDHA, were also added to the appropriate test wells. Following 48 hr incubation 10 µl of MTT stock (2.5 mg/ml dissolved in DPBS) was added to each well, and plates were incubated again, for 4 hours, then 100 µl of solubilization solution (20% SDS in 50% dimethyl formamide pH 4.8) was added to each well and plates were rocked at room temperature overnight. The following day plates were read on a microplate reader (BioRad Model 3550) using 595 nm as the test wavelength (absorbance of formazan product in

solution) and 655 nm as the reference wavelength. The percent viability was calculated from the mean absorbance of the treated cells divided by the mean absorbance of the control cells and multiplied by 100%. A β induced cytotoxicity was also assessed by a trypan blue exclusion assay. Cells were seeded in 12-well dishes and following overnight incubation A β_{25-35} was added to the test wells at a concentration of 20 μ M. Neutralized DCA (2.5 mM) or oxamate (20 mM) were also added to the appropriate test wells. Following a 48 hr incubation cells were trypsinized, pelleted and resuspended in 200 μ l of culture media to which an equal volume of trypan blue was added. Cells excluding typan blue were scored in triplicate using a hemocytometer and a light microscope. Prior to experimentation oxamate and DCA were both tested for toxicity at a range of treatment concentrations. For each inhibitor, a treatment concentration was selected that conferred little to no toxicity in cells (20 mM oxamate, 2.5 mM DCA).

2.2.7 Fluorescence microscopy

Mitochondrial ROS was visualized by the fluorescent dye Mitotracker Red CM-H2XRos (MTR). Stock MTR was dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) at a concentration of 1 mM and stored at -20°C. PC12 and B12 cells were plated ($8x10^4$) in 6 well glass bottom tissue culture dishes pretreated with polylysine (50 µg/ml for 3 hr) and incubated overnight. PC12 parental cells were plated at a higher density of $3x10^5$ cells/well. The following day cells were treated with 20 µM A β_{25-35} for 48 hr. Following treatment with A β , the media was aspirated and new media was added containing MTR at a concentration of 100 nM. Plates were then incubated at 37° C for 20 min, washed in DPBS containing Hoecsht stain (10 µg/ml), followed by an additional wash in DPBS and then placed in phenol red free DMEM. Cells were taken using a Q Imaging (Retiga 1300 monochrome 10-bit) camera and Q Capture software. Pictures were taken of three random fields of view for each experiment. MTR fluorescence was quantified with ImageJ software.

2.2.8 Derivation of PDK1 and LDHA knockdown cell lines

One resistant clone from each cell line, R7 (PC12) and R2 (B12) were selected to make stable knock down lines. All cells were transfected with lipofectamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's directions. Cells were plated at a density to

achieve 70-80% confluency. Cells were transfected with HuSH 29mer shRNA (Origene, Rockville, MD, USA) constructs directed at rat *Ldha* or rat *Pdk1*. The shRNA vector is cloned in the pRS plasmid under the control of the U6 promoter for mammalian cell expression. For each specific mRNA, 2 shRNA's containing expression cassettes, targeted at different parts of the mRNA were selected. The selected shRNA constructs directed against Ldha 71-TGGAATCTCAGATGTTGTGAAGGTGACAC 72 were: and CTTGTGCCATCAGTATCT-TAATGAAGGAC); the shRNA constructs directed against 29-AATCACCAGGACAGCCAATACAAGTGGTT Pdk1 30were: and TCGGTTCTACATGAGTCGCATC-TCAATTA). A non effective shRNA construct (scrambled) in pRS plasmid was selected as a negative control. Each shRNA construct for both Ldha and Pdk1 in addition to the scrambled construct (5 total) were separately transfected and selected for their resistance to 1 μ g/ml puromycin. Approximately 10-12 clones were picked, expanded and screened by western blot analysis for successful knockdown.

2.2.9 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as means \pm SD resulting from a least three independent experiments. Data were analyzed statistically using either a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test or a one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett test (VassarStats). Results were considered statistically significant at P<0.05.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Increased LDHA activity and lactate production in Aβ-resistant cells

LDHA catalyzes the conversion of pyruvate to lactate and the increased activity of this enzyme in cancer cells is strongly associated with the Warburg effect (Fantin et al., 2006; Goldman et al., 1964; Le et al., 2010). To determine if a similar effect is observed in Aβ-resistant cells, we measured LDHA activity and secreted lactate levels in both Aβ-sensitive PC12 and B12 parental cells and clonal lines selected for resistance to Aβ. Interestingly, all the resistant lines displayed significantly higher levels of LDHA activity as compared to their parental counterparts, with or without exposure to Aβ (Figure 2.1 A, B, P<0.001).

Additionally, the activity of LDHA in both parental lines significantly decreased with increased exposure to A β (P<0.001). However, the activity of LDHA in the PC12 resistant lines, R1 and R7, appeared to decrease only slightly with exposure to A β , but remained significantly greater than the parental line for all treatments (P<0.001). Similarly, the activity of LDHA in the B12 resistant lines, R2 and R4, remained significantly greater than the parental line with or without exposure to A β (P<0.001). As a control, PC12 and B12 parental cells were exposed to hypoxic conditions (1% O₂) for 24 hr, as hypoxia is a known activator of *LDHA* (Semenza et al., 1996). Parental cells exposed to hypoxia exhibited increased LDHA activity when compared to cells cultured in control conditions (P<0.001). We also examined LDHA protein levels by western blot analysis using an LDHA-specific antibody. However, there was no clear trend in LDHA expression between both PC12 and B12 parental and resistant lines (data not shown). LDHA activity has been shown to be regulated by both allosteric effects and post translational modifications (Cooper et al., 1984; Cumming et al., 2004; Fritz, 1965; Yasykova et al., 2000) therefore the increased activity we observed in A β resistant cells may be attributed to these modifications.

LDHA catalyzes the conversion of pyruvate to lactate which is then released to the extracellular space by the monocarboxylate transporters (MCT). To determine if the elevated LDHA in A β resistant cells was associated with increased lactate production, the concentration of lactate in the extracellular media of cultured B12 and PC12 cells was examined. A significant increase in the concentration of lactate was detected in the extracellular media of all PC12 and B12 resistant lines when compared to their respective parental lines at 24 hr and 48 hr, with or without exposure to A β (20 µM) (Fig. 2.1 C, D, P<0.001). These findings indicated that increased LDHA activity and associated lactate production is strongly associated with A β -resistance.

2.3.2 PDK1 levels are elevated in Aβ-resistant cells

Elevated PDK1 expression in cancer cells results in reduced mitochondrial respiration and resistance to apoptosis (Bonnet et al., 2007). To determine if elevated PDK1 expression contributes to resistance to A β toxicity, cell extracts from sensitive and resistant cells were analyzed by Western blot analysis. Highly elevated PDK1 levels were detected in all A β -resistant lines relative to parental cell lines in either the presence of absence of A β (Figure

2.2 A and B). Interestingly, an additional band around 30 kDa was detected that was more prominent than full length PDK1 (~48 kDa) in B12 cells. This lower molecular weight band also showed the same elevated trend as full length PDK1 in the R2 and R4 lines (Figure 2.2 B). The lower molecular weight PDK1 band may represent some form of cleavage product/posttranslational modification of PDK1. In contrast, the PC12 and B12 parental cell lines exhibited a 14% and 15.6% reduction in PDK1 levels respectively following 48 hr exposure to Aβ. Thus, increased PDK1 expression strongly correlates with Aβ resistance.

2.3.3 Mitochondrial ROS production is decreased in Aβ-resistant cells

A decrease in mitochondrial-derived ROS is a key feature of the Warburg effect and plays a prominent role in resistance to apoptosis (Bonnet et al., 2007). We therefore examined mitochondrial ROS in A β sensitive and resistant cells using Mitotracker ROS Red (MTR); a dye that specifically incorporates in mitochondria and only fluoresces in the presence of ROS (Bonnet et al., 2007). A significant decrease in mitochondrial ROS, as measured by mean MTR fluorescence, was observed in PC12 and B12 resistant cells compared to their parental counterparts with or without exposure to A β (20 µM) (Figure 2.3 A, B, P<0.001). In contrast, there was a pronounced increase in mitochondrial ROS in both PC12 and B12 parental lines following 48 hr exposure to A β (P<0.01). Thus A β -resistant cells appear to have an altered metabolism resulting in significantly less mitochondrial-derived ROS under both basal and stressed conditions.

Figure 2.1 LDHA activity and lactate levels are elevated in A β -resistant cells. A) LDHA activity was significantly greater in PC12 A β resistant cells lines, R1 and R7, as compared to the parental line (PC12 P) under similar conditions both in the absence (0) and presence (24 hr, 48 hr) of A β (20 μ M; *P<0.001). LDHA activity significantly decreased in PC12 P cells exposed to A β (*P<0.001). PC12 P cells exposed to 24 hr hypoxia (1% O₂) exhibited significantly greater LDHA activity when compared to untreated parental cells (*P<0.001). **B**) LDHA activity was also significantly greater in B12 Aβ resistant cells lines, R2 and R4, as compared to the parental line (B12 P) cultured in the same conditions (*P<0.001). LDHA activity significantly decreased in B12 P cells treated with AB (*P<0.001). B12 P cells exposed to 24 hr hypoxia (1% O_2) also exhibited greater LDHA activity when compared to untreated parental cells (*P < 0.001). (C) Extracellular lactate was significantly elevated in PC12 A β -resistant lines, R1 and R7 and (**D**) B12 A β resistant lines, R2 and R4, when compared to their respective parental cells cultured under similar conditions (*P<0.001). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Parental cells exposed to hypoxia were compared to parental cells cultured under control conditions by a one tailed Ttest. All other data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



Figure 2.2 PDK1 is upregulated in A β **resistant cells. A**) Immunoblot analysis revealed PDK1 levels were significantly elevated in both PC12 resistant lines, R1 and R7, when compared to the parental cell line (P) (*P<0.001). These elevated levels were maintained following 24 and 48 hr A β treatment (*20 μ M). **B**) PDK1 levels were also significantly greater in both B12 resistant lines, R2 and R4, when compared to the parental line (** P<0.01). These increased levels were also maintained with A β treatment. In the B12 cell lines an additional band of approximately 30 kDa was observed that was more prominent than full length PDK1 (~48 kDa). This additional band also showed the same elevated trend as full length PDK1 in the R2 and R4 lines when compared to the parental under similar conditions. The smaller band may represent a cleavage product of PDK1. Densitometric analysis of full length PDK1 band densities relative to actin are found in the lower panel. Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the PDK1/actin ratio of the resistant lines to the same ratio in the parental cell line. Data represent the mean ± SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



0

P P* R2 R2* R4 R4* P P* R2 R2* R4 R4* 24 hr 48 hr

0

P P* R1 R1* R7 R7* P P* R1 R1* R7 R7* 24 hr 48 hr

Figure 2.3 Decreased mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in A β resistant cells. A) PC12 A β resistant lines R1 and R7 exhibited a significant reduction in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) compared to the parental cell line (PC12 P) under normal culture conditions (*P<0.001). This decrease in ROS was maintained with 48 hr A β (20 μ M) exposure. Conversely, mitochondrial ROS significantly increased in the parental line when exposed to A β (**P<0.01). B) The B12 resistant lines, R2 and R4 also exhibited decreased mitochondrial ROS when compared to parental cells under similar conditions (*P<0.001). A similar increase in mitochondrial ROS in B12 parental cells (B12 P) was also observed following treatment with A β for 48 hr (**P<0.01). Cells were stained with MitoTracker Red (100 nM) and nuclei were stained with Hoescht (10 μ g/ml) and visualized by fluorescence microscopy at 400X magnification and quantified with ImageJ software. Pictures were taken from 3 random fields of view for each treatment. Data represent the mean ± SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.









2.3.4 Chemical inhibition of LDHA or PDK1 restores sensitivity to Aβ in resistant cells

Inhibition of LDHA or PDK1 using the chemical inhibitors oxamate and dichloroacetate (DCA) respectively, has been shown to counter the Warburg effect and apoptosis resistance in cancer cells (Bonnet et al., 2007; Michelakis et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2010). When the PC12 and B12 resistant cell lines were treated with either chemical inhibitor, oxamate (20 mM) or DCA (2.5 mM), and A β (20 μ M) there was a significant decrease in cell viability when compared to A β treatment alone (Figure 2.4 A-D, P<0.01). Interestingly, exposure of the PC12 and B12 parental lines to either oxamate or DCA did not appear to potentiate A β toxicity. To ensure that oxamate and DCA did not interfere with the reduction of MTT and subsequent formazan formation, these experiments were repeated using a trypan-blue exclusion viability assay and similar results were observed (data not shown). These findings indicate that chemical inhibition of either LDHA or PDK1 can resensitize A β -resistant cells to A β .

Figure 2.4 Chemically inhibiting LDHA or PDK1 decreases cell viability in A β resistant cells. A significant decrease in cell viability in both PC12 (A) and B12 (B) resistant lines was observed after 48 hr concomitant exposure to A β (20 μ M) and 20 mM oxamate (ox), a chemical inhibitor of LDHA (*P<0.01). Similarly, 48 hr A β exposure significantly decreased cell viability in both PC12 (C) and B12 (D) resistant lines when cells were co-treated with 2.5 mM dichloroacetate (DCA), a chemical inhibitor of PDK1 (*P<0.01). Interestingly, the cell viability of the parental lines does not appear to decrease with treatment of either inhibitor and A β . Cell viability was determined by the reduction of the tetrazolium salt MTT. Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



2.3.5 Attenuated LDHA and PDK1 expression reverses Aβ resistance

Because chemical inhibitors such as oxamate and DCA could potentially have off-target effects, we sought to determine if specific inhibition of LDHA and PDK1 expression by shRNA-mediated knockdown could also render resistant cells sensitive to A β . Immunoblot analysis confirmed that PC12 R7 and B12 R2 cell lines stably transfected with shRNA vectors containing sequences directed at rat *Ldha* or *Pdk1* transcripts exhibited decreased expression of the targeted mRNAs compared to cells transfected with a control shRNA containing a non-specific/scrambled (scram) sequence (Figure 2.5). Densitometric analysis revealed a 52% and 62% reduction in LDHA levels in the R7 knockdown lines 71-7 and 72-11 respectively, and a 65% and 72% reduction in PDK1 levels in the R7 knockdown lines 29-11 and 30-10 respectively when compared to the R7 control line scram-10 (Figure 2.5 A, B). By knocking down either LDHA or PDK1 expression in the R7 A β resistant cell line, we observed a significant decrease in cell viability, following exposure to 48 hr A β (20 µM) when compared to the control (Figure 2.5 C, P<0.01). Reduction of LDHA or PDK1 expression in R7 cells resulted in a 40 to 50% reduction in viability compared to the control cell lines (Figure 2.5 C).

Western blot analysis revealed there was a 50% and 62% reduction in LDHA levels in the R2 knockdown lines 71-23 and 72-5 respectively, and a 48% and 49% reduction in PDK1 levels in the R2 knockdown lines 29-12 and 30-4 respectively, when compared to R2 line scram 5 (Figure 2.5 D, E). Exposure of the R2 LDHA or PDK1 knockdown clones to 48 hr A β (20 μ M) resulted in a significant reduction in cell viability (between 43 to 52%) when compared to the control (Figure 2.5 F, P<0.01). Thus, specifically targeting either LDHA or PDK1 expression in A β resistant cells results in re-sensitization to A β and increased death.

Figure 2.5 Attenuated LDHA or PDK1 expression increases sensitivity of resistant cell lines to A β . A) Immunoblot analysis of PC12 R7 resistant cells stably transfected with LDHA-specific shRNA vectors revealed two clonal cell lines (clones 71-7 and 72-11) exhibited a significant decrease in LDHA protein levels when compared to an R7 cell line transfected with a non-specific shRNA (SCR) (*P<0.01). B) Immunoblot analysis also confirmed a significant decrease in PDK1 protein in two PDK-1 shRNA stably transfected R7 cell lines, (clones 29-1 and 30-10) when compared to the control cell line (*P<0.01). C) A significant decrease in the cell viability of the R7 clones with attenuated expression of either LDHA or PDK1 was observed when cells were exposed to A β (20 μ M) for 48 hr when compared to the control (*P<0.01). **D**) Immunoblots of R2 cell lines (clones 71-23 and 72-5) confirming significantly decreased LDHA expression when compared to a control cell line (SCR) (*P<0.01). E) R2 clonal cell lines, (clones 29-12 and 30-4) stably expressing PDK-1 shRNA showed a significant decrease in the PDK1 full length protein (~48 kDa) as well as a decrease in the proposed PDK1 cleavage product (~30 kDa) when compared to the control (*P<0.01). F) Both R2 LDHA and PDK1 knockdown cell lines exposed to 48 hr A β (20) μ M) treatment showed a significant decrease in cell viability when compared to R2 control (* P<0.01). Densitometric analysis of LDHA and PDK1 band densities relative to actin are found below the corresponding blot. Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/actin or PDK1/actin ratio of the resistant lines to the same ratio in the scrambled shRNA cell line. Data represent the average \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett test.











kDa

-50

-37

-25



F



2.4 Discussion

Understanding how nerve cells become resistant to $A\beta$ toxicity is central to understanding how some nerve cells within the AD brain are able to survive while large numbers of cells die. It had been previously shown that $A\beta$ resistant cells, through increased HIF-1 activity, modulate their cell metabolism to increase glucose uptake and glycolysis in the presence of $A\beta$ (Soucek et al., 2003). Additionally, HIF-1 activation in $A\beta$ sensitive cells is sufficient for neuroprotection against $A\beta$ (Soucek et al., 2003). However, this earlier study did not precisely define how HIF-1 functions to protect cells from $A\beta$ toxicity. One compelling idea is that HIF-1 driven alteration in metabolism in $A\beta$ resistant cells confers a selective advantage for survival in the hostile environment of the AD brain (Schubert, 2005; Soucek et al., 2003). Increased HIF-1 activity has been shown to enhance transcription of both *LDHA* and *PDK1* (Kim et al., 2006; Semenza et al., 1996). In this study we observed that $A\beta$ resistant cells have increased LDHA activity and PDK1 expression, both in the absence or presence of $A\beta$, and these events correlate with decreased mitochondrial derived ROS.

The question arises as to why decreased mitochondrial respiration in A β resistant cells would be advantageous? A previous study showed that cells depleted of mitochondrial DNA, lacking critical catalytic subunits of the respiratory chain and incapable of mitochondrial respiration, were unaffected by A β exposure (Cardoso et al., 2001). Mitochondria are the major site of ROS production, which is believed to be a major factor leading to A β induced death (Behl et al., 1994). This is supported by the observation that exogenously applied antioxidants protect primary CNS cultures and clonal lines from A β toxicity (Behl et al., 1994). In addition, overexpression of the mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) in AD transgenic mice increases resistance to A β and attenuates the AD phenotype (Dumont et al., 2009). These studies suggest that functional mitochondria are required for A β to elicit a toxic effect.

In support of these findings, the data in this study reveal that $A\beta$ resistant nerve cell lines exhibit metabolic reprogramming and decreased mitochondrial ROS which contribute to their resistance against $A\beta$ toxicity. Interestingly, these low levels of ROS were maintained even after exposure to $A\beta$. In contrast, the parental sensitive lines showed elevated mitochondrial ROS with exposure to A β . The increase in LDHA activity, lactate production and PDK1 levels, and decrease in mitochondrial ROS strongly indicate that a Warburg effect exists in A β resistant cells. Interestingly chemical or genetic manipulation of either LDHA or PDK1 resulted in increased sensitivity to $A\beta$ in all resistant cell lines. These observations indicate that both enzymes, LDHA and PDK1, contribute to resistance to A β . However, inhibiting or knocking down either enzyme resulted in similar levels of sensitivity to A β suggesting that both enzymes appear to play an equal and possibly redundant role in the resistance pathway. Knocking down or chemically inhibiting LDHA or PDK in various cancers shifts metabolism from glycolysis and lactate production to mitochondrial respiration, with an associated increase in mitochondrial ROS production and induction of apoptosis (Bonnet et al., 2007; Fantin et al., 2006; Le et al., 2010; Michelakis et al., 2010). Furthermore, inhibition of PDK1 in cancer cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* results in a reduction of phosphorylated PDH and HIF-1 α levels (McFate et al., 2008). Moreover, inhibition of PDK1 expression has been shown to decrease lactate levels and HIF-1 α expression and reduce the malignant phenotype of cancer cells (McFate et al., 2008). Therefore an increase in PDK1 and lactate production may aid in sustaining the Warburg effect through a positive feedback mechanism. We propose that HIF-1 activation of the glycolytic genes, LDHA and PDK1 functions to suppress apoptosis in A β resistant cells by decreasing mitochondrial respiration and ROS production.

In the past, aerobic glycolysis within the brain has been given little attention, despite early observations suggesting that a basal level of aerobic glycolysis occurs in specific areas of the brain (Boyle et al., 1994; Raichle et al., 1970). In a healthy adult, levels of aerobic glycolysis can range from ~10-15% of the glucose utilized by the human brain (Boyle et al., 1994; Powers et al., 2007; Raichle et al., 1970). More recently, PET imaging revealed a significant increase in aerobic glycolysis in specific areas of the brain (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). Specifically, the levels of aerobic glycolysis are elevated in the medial and lateral parietal and prefrontal cortices (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). Interestingly, PET imaging studies using a radiotracer with a high affinity to A β plaques, revealed a strong correlation between the spatial distribution of aerobic glycolysis and A β plaques in both patients with AD, as well as cognitively normal patients with high levels of A β deposition but without clinical manifestation of the disease (Vlassenko et al., 2010). Additionally, the spatial distribution of aerobic glycolysis closely mirrors the distribution of aerobic

glycolysis in the normal healthy brain (Vaishnavi et al., 2010; Vlassenko et al., 2010). Thus one could conclude that areas of increased aerobic glycolysis within the brain are more susceptible to A β accumulation. However, the opposing viewpoint is that an increase in aerobic glycolysis is an innate protective response that limits the toxicity of A β . Areas within the normal brain that show increased aerobic glycolysis highly overlap with the 'default mode network'- brain regions that are most active when an individual is awake but not engaged in a specific task (Vaishnavi et al., 2010; Vlassenko et al., 2010). We propose that these areas of the brain are the most susceptible to insult in AD and thus exhibit a Warburg effect as a protective mechanism or a built in resistance mechanism that can be further activated in the presence of high levels of A β .

Although a Warburg effect aids in the survival against A β toxicity, it may have a few detrimental effects. First, a reliance on glycolysis, an inefficient means of producing ATP, increases the demand for glucose in these cells. Thus a small decrease in glucose availability may render these cells incapable of producing sufficient energy to sustain their function and lead to cell death. Secondly, an increase in lactate production may result in decreased glutathione levels, the major antioxidant in the brain responsible for detoxifying ROS (Lewerenz et al., 2010). Lactate inhibits the enzymatic steps of glutathione synthesis, thus an increase in lactate would likely result in a decrease in glutathione synthesis and levels, which could result in a decreased tolerance to ROS (Lewerenz et al., 2010). However, intracellular lactate levels were not significantly different between cells suggesting that lactate is efficiently exported from the cell (data not shown). Lastly, HIF-1 mediated increase in glycolysis may result in an increase in A β production and deposition within the brain. HIF-1 has been shown to transcriptionally regulate both the β -site APP cleaving enzyme (β secretase/BACE1) and an essential enzyme involved in the presentiin/ γ -secretase complex anterior pharynx-defective 1A (APH-1A)(Wang et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2007). Hypoxia or overexpression of HIF-1a increases the BACE1 mRNA and protein levels in mouse neuroblastoma N2a cells (Zhang et al., 2007). Similarly, treatment of HeLa cells stably expressing the human APP Swedish mutation with NiCl₂ (a chemical mimic of hypoxia) results in an increase in APH-1A mRNA and protein expression accompanied by an increased secretion of A β (Wang et al., 2006). These findings have quelled enthusiasm for the treatment of AD using metal chelators to enhance HIF1 α activity. However, our findings

suggest that enhancement of PDK1 activity alone may offer a better neuroprotective strategy as it is unlikely to affect APP processing. Further studies will need to be conducted to examine this hypothesis.

2.5 Conclusion

We have shown for the first time a Warburg effect exists in A β resistant nerve cell lines, and contributes to resistance against A β toxicity. These findings suggest that the Warburg effect may act as a common resistance mechanism in a variety of cell types in response to diverse environmental stresses. However the physiological relevance of these findings in an *in vivo* AD model remains unknown. This shift in cell metabolism to rely heavily on glycolysis and lactate production for energy needs may provide nerve cells with a mechanism to overcome the pro-oxidant conditions elicited by A β exposure. Chemical means of modulating this pathway may be of therapeutic interest in the treatment of AD. Moreover, characterization of the mechanisms by which glycolysis is upregulated in A β resistant cells could reveal possible targets for drug therapy in the treatment of AD.

2.6 References

Behl, C. (1997). Amyloid beta-protein toxicity and oxidative stress in Alzheimer's disease. Cell Tissue Res *290*, 471-480.

Behl, C., Davis, J., Cole, G.M., and Schubert, D. (1992). Vitamin E protects nerve cells from amyloid beta protein toxicity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *186*, 944-950.

Behl, C., Davis, J.B., Lesley, R., and Schubert, D. (1994). Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. Cell 77, 817-827.

Bigl, M., Bruckner, M.K., Arendt, T., Bigl, V., and Eschrich, K. (1999). Activities of key glycolytic enzymes in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm *106*, 499-511.

Bonnet, S., Archer, S.L., Allalunis-Turner, J., Haromy, A., Beaulieu, C., Thompson, R., Lee, C.T., Lopaschuk, G.D., Puttagunta, L., Harry, G., *et al.* (2007). A mitochondria-K⁺ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. Cancer Cell *11*, 37-51.

Bouras, C., Hof, P.R., Giannakopoulos, P., Michel, J.P., and Morrison, J.H. (1994). Regional distribution of neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in the cerebral cortex of elderly patients: a quantitative evaluation of a one-year autopsy population from a geriatric hospital. Cereb Cortex *4*, 138-150.

Boyle, P.J., Scott, J.C., Krentz, A.J., Nagy, R.J., Comstock, E., and Hoffman, C. (1994). Diminished brain glucose metabolism is a significant determinant for falling rates of systemic glucose utilization during sleep in normal humans. J Clin Invest *93*, 529-535.

Brooks, W.M., Lynch, P.J., Ingle, C.C., Hatton, A., Emson, P.C., Faull, R.L., and Starkey, M.P. (2007). Gene expression profiles of metabolic enzyme transcripts in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res *1127*, 127-135.

Butterfield, D.A., Reed, T., Newman, S.F., and Sultana, R. (2007). Roles of amyloid betapeptide-associated oxidative stress and brain protein modifications in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Free Radic Biol Med *43*, 658-677.

Cardoso, S.M., Santos, S., Swerdlow, R.H., and Oliveira, C.R. (2001). Functional mitochondria are required for amyloid beta-mediated neurotoxicity. Faseb J *15*, 1439-1441.

Casley, C.S., Canevari, L., Land, J.M., Clark, J.B., and Sharpe, M.A. (2002). Beta-amyloid inhibits integrated mitochondrial respiration and key enzyme activities. J Neurochem *80*, 91-100.

Caspersen, C., Wang, N., Yao, J., Sosunov, A., Chen, X., Lustbader, J.W., Xu, H.W., Stern, D., McKhann, G., and Yan, S.D. (2005). Mitochondrial Abeta: a potential focal point for neuronal metabolic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J *19*, 2040-2041.

Cooper, J.A., Esch, F.S., Taylor, S.S., and Hunter, T. (1984). Phosphorylation sites in enolase and lactate dehydrogenase utilized by tyrosine protein kinases in vivo and in vitro. J Biol Chem *259*, 7835-7841.

Cumming, R.C., Andon, N.L., Haynes, P.A., Park, M., Fischer, W.H., and Schubert, D. (2004). Protein disulfide bond formation in the cytoplasm during oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 279, 21749-21758.

Cumming, R.C., Dargusch, R., Fischer, W.H., and Schubert, D. (2007). Increase in expression levels and resistance to sulfhydryl oxidation of peroxiredoxin isoforms in amyloid beta-resistant nerve cells. J Biol Chem 282, 30523-30534.

Dargusch, R., and Schubert, D. (2002). Specificity of resistance to oxidative stress. J Neurochem *81*, 1394-1400.

Dumont, M., Wille, E., Stack, C., Calingasan, N.Y., Beal, M.F., and Lin, M.T. (2009). Reduction of oxidative stress, amyloid deposition, and memory deficit by manganese superoxide dismutase overexpression in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J *23*, 2459-2466.

Fantin, V.R., St-Pierre, J., and Leder, P. (2006). Attenuation of LDH-A expression uncovers a link between glycolysis, mitochondrial physiology, and tumor maintenance. Cancer Cell *9*, 425-434.

Fritz, P.J. (1965). Rabbit muscle lactate dehydrogenase 5; a regulatory enzyme. Science *150*, 364-366.

Gatenby, R.A., and Gillies, R.J. (2004). Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nat Rev Cancer *4*, 891-899.

Gibson, G.E., Sheu, K.F., and Blass, J.P. (1998). Abnormalities of mitochondrial enzymes in Alzheimer disease. J Neural Transm *105*, 855-870.

Goldman, R.D., Kaplan, N.O., and Hall, T.C. (1964). Lactic Dehydrogenase in Human Neoplastic Tissues. Cancer Res 24, 389-399.

Greene, L.A., and Tischler, A.S. (1976). Establishment of a noradrenergic clonal line of rat adrenal pheochromocytoma cells which respond to nerve growth factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 73, 2424-2428.

Hansen, M.B., Nielsen, S.E., and Berg, K. (1989). Re-examination and further development of a precise and rapid dye method for measuring cell growth/cell kill. J Immunol Methods *119*, 203-210.

Hardy, J. (1997). Amyloid, the presenilins and Alzheimer's disease. Trends Neurosci 20, 154-159.

Itoh, Y., Esaki, T., Shimoji, K., Cook, M., Law, M.J., Kaufman, E., and Sokoloff, L. (2003). Dichloroacetate effects on glucose and lactate oxidation by neurons and astroglia in vitro and on glucose utilization by brain in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 4879-4884.

Kim, J.W., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2006). HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Cell Metab *3*, 177-185.

Koukourakis, M.I., Giatromanolaki, A., Sivridis, E., Gatter, K.C., and Harris, A.L. (2005). Pyruvate dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase expression in non small cell lung cancer and tumor-associated stroma. Neoplasia *7*, 1-6.

Lamster, I.B., Hartley, L.J., Oshrain, R.L., and Gordon, J.M. (1985). Evaluation and modification of spectrophotometric procedures for analysis of lactate dehydrogenase, beta-glucuronidase and arylsulphatase in human gingival crevicular fluid collected with filter-paper strips. Arch Oral Biol *30*, 235-242.

Le, A., Cooper, C.R., Gouw, A.M., Dinavahi, R., Maitra, A., Deck, L.M., Royer, R.E., Vander Jagt, D.L., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2010). Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 2037-2042.

Lewerenz, J., Dargusch, R., and Maher, P. (2010). Lactacidosis modulates glutathione metabolism and oxidative glutamate toxicity. J Neurochem *113*, 502-514.

Liang, W.S., Reiman, E.M., Valla, J., Dunckley, T., Beach, T.G., Grover, A., Niedzielko, T.L., Schneider, L.E., Mastroeni, D., Caselli, R., *et al.* (2008). Alzheimer's disease is associated with reduced expression of energy metabolism genes in posterior cingulate neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 4441-4446.

Markesbery, W.R. (1997). Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 23, 134-147.

Masters, C.L., Simms, G., Weinman, N.A., Multhaup, G., McDonald, B.L., and Beyreuther, K. (1985). Amyloid plaque core protein in Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *82*, 4245-4249.

McFate, T., Mohyeldin, A., Lu, H., Thakar, J., Henriques, J., Halim, N.D., Wu, H., Schell, M.J., Tsang, T.M., Teahan, O., *et al.* (2008). Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity controls metabolic and malignant phenotype in cancer cells. J Biol Chem 283, 22700-22708.

Michelakis, E.D., Sutendra, G., Dromparis, P., Webster, L., Haromy, A., Niven, E., Maguire, C., Gammer, T.L., Mackey, J.R., Fulton, D., *et al.* (2010). Metabolic modulation of glioblastoma with dichloroacetate. Sci Transl Med 2, 31ra34.

Michelakis, E.D., Webster, L., and Mackey, J.R. (2008). Dichloroacetate (DCA) as a potential metabolic-targeting therapy for cancer. Br J Cancer *99*, 989-994.

Papandreou, I., Cairns, R.A., Fontana, L., Lim, A.L., and Denko, N.C. (2006). HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell Metab *3*, 187-197.

Powers, W.J., Videen, T.O., Markham, J., McGee-Minnich, L., Antenor-Dorsey, J.V., Hershey, T., and Perlmutter, J.S. (2007). Selective defect of in vivo glycolysis in early Huntington's disease striatum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 2945-2949.

Price, J.L., and Morris, J.C. (1999). Tangles and plaques in nondemented aging and "preclinical" Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 45, 358-368.

Raichle, M.E., Posner, J.B., and Plum, F. (1970). Cerebral blood flow during and after hyperventilation. Arch Neurol 23, 394-403.

Sagara, Y., Dargusch, R., Klier, F.G., Schubert, D., and Behl, C. (1996). Increased antioxidant enzyme activity in amyloid beta protein-resistant cells. J Neurosci *16*, 497-505.

Schubert, D. (2005). Glucose metabolism and Alzheimer's disease. Ageing Res Rev 4, 240-257.

Schubert, D., Heinemann, S., Carlisle, W., Tarikas, H., Kimes, B., Patrick, J., Steinbach, J.H., Culp, W., and Brandt, B.L. (1974). Clonal cell lines from the rat central nervous system. Nature 249, 224-227.

Selkoe, D.J. (1998). The cell biology of beta-amyloid precursor protein and presenilin in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol 8, 447-453.

Selkoe, D.J. (2004). Alzheimer disease: mechanistic understanding predicts novel therapies. Ann Intern Med *140*, 627-638.

Semenza, G.L. (1999). Regulation of mammalian O2 homeostasis by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol *15*, 551-578.

Semenza, G.L. (2007). HIF-1 mediates the Warburg effect in clear cell renal carcinoma. J Bioenerg Biomembr *39*, 231-234.

Semenza, G.L. (2010). HIF-1: upstream and downstream of cancer metabolism. Curr Opin Genet Dev 20, 51-56.

Semenza, G.L., Jiang, B.H., Leung, S.W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J.P., Maire, P., and Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem *271*, 32529-32537.

Soucek, T., Cumming, R., Dargusch, R., Maher, P., and Schubert, D. (2003). The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. Neuron *39*, 43-56.

Vaishnavi, S.N., Vlassenko, A.G., Rundle, M.M., Snyder, A.Z., Mintun, M.A., and Raichle, M.E. (2010). Regional aerobic glycolysis in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17757-17762.

Vlassenko, A.G., Vaishnavi, S.N., Couture, L., Sacco, D., Shannon, B.J., Mach, R.H., Morris, J.C., Raichle, M.E., and Mintun, M.A. (2010). Spatial correlation between brain aerobic glycolysis and amyloid-beta (Abeta) deposition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17763-17767.

Wang, R., Zhang, Y.W., Zhang, X., Liu, R., Hong, S., Xia, K., Xia, J., Zhang, Z., and Xu, H. (2006). Transcriptional regulation of APH-1A and increased gamma-secretase cleavage of APP and Notch by HIF-1 and hypoxia. Faseb J *20*, 1275-1277.

Warburg, O. (1956). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science 124, 269-270.

Yasykova, M.Y., Petukhov, S.P., and Muronetz, V.I. (2000). Phosphorylation of lactate dehydrogenase by protein kinases. Biochemistry (Mosc) *65*, 1192-1196.

Zamzami, N., and Kroemer, G. (2001). The mitochondrion in apoptosis: how Pandora's box opens. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2, 67-71.

Zhang, X., Zhou, K., Wang, R., Cui, J., Lipton, S.A., Liao, F.F., Xu, H., and Zhang, Y.W. (2007). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha)-mediated hypoxia increases BACE1 expression and beta-amyloid generation. J Biol Chem 282, 10873-10880.

Zhou, M., Zhao, Y., Ding, Y., Liu, H., Liu, Z., Fodstad, O., Riker, A.I., Kamarajugadda, S., Lu, J., Owen, L.B., *et al.* (2010). Warburg effect in chemosensitivity: targeting lactate dehydrogenase-A re-sensitizes taxol-resistant cancer cells to taxol. Mol Cancer *9*, 33.

Chapter 3

3 Overexpression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 and lactate dehydrogenase A in nerve cells confers resistance to amyloid beta and other toxins by decreasing mitochondrial respiration and ROS production

3.1 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease and is the most common form of age-related dementia. AD is characterized by widespread nerve cell death and the accumulation of extracellular plaques and intracellular neurofibrillary tangles within the brain (Selkoe, 2004). These plaques are primarily composed of amyloid- β -peptide (A β), a 39-42 amino acid peptide derived from the proteolytic cleavage of the amyloid precursor protein (APP). The A β peptide, particularly the 42 amino acid long variant (A β_{42}), is highly prone to undergo oligomerization and fibrillogenesis; events strongly associated with the disease state (Selkoe, 1998). The amyloid cascade hypothesis, first proposed over 20 years ago, suggests that A β deposition in the brain is the causative agent of AD (Hardy and Higgins, 1992; Selkoe, 1991). Although multiple clinical trials have tested agents that either prevent the cleavage of APP or promote increased clearance of A β , to date none of these trials have been successful in halting disease progression prompting the hunt for alternative therapies to combat AD (Ballard et al., 2011).

Aβ-deposition promotes mitochondrial dysfunction and an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) production resulting in oxidative damage, synaptic loss and ultimately nerve cell death (Behl et al., 1994; Butterfield et al., 2007; Markesbery, 1997; Tillement et al., 2011). However, numerous immuno-histochemical studies of brain tissue from individuals without any history of dementia showed that up to 40% of the autopsied samples had significant plaque accumulation but little or no nerve cell loss (Bouras et al., 1994; Price and Morris, 1999). It has been argued that asymptomatic individuals with high plaque accumulation likely had undiagnosed mild cognitive impairment and would have eventually developed AD had they lived long enough or had a high cognitive reserve. However, an alternative hypothesis is that these individuals may have acquired or exhibit an innate

resistance mechanism to the toxic effects of A β . While difficult to study in patients, models of A β -resistance have been generated *in vitro* following the continual exposure of cultured nerve cells to concentrations of A β that would otherwise be toxic and the eventual emergence of surviving clonal nerve cell populations. Analysis of these A β -resistant nerve cells revealed upregulation of anti-oxidant enzymes compared with the sensitive parental cells (Cumming et al., 2007; Sagara et al., 1996). Additionally these cells displayed an increased resistance to a wide array of neurotoxins, suggesting that acquisition of A β resistance also confers resistance to a variety of environmental stresses (Dargusch and Schubert, 2002).

Intriguingly, A β -resistant cells also exhibit increased glucose uptake and flux through the glycolytic pathway and heightened sensitivity to glucose deprivation (Soucek et al., 2003). These cells also appear to break down glucose in a unique manner, reminiscent of cancer cells. Cancer cells have been shown to shift metabolism from mitochondrial respiration to glycolysis and lactate production for their energy needs despite the presence of oxygen (Bonnet et al., 2007; Warburg, 1956). This phenomenon is termed the Warburg effect, or aerobic glycolysis, and is driven by hypoxia inducible factor 1 α subunit (HIF-1 α) (Kim et al., 2006; Le et al., 2010; Papandreou et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2010). HIF-1 α is a heterodimeric transcription factor that regulates cellular adaptation to hypoxia and induces the transcription of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1) (Kim et al., 2006; Papandreou et al., 2006). PDK1 phosphorylates and inhibits pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), an enzyme responsible for the conversion of pyruvate to acetyl-CoA (Papandreou et al., 2006). When PDH is inhibited, pyruvate is no longer an available substrate to fuel the TCA cycle and mitochondrial oxygen consumption is decreased (Papandreou et al., 2006). Additionally, HIF-1 α upregulates the expression of LDHA, an enzyme responsible for the conversion of pyruvate to lactate, with the concomitant regeneration of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD^+) (Semenza et al., 1996).

Though HIF-1 α was initially believed to be only active in low oxygen environments, recent findings have suggested that HIF-1 α can be upregulated under normoxic conditions in both normal and cancer cells (Lu et al., 2005; Lu et al., 2002; McFate et al., 2008; Semenza, 2010). HIF-1 α regulated changes in metabolism not only allow for maintenance of energy homeostasis in prolonged low oxygen conditions but also attenuate generation of harmful

ROS at higher oxygen levels (Kim et al., 2006). By repressing mitochondrial respiration, cancer cells are less likely to produce ROS and are more resistant to mitochondrial depolarization; two events tightly linked to induction of apoptosis (Koppenol et al., 2011).

Similar to cancer cells, the observed metabolic changes in A β resistant cells arise through stabilization of HIF-1α (Soucek et al., 2003). In addition, Aβ-resistant nerve cells have elevated PDK1 expression as well as an increase in LDHA activity and lactate production when compared with control cells (Chapter 2, Newington et al., 2011). Moreover, mitochondrial derived ROS, which are closely associated with A β toxicity, are markedly diminished in resistant relative to sensitive cells (Newington et al., 2011). Chemically or genetically inhibiting LDHA or PDK1 re-sensitizes resistant cells to A β toxicity, suggesting that the altered glycolytic metabolism in these cells may mediate Aβ-resistance (Newington et al., 2011). Although a reduction in cerebral glucose metabolism, as measured by fluoro-2deoxy-D-glucose (FDG) positron emission tomography (PET), is one of the most common diagnostic features of AD recent evidence suggest that glucose utilization is more complex in the AD brain (Mosconi, 2005; Vlassenko et al., 2010). Studies using modified PET imaging, which measured both glucose consumption and oxygen utilization, revealed a strong correlation between the spatial distribution of elevated aerobic glycolysis and A β plaques in brain tissue from patients with both AD, as well as normal individuals with high levels of Aβ-deposition but without clinical manifestation of the disease (Vlassenko et al., 2010). Additionally, the spatial distribution of $A\beta$ deposition and increased aerobic glycolysis closely mirrors areas of high aerobic glycolysis in the normal healthy brain (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). These findings suggest that areas of the brain most susceptible to insult in AD may exhibit a Warburg effect as a protective mechanism that can be further activated in the presence of high levels of $A\beta$. However, this hypothesis has never formally been evaluated.

Here we show that overexpresssion of LDHA or PDK1 in the B12 central nervous system cell line confers resistance to A β and other neurotoxins such as H₂O₂ and staurosporine. Increased survival in cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 is associated with decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, oxygen consumption and ROS production, yet these cells maintain the ability to produce sufficient ATP. Expression of PDK1 and LDHA is decreased in wildtype mouse primary cortical neurons exposed to A β and in cortical extracts from 12 month old of AD transgenic (APP/PS1) mice. Similarly, post-mortem cortical tissue from AD patients also revealed a decrease in PDK1 expression relative to control patient brain samples. These findings suggest that loss of the adaptive advantage afforded by aerobic glycolysis may exacerbate the pathophysiological processes associated with AD.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Materials

Cell culture reagents including: Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium (DMEM), penicillin/streptomycin, DMEM without phenol red and Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS) were purchased from Biowhittaker (Walkersville, MD, USA) (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Dialyzed fetal bovine serum (FBS) and horse serum (HS) were obtained from PAA Laboratories Inc. (Etobicoke, ON, Canada). OPTIMEM I, TrypLE Express, Neurobasal Medium, N₂ Supplement, B₂₇ Supplement.Glutamax-1 (100x) and Hanks Balanced Salts Solution were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Amyloid beta (AB) peptide (25-35) was purchased from California peptide research (San Francisco, CA, USA). Poly-Dlysine, Poly-L-Ornithine, puromycin, dihydrochloride, dimethyl formamide, 3-(4,5dimethlythiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) were all purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). DNase 1 and Trypsin Inhibitor were purchased from Roche (Laval, Quebec, Canada). G418 sulfate was purchased from Calbiochem (EMD Chemicals Inc., Darmstadt, Germany). Mitotracker Red CM-H2XRos, Tetramethyl Rhodamine Methyl Ester (TMRM), MitoSOX Red, 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCFDA) and the ATP determination kit were purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). MitoXpress-Xtra-HS was purchased from Luxcel Biosciences Ltd (Cork, Ireland).

3.2.2 Cell culture

The B12, rat central nervous system cell line was obtained from Dr. David Schubert (The Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA) and cultured as previously described (Behl et al., 1994; Sagara et al., 1996). The B12 central nervous system cells are an immortalized clonal cell line derived from a nitrosoethylurea induced brain tumor in rats (Schubert et al., 1974) and have been shown to be sensitive to A β toxicity. These cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, and 1% P/S in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂. For toxicity studies,

88

the A β peptide (25-35) was dissolved in deionized water at 1 mg/ml, left overnight at room temperature to promote fibril formation and subsequently stored at -20°C.

3.2.3 Derivation of PDK1 and LDHA overexpressing cell lines

For stable expression of PDK1 and LDHA, B12 cells were transfected with lipofectamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's directions. Cells were plated at a density to achieve 70-80% confluency and transfected with vectors containing human *PDK1* (pCMV6-AC) or *LDHA* (pCMV6-XL4) cDNA (Origene, Rockville, MD, USA). Additionally cells were transfected with an empty vector (pcDNA) as a negative control. Following selection in G418 (1 mg/ml) for two weeks approximately 10-12 clones were picked, expanded and screened by immunoblot analysis for high level expression of either PDK1 or LDHA.

3.2.4 Derivation of PDK1 and LDHA knockdown cell lines

For stable knockdown of PDK1 and LDHA, B12 cells were transfected with HuSH 29mer shRNA (Origene, Rockville, MD, USA) constructs directed at rat *Ldha* or *Pdk1* transcripts followed by selection with puromycin as previously described (Newington et al., 2011). The shRNA construct directed against *Ldha* was: 69-GCCGAGAGCATA-ATGAAGAACCTTAGGCG and the shRNA construct directed against *Pdk1* was: 29-AATCACCAGGACAGCCAATACAAGTGGTT. A non targeting shRNA construct (scrambled) in pRS plasmid was used as a negative control.

3.2.5 Immunoblot Analysis

B12 cells from subconfluent cultures were washed twice in cold DPBS and harvested in a Tris extraction buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 2% SDS and 1 mM PMSF). Protein extracts were quantified by a Lowry assay, resolved by 12% SDS PAGE and electroblotted onto PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad Richmond, CA, USA) (Cumming et al., 2007). Membranes were probed with the following antibodies: polyclonal anti-LDHA (1:1000; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA), polyclonal anti-PDK1 (1:1000; Stressgen, San Diego, CA, USA) and a monoclonal anti- β actin (1:2000; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) followed by incubation with an appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). The blots were developed using Pierce ECL western blotting

substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) and visualized with a Bio-Rad Molecular Imager (ChemiDoc XRS, Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). Densitometric analysis was performed using Image J software. Band densities were standardized against β -actin, and the ratio of LDHA or PDK1-specific bands relative to the β -actin band was determined. Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/ β -actin or PDK1/ β -actin ratios of the transfected lines to the same ratio in the control cell line.

3.2.6 Cytotoxicity assay

A β , hydrogen peroxide and staurosporine induced cytotoxicity was assessed by a modified MTT assay (Behl et al., 1994; Hansen et al., 1989; Sagara et al., 1996). Cells were seeded (3x10³ cells/well) in a 96 well microtiter plate and A β_{25-35} was added to the test wells at a concentration of 20 μ M and incubated for 48 hours. To each well 10 μ l of MTT (2.5 mg/ml dissolved in DPBS) was added and, following a 4 hour incubation, 100 μ l of solubilisation solution (20% SDS in 50% dimethyl formamide pH 4.8) was added to each well. The plates were rocked at room temperature overnight then read on a microplate reader (BioRad Model 3550) using 595 nm as the test wavelength and 655 nm as the reference wavelength. The percent viability was calculated from the mean absorbance of the treated cells divided by the mean absorbance of the control cells and multiplied by 100%.

3.2.7 Oxygen Consumption

Oxygen consumption was monitored using the fluorescent oxygen probe MitoXpress-Xtra-HS. B12 cells (1.25×10^5) were seeded on 60 mm dishes. The following day A $\beta_{25.35}$ (20 μ M) was added to the treatment dishes and cells were incubated for 48 hr. Cells were trypsinized, centrifuged, and resuspended at an appropriate density prior to the assay. Cells (2×10^5) were transferred to a 96 well plate and incubated with the MitoXpress oxygen probe according to the manufacturer's instructions (Luxcel Biosciences Ltd.). Oxygen consumption was monitored as a function of fluorescence (ex/em 380/650 nm) every 2 min over a 6 hr period on a time-resolved fluorescence microplate reader (Tecan, Infinite M1000). Data were analyzed using the program Mathematica as previously described (Hynes et al., 2012). Oxygen concentration in μ M was calculated by the following formula, where X is the normalized fold change in fluorescence over the initial reading, t is time, S is the maximum
fluorescence in media containing no oxygen and 235 μM is the concentration of oxygen gas in fully saturated water at 30 °C:

$$[0_2](t) = \frac{235(S-X)}{X(S-1)}$$

Linear regression over a span of 100 minutes was performed to determine the rate of oxygen consumption for each clone. Oxygen consumption rates were later standardized to cell number.

3.2.8 ATP levels

Cellular ATP was measured in B12 cells using a bioluminescence ATP determination kit. Approximately 7.5×10^4 cells were plated in 35 mm dishes and the following day were treated with A β_{25-35} (20 μ M) for a further 48 hrs. Cells were harvested in a Tris extraction buffer (20 mM Tris pH 7.8, 2 mM EDTA, 0.5% NP40 and 25 mM NaCl). One microgram of protein sample was loaded in each well of a 96 well plate. The luciferin and luciferase buffer were prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions (Molecular Probes) and 100 μ l was injected into each well. Luminescence was integrated over 10 sec using a TECAN Infinite M1000 microplate reader. ATP contents were calculated by comparing the luminescence, using an ATP standard curve.

3.2.9 Fluorescence microscopy

Mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \psi_m$) was visualized by the fluorescent dye tetramethylrhodamine methyl-ester (TMRM) (Bonnet et al., 2007). B12 cells were seeded between 1×10^5 and 2×10^5 cells on 30 mm plastic tissue culture dishes pretreated with polylysine and incubated overnight. The following day, cells were treated with 20 μ M A β_{25-35} for 48 hr. Following treatment with A β , the media was aspirated and new media was added containing TMRM at a concentration of 200 nM. Plates were then incubated at 37°C for 20 min, washed in DPBS containing Hoechst stain (10 μ g/ml), followed by an additional wash in DPBS and then placed in phenol red free DMEM. For treatment with H₂O₂ or staurosporine, cells were first stained using the above protocol. Following staining cells were treated with either H₂O₂ (200 μ M) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for 15 min before visualization. Cells were visualized by fluorescence microscopy (Zeiss-AxioObserver, 40X objective) and pictures were taken using a Q Imaging (Retiga 1300 monochrome 10-bit) camera with Q Capture software. Pictures were taken of three random fields of view for each experiment. TMRM fluorescence was quantified with ImageJ software.

Mitochondrial ROS was visualized by the fluorescent dye Mitotracker Red CM-H2XRos (MTR). B12 cells were plated seeded between 1 and $2x10^5$ cells on 30 mm plastic tissue culture dishes pretreated with polylysine and incubated overnight. The following day cells were treated with 20 μ M A β_{25-35} for 48 hr. Following treatment with A β , the media was aspirated and new media was added containing MTR at a concentration of 100 nM. Plates were then incubated at 37°C for 20 min, washed in DPBS containing Hoechst stain, followed by an additional wash in DPBS and then placed in phenol red free DMEM. For treatment with H_2O_2 or staurosporine cells were first treated with either H_2O_2 (200 μ M) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for 30 min before visualization and then stained and visualized as described above. MTR fluorescence was quantified with ImageJ software. Mitochondrial derived superoxide was also visualized using the fluorescent dye MitoSOX Red mitochondrial superoxide indicator. Glass bottom dishes were pretreated with polylysine and cells were plated and treated as described above. Cells were stained with MitoSOX at 5 μ M and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. Plates were then washed in DPBS containing Hoechst stain $(10 \ \mu g/ml)$ and then placed in phenol red free DMEM. Cells were visualized by fluorescence microscopy (Zeiss-AxioObserver, 100X objective) and fluorescence was quantified as described above.

Overall cellular ROS was visualized by the fluorescent dye 5-(and-6)-chloromethyl-2',7'dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (CM-H₂DCFDA). Cells were plated and treated as described above. Cells were stained with CM-H₂DCFDA at 2.5 μ M and incubated at 37°C for 15 min. Plates were then washed once in DPBS then visualized as described above. H₂DCFDA fluorescence was quantified with ImageJ software.

For time lapse microscopy B12 cells were seeded at $2x10^5$ cells in a 6 well Chamlide TC stage chamber (Live Cell Instruments, Nowan-gu, Seoul, Korea) pretreated with polylysine (50 µg/ml) and incubated overnight at 37°C in a tissue culture incubator. The following day cells were stained with TMRM as described above. Following staining the stage chamber was assembled onto the automated stage of a DMI6000 B inverted microscope (Leica

Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) heated to 37° C and perfused with 5% CO₂ using an FC-5 CO₂/Air gas mixer (Live Cell Instrument, Nowan-gu, Seoul, Korea). Cells were treated with H₂O₂ (200 µM) and time lapse DIC and fluorescent images of cells were automatically captured from three independent fields of each well every 10 minutes over 4 hrs using a C10600 Hamamatsu Digital Camera (Meyer Instruments, Houston, TX, USA) equipped with Metamorph Software. The DIC and fluorescent images were overlaid and a time lapse video was generated using Image J software.

3.2.10 Primary nerve cell cultures

Primary cortical neurons were prepared from mouse embryonic day 14-17 as previously described (Ribeiro et al., 2005). Cells were seeded at a density of 1.6×10^6 cells per dish and cultured in Neurobasal Media containing 2 mM glutamine, 50 units/mL P/S and N2/B27 supplements and incubated for 48 hr (Ribeiro et al., 2005). The media was changed 48 hr post plating. At this time cells were treated with 10 μ M A β_{25-35} . Cells were harvested in 2% SDS buffer as described above, at 4, 8, 12, 16, 24, 36 and 48 hr post A β treatment. PDK1 and LDHA were visualized by Western blot analysis as described above and protein quantification was performed using Image J software.

3.2.11 Mouse and Human Tissue

APP/PS1 (APPswe,PSEN1dE9) double transgenic mice cortical brain tissues were generously provided by Dr. David Schubert (The Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA). Twelve month old tg-AD mice and age matched controls were perfused with saline and protease inhibitor cocktail, and brain regions were snap frozen and stored at -80°C. Frozen tissue samples were partially thawed and ~100 mg pieces were removed and minced in a 5X weight/volume extraction buffer containing 50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 2% SDS and protease inhibitor cocktail (Cumming et al., 2007; Soucek et al., 2003). Following sonication and centrifugation supernatants were collected and protein extracts were quantified using the Lowry assay. Protein extracts (15 μ g) from the frontal cortex were analyzed by immunoblot analysis as described above.

Autopsied brain samples were obtained from Drs. Carol Miller and Jenny Tang at the Alzheimer's disease Research Center (University of Southern California School of Medicine,

Los Angeles, CA). All tissue samples were extracted from the same area of the mid-frontal cortex and immediately quick frozen after removal. All AD and control cases were matched pairwise for age, sex and in most cases post-mortem interval (PMI). All AD patients had a clinical history of dementia and a plaque density (plaques per field, PPF) in the low to moderate range according to The Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease criterion (1=sparse,1-5 PPF; 3=moderate, 6-20 PPF; 5=frequent, 21-30 PPF or above). Patient details are summarized in Table 1. Frozen tissue samples were partially thawed and ~100 mg pieces were removed and minced in a 5X weight/volume extraction buffer containing 50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 2% SDS and protease inhibitor cocktail (Cumming et al., 2007; Soucek et al., 2003). Following sonication and centrifugation supernatants were collected and protein extracts were quantified using the Lowry assay. Protein extracts (15 µg) were analyzed by immunoblot analysis as described above.

3.2.12 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as means \pm SD resulting from a least three independent experiments. Data were analyzed statistically using either a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test, a one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett test or a T-test (VassarStats). Results were considered statistically significant at P<0.05.

Patient	Diagnosis	Age	Sex	PMI ^a	PPF
C1	Normal	94	Female	4.5	0
A1	AD	95	Female	4.5	3
C2	Normal	87	Female	6	0
A2	AD	86	Female	6	1
C3	Normal	88	Male	2	0
A3	AD	85	Male	4.5	1
C4	Normal	69	Male	8	0
A4	AD	75	Male	2	5
C5	Normal	91	Female	NA ^b	0
A5	AD	90	Female	4.5	5
C6	Normal	92	Female	7	0
A6	AD	90	Female	7.5	3
C7	Normal	80	Male	12	0
A7	AD	77	Male	3	5

Table 1. Control and AD patient details

^aPMI, Post mortem interval

^bNA, Not available

PPF, plaques per field

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 confers resistance to $A\beta$, H_2O_2 and staurosporine toxicity

LDHA and PDK1 are key enzymes that mediate the Warburg effect in cancer cells (Bonnet et al., 2007; Fantin et al., 2006; Le et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2010). Previous studies have shown that increased PDK1 expression, LDHA activity and lactate production are common features of A β -resistant cells (Newington et al., 2011). Therefore we sought to determine if overexpression of either LDHA or PDK1 in B12 A β -sensitive cells could confer resistance to A β toxicity. Western blot analysis of B12 cells transfected with vectors containing human *LDHA* or *PDK1* cDNAs revealed elevated constitutive expression of LDHA or PDK1 compared to cells transfected with the control plasmid (pcDNA) (Figure 3.1 A and B). B12 cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 exhibited a significant increase in cell viability following 48 hr exposure to A β (20 µM) when compared to control cells (P<0.01, Figure 3.1C).

Clonal nerve cell lines selected for resistance to $A\beta$ toxicity have been shown to exhibit increased resistance to a wide array of neurotoxins (Dargusch and Schubert, 2002; Sagara et al., 1996). We were therefore interested to see if overexpression of either LDHA or PDK1 conferred resistance to other stressors. The sensitivity of LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells to H₂O₂, staurosporine and a variety of mitochondrial inhibitors (rotenone, antimycin and oligomycin) were examined. Interestingly, none of the overexpressing lines were more resistant to any of the mitochondrial inhibitors (data not shown). However, all LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cell lines showed an increased resistance to H₂O₂ (200 μ M) and staurosporine (200 ng/ml) (P<0.01, Figure 3.1 D and E). Therefore, the overexpression of either LDHA or PDK1 confers resistance to H₂O₂ and staurosporine but not to neurotoxins that specifically disrupt the mitochondrial electron transport chain (ETC).

Figure 3.1 Overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 increases resistance to $A\beta$ and other toxins in B12 sensitive cells. (A) Immunoblot analysis of B12 Aβ-sensitive cells stably transfected with either pcDNA (empty vector) or a vector containing human LDHA cDNA revealed two clonal cell lines (clones 3 and 7) with markedly increased LDHA protein levels (*P<0.01). (B) Immunoblot analysis of extracts from two clonal cell lines (clones 6 and 7) stably transfected with a *PDK1* expression vector confirmed a significant increase in PDK1 protein expression compared to the control cell line (**P<0.05). An additional 30 kDa PDK1 band was also elevated in *PDK1* transfected cells and likely represents a cleavage product. Densitometric analyses of LDHA and PDK1 band intensities relative to actin are indicated below each blot. Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/actin or PDK1/actin ratio of the overexpressing lines to the same ratio in the control (pcNDA) cell line. Cell viability of clonal lines overexpressing either LDHA or PDK1 were significantly increased following exposure to either A β (20 μ M) for 48 hrs (C), H₂O₂ (200 μ M) for 24 hrs (D), or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for 24 hrs (E) compared with the control cell line (* P<0.01). Data are presented as means \pm SD resulting from 3 independent experiments. Data were analyzed a one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett's test.

в





pcDNA LDHA 3 LDHA 7

LDHA ______





3.3.2 Attenuated LDHA and PDK1 re-sensitizes cells to Aβ, H₂O₂ and staurosporine toxicity

Although we have previously shown that attenuation of LDHA and PDK1 in PC12 and B12 reversed A β toxicity in these cells, we sought to determine if specific inhibition of LDHA and PDK1 expression by shRNA–mediated knockdown could also render B12 parental cells more sensitive to A β (Newington et al., 2011). Immunoblot analysis confirmed B12 cell lines stably transfected with shRNA directed at rat *Ldha* or *Pdk1* transcripts exhibited decreased expression of the targeted mRNAs compared to cells transfected with a control shRNA containing a non-specific/scrambled (SCR) sequence (Figure 3.2). Knockdown of either *Ldha* or *Pdk1* in the B12 cells resulted in a significant decrease in cell viability, following 48 hr exposure to A β or 24 hr exposure to H₂O₂ or staurosporine when compared to the control (Figure 3.2 C, D and E, P<0.01). Thus attenuation of LDHA or PDK1 appears to further sensitize B12 cells to a variety of neurotoxins.

99

Figure 3.2 Attenuated LDHA and PDK1 expression increases sensitivity to AB and other neurotoxins. (A) Western blot analysis of B12 cells stably transfected with an LDHAspecific shRNA vector confirmed one clonal cell line (LDHA69) which exhibited a significant decrease in LDHA when compared to a B12 cell line transfected with a nonspecific shRNA (SCR) (*P<0.01). (B) Immunoblot analysis also confirmed significantly decreased PDK1 expression in one clonal cell line stably expressing an shRNA vector directed at PDK1 (PDK29) when compared to control (SCR) (*P<0.01). (C) B12 cell lines with attenuated expression of either LDHA or PDK1 displayed a significant decrease in cell viability when treated with A β (20 μ M) for 48 hr (*P<0.01) (**D**) Similarly cells with decreased LDHA or PDK1 had significantly decreased cell viability following 24 hr treatment with H₂O₂ or (E) staurosporine (200 ng/ml) (*P<0.01). Densitometric analysis of LDHA and PDK1 band densities relative to actin are found below the corresponding blot. Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/actin or PDK1/actin ratio of the knockdown lines to the same ratio in the scrambled shRNA cell line. Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-tailed T test (A and B) or by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Dunnett test (C-E).



3.3.3 Decreased mitochondrial membrane potential in LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells

The transfer of electrons through the ETC in the inner mitochondrial membrane provides the energy to drive H⁺ against their concentration gradient into the intermembrane space. The resulting increase in H⁺ outside the membrane creates a negative mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \psi_m$). The stored energy of the $\Delta \psi_m$ and the flow of H⁺ back into the mitochondria are used to synthesize ATP through the F_1/F_0 ATP-synthase, thus a decrease in mitochondrial membrane potential is indicative of decreased electron transport and OXOPHOS activity (Bonnet et al., 2007). Both elevated PDK1 and LDHA expression have been tied to reduced mitochondrial OXOPHOS activity, therefore we sought to determine if overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 could result in decreased $\Delta \psi_m$ following treatment with A β , H₂O₂, and staurosporine. Indeed, all overexpressing cell lines had significantly lower $\Delta \psi_m$ as measured by reduced TMRM fluorescence, compared to control cells expressing plasmid alone (Figure 3.3). When control cells were treated for 48 hr with A β (20 μ M) there was a significant increase in $\Delta \psi_m$ (P<0.001) whereas $\Delta \psi_m$ remained unaltered in both LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cell lines compared to untreated cells. Similar results were obtained when cells were treated with either H_2O_2 (200 μ M) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for 30 min; namely the control cells showed a significant increase in membrane potential (P<0.001) whereas all the LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cell lines maintained significantly $\Delta \psi_{\rm m}$. Timelapse microscopy revealed that control cells displayed increased $\Delta \psi_m$ or hyperpolarization, followed by rapid depolarization and cell death when exposed to H₂O₂ (200 μ M) (data not shown). In contrast, LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells showed decreased $\Delta \psi m$ under control conditions which was maintained when cells were exposed to H₂O₂ (200 µM). Furthermore, the majority of cells overexpressing either LDHA or PDK1 did not undergo mitochondrial membrane depolarization and subsequent cell death following treatment with H₂O₂. Taken together, overexpression of either LDHA or PDK1 results in decreased $\Delta \psi m$ which is maintained following exposure to a variety of stressors.

Figure 3.3 Decreased mitochondrial membrane potential in LDHA and PDK1 **overexpressing cells.** (A) Mitochondrial membrane potential $(\Delta \Psi_m)$ was measured in B12 cells following staining with the red fluorescing dye Tetramethyl Rhodamine Methyl Ester (TMRM). Both PDK1 and LDHA overexpressing B12 cell lines exhibited a significant reduction in $\Delta \psi_m$ under normal culture conditions or following exposure to A β (20 μ M), H_2O_2 (200 µM) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) when compared to the control cell line expressing the empty vector (pcDNA) under similar culture conditions (*P<0.001). Cells expressing the empty vector (pcDNA) showed a significant increase in $\Delta \psi_m$ following exposure to Aβ, H₂O₂ or staurosporine (*P<0.001). As a counterstain, nuclei were stained with Hoescht (Blue) and visualized by fluorescence microscopy at 400X magnification. (B) Quantification of TMRM fluorescence intensity revealed that $\Delta \psi_m$ was consistently lower in PDK1 and LDHA overexpressing cells in the absence (-) or presence (+) of the indicated stressor when compared to the pcDNA control cell line. Pictures were taken from 3 random fields of view for each treatment. Data are presented as means \pm SD resulting from a least three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



3.3.4 Overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 decreases oxygen consumption but maintains ATP levels in the presence of Aβ

The overexpression PDK1 or LDHA is believed to be sufficient to shift metabolism away from mitochondrial respiration towards increased lactate production (Bonnet et al., 2007; Fantin et al., 2006). Thus we sought to determine whether the overexpression of these enzymes in B12 cells would result in a reduction in oxygen (O₂) consumption, a measure of mitochondrial respiration. O₂ consumption was monitored in B12 cells stably overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 using MitoXpress-Xtra-HS, a fluorescent oxygen probe. Under control conditions all PDK1 and LDHA expressing clonal lines exhibited significantly decreased O₂ consumption compared to the pcDNA control (Figure 3.4 A, P<0.05). Interestingly, 48 hr A β_{25-35} (20 µM) treatment resulted in decreased O₂ consumption in the pcDNA control line but had little effect on the overexpressing clones (P<0.01).

Considering that mitochondrial respiration is a far more efficient way of producing energy compared to lactate production, we sought to determine if the observed decreased O_2 consumption affected the levels ATP in cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1. Intracellular ATP levels were measured in the B12 overexpressing cell lines cultured in the absence or presence of 20 μ M A β after 48 hours. Under control conditions all B12 cell lines had similar levels of ATP (Figure 3.4 D). However, A β treatment resulted in a 50% reduction in ATP levels in B12 control cells (pcDNA) (P<0.01). Interestingly all PDK1 and LDHA overexpressing clones maintained significantly higher levels of ATP production in the presence of A β compared to control cells under the same conditions (P<0.05). These results suggest that cells which are less dependent on mitochondrial respiration are also less sensitive to A β -induced alterations in glucose metabolism and are able to maintain ATP levels in the presence of A β .

Figure 3.4 Respiration is decreased but ATP levels are maintained in cells overexpressing LDHA and PDK1. (A) Oxygen consumption was monitored in B12 cell lines using the MitoXpress-Xtra HS fluorescent probe. All clonal cell lines overexpressing LDHA and PDK1 displayed significantly lower levels of oxygen consumption under control conditions compared with cells expressing an empty vector (pcDNA) (*P<0.01,**P<0.05). Oxygen consumption significantly decreased in pcDNA control cells following 48 hr treatment with A β_{25-35} (20 µM) compared to untreated conditions (*P<0.01). In contrast, cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 maintain or increase their oxygen consumption following 48 hr A β exposure. (B) A representative example of oxygen consumption over time for the indicated B12 cell lines. (C) A representative example of oxygen consumption over time following 48 hr A β_{25-35} (20 μ M) treatment. (**D**) Cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 had similar levels of ATP when compared to control cells under normal culture conditions. Cells expressing empty vector had significantly lower levels of ATP following exposure to AB (*P<0.05) whereas LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells maintained significantly higher ATP levels than the control following treatment with A β (*P<0.01). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



3.3.5 Attenuated mitochondrial and cellular ROS in LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing B12 cells

Reduced mitochondrial ROS is associated with the Warburg effect and was previously observed in A β resistant cells with innately high PDK1 and LDHA activity (Bonnet et al., 2007; Michelakis et al., 2010; Newington et al., 2011). Therefore, we sought to determine if overexpression of either PDK1 or LDHA in A β -sensitive cells could reduce mitochondrial ROS when exposed to $A\beta$ or other stressors. We examined mitochondrial ROS in control and LDHA or PDK1 overexpressing cells using Mitotracker Red CM-H2XRos (MTR); a mitochondrial specific dye that fluoresces when oxidized by ROS (Bonnet et al., 2007). Under control conditions, all LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells showed significantly less mitochondrial ROS, as measured by mean MTR fluorescence, when compared to the control cells expressing an empty vector (Figure 3.5 A and B, P<0.001). Moreover, LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cell lines exhibited significantly lower levels of mitochondrial ROS when treated with A β (20 μ M) for 48 hours compared to the vector control cells (P<0.001). In contrast, the parental cells expressing vector alone showed a significant increase in mitochondrial ROS following exposure to A β (P<0.001). Similarly, LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells generated significantly less mitochondrial ROS when exposed to either H_2O_2 or staurosporine for 30 minutes compared to vector control cells treated in the same manner (P<0.001). Similar results were obtained using MitoSOX; a mitochondrial specific superoxide indicator (Figure 3.5 C and D). Thus overexpression of either LDHA or PDK1 results in a significant reduction in mitochondrial ROS which is maintained following toxin exposure.

Intracellular ROS levels have been previously shown to increase when cells are treated with stressors such as A β (Behl et al., 1994; Butterfield et al., 2007). We therefore sought to examine if the cellular levels of ROS were altered in B12 cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1. We used the live cell fluorescent ROS indicator CM-H₂DCFDA to determine the overall levels of ROS. Under control conditions cells overexpressing either LDHA or PDK1 showed significantly decreased basal levels of ROS when compared to the parental cell expressing the empty vector (Figure 3.6 P<0.001). Interestingly, significantly lower levels of ROS were maintained in these cells when exposed to A β , H₂O₂ or staurosporine (Figure 3.6, P<0.001). In contrast B12 cell expressing empty vector alone exhibited a significant increase

cellular ROS following 48 hr exposure to A β (P<0.01) or when treated with either H₂O₂ or staurosporine for 24 hr (Figure 3.6, P<0.001). Thus cells overexpressing either LDHA or PDK1 exhibit lower levels of both mitochondrial and cellular ROS when compared to control cells which likely contributes to their broad resistance to oxidant promoting neurotoxins.

3.3.6 Decreased LDHA and PDK1 expression in primary nerve cells following exposure to Aβ

Expression of both PDK1 and LDHA in wild type mouse primary cortical nerve cell cultures was examined following A β exposure over a 48 hr period (Figure 3.7). A significant decrease in the expression of both these proteins was observed by 48 hrs following exposure to A β when compared to untreated cells harvested at the same time points (P<0.01). Decreased PDK1 and LDHA expression was unlikely due to loss of cells because minimal cell death was observed up to 48 hrs (data not shown). Therefore it appears A β exposure inhibits expression of Warburg effect enzymes in primary neurons.

3.3.7 Decreased LDHA and PDK1 expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice at 12 months

The APPswe/PS1dE9 double transgenic mouse strain (tg-AD) exhibits pronounced amyloid plaque accumulation and memory deficits at 12 months of age compared to age matched controls (Cardoso et al., 2001; Dineley et al., 2002). Based on the neuroprotective properties of PDK1 and LDHA in culture, we sought to determine if the levels of both enzymes were altered in cortical extracts from tg-AD mice relative to non-tg littermate controls. Immunoblot analysis (Figure 3.8) revealed a significant reduction in overall levels of LDHA and PDK1 in tg-AD mice compared to controls (P<0.001).

3.3.8 Decreased PDK1 expression in human AD cortical samples

Glycolytic activity and enzymes involved in glycolysis are upregulated in the AD brain (Soucek et al., 2003). We therefore examined the levels of LDHA and PDK1 in extracts from post-mortem control and AD frontal cortex tissue. We observed no significant difference in the overall protein levels of LDHA (data not shown). However, a significant decrease in PDK1 protein expression was detected in AD brain samples when compared to age matched controls (Figure 3.9, P<0.01).

Figure 3.5 Decreased mitochondrial ROS in LDHA and PDK 1 overexpressing cells. (A) Mitochondrial ROS production was measured in B12 cell lines following labeling with the red fluorescent dye MitoTracker-ROS Red (MTR). (B) Quantification of MTR fluorescent images revealed that B12 clonal cell lines overexpressing PDK1 or LDHA exhibited a significant reduction in mitochondrial ROS (red) compared to the parental cell line expressing the empty vector (pcDNA) under both normal culture conditions and following exposure to $A\beta_{25-35}$ (20 µM), H_2O_2 (200 µM) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for the indicated time periods (*P<0.001). Mitochondrial ROS significantly increased in parental cells expressing empty vector (pcDNA) when treated with $A\beta_{25-35}$, H_2O_2 or staurosporine (*P<0.001). (C) Mitochondrial derived superoxide was measured by staining cells with the fluorescent dye MitoSOX. All cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 displayed significantly decreased mitochondrial derived superoxide (red) when compared to the parental line (pcDNA) under control conditions or following exposure to $A\beta_{25-35}$ (20 μ M), H_2O_2 (200 μ M) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for the indicated time periods (*P<0.001). **(D)** Quantification of MitoSOX fluorescent images revealed that mitochondrial ROS levels significantly increased in the pcDNA control line when treated with A β , H₂O₂ and staurosporine (*P<0.001). Nuclei were stained with Hoescht (Blue) and cells were visualized by fluorescence microscopy at 400X magnification for MTR and at 1000X for MitoSOX. MTR and MitoSOX fluorescence were quantified with ImageJ software. Pictures were taken from 3 random fields of view for each treatment. Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.













Figure 3.6 Decreased cellular ROS in LDHA and PDK1 overexpressing cells. (A) Cellular ROS was measured in B12 cells by staining with the fluorescent dye 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCFDA). (B) Quantification of H₂DCFDA fluorescence revealed B12 clonal cell lines overexpressing PDK1 or LDHA exhibited a significant reduction in cellular ROS (green) compared to the parental cell line expressing the empty vector (pcDNA) under both normal culture conditions and following exposure to A β_{25} . (20 μ M), H₂O₂ (200 μ M) or staurosporine (200 ng/ml) for the indicated time periods (*P<0.001). B12 parental cells (pcDNA) exhibited a significant increase in H₂DCFDA fluorescence when treated with A β (P<0.01), H₂O₂ or staurosporine (*P<0.001). Cells were stained with H₂DCFDA (2.5 μ M) and fluorescent images were taken at 400X magnification and quantified with ImageJ software. Pictures were taken from 3 random fields of view for each treatment. Data represent the mean ± SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.





3

**







Figure 3.7 A β exposure inhibits expression of Warburg effect enzymes in mouse primary cortical neurons. (A) Primary cortical nerve cell cultures were exposed to A β_{25-35} (10 μ M) and harvested at the indicated time points over a 48 hour period. Western blot analysis revealed that both PDK1 and LDHA expression decreased in cortical neurons exposed to A β compared to untreated cells. Densitometric analyses of PDK1 (B) and LDHA (C) band intensities relative to actin are indicated. A significant decrease in both PDK1 and LDHA expression in A β treated cells, relative to untreated cells, was observed at a number of time points (*P<0.01, **P<0.05, #P<0.001). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a two-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



В







LDHA



Figure 3.8 PDK1 and LDHA protein levels are decreased in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. (A) Immunoblot analysis of cortical extracts from 12 month-old mice revealed that PDK1 and LDHA protein levels were markedly decreased in APP/PS1 transgenic mice (tg-AD) mice when compared to non-transgenic littermate controls. (B) Densitometric analysis revealed significantly decreased PDK1 and LDHA expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice compared to littermate controls (*P<0.001). Data were analyzed by a one-tailed T-Test.





Control

*

APP/PS1

Relative Intensity

1 0.8 0.6 0.4 0.2 0





Figure 3.9 PDK1 is decreased in cortical extracts from AD patients. (A) Immunoblot analysis of post-mortem human cortical extracts revealed decreased PDK1 levels in human AD brain samples (A1-A7) when compared to the age and sex matched controls (C1-C7), individual densitometric values are shown below. (B) Average densitometric values of the above blot revealed a significant decrease in PDK1 expression in AD patients compared to controls (*P<0.01). (C) Densitometric analysis revealed there was a significant difference in PDK1 expression in female AD patients and male AD patients when compared to controls (*P<0.01; **P<0.05). Data were analyzed by a one-tailed T-Test or a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Mitochondrial membrane potential, ROS production and Aβ sensitivity

Mitochondrial dysfunction is a hallmark of AD, and is thought to be central to A β toxicity. ROS can be produced by the leakage of electrons from the mitochondrial ETC which results in the partial reduction of molecular oxygen and the subsequent generation of superoxide radicals (O_2) . Chronic increases in ROS production, as seen in AD, can lead to the oxidation and damage of macromolecules such as proteins, lipids and nucleic acids and is strongly associated with the induction of apoptosis. Interestingly, cells depleted of mitochondrial DNA lacking critical subunits of the respiratory chain are not sensitive to the toxic effects of A β suggesting that A β relies on a functional mitochondrial respiratory chain in order to elicit toxicity (Cardoso et al., 2001). Aβ has been shown to accumulate within the mitochondria of AD patients and transgenic mice (Caspersen et al., 2005; Fernandez-Vizarra et al., 2004; Lustbader et al., 2004; Manczak et al., 2006). The direct binding A β to the mitochondrial protein alcohol dehydrogenase (ABAD) promotes leakage of electrons, mitochondrial dysfunction, increased ROS production and ultimately cell death (Lustbader et al., 2004). However, overexpression of the mitochondrial antioxidant enzyme manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) in tg-AD mice improved resistance to AB and attenuated the AD phenotype, suggesting that mitochondrial toxicity is central to A β induced cell death (Dumont et al., 2009). Here we show that overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 in nerve cells results in both decreased $\Delta \psi_m$ and O₂ consumption which is associated with reduced mitochondrial ROS production and attenuated cell death following exposure to various toxins including A β . Interestingly, the reduction in mitochondrial respiration does not appear to negatively affect ATP levels in cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1. These cells are likely able to maintain high levels of cellular ATP through increased flux through the glycolytic pathway, similar to A β resistant cells (Soucek et al., 2003). We propose that decreased ETC activity and ROS production associated with LDHA and PDK1 expression is central to conferring protection against A β and other toxins. This is further supported by the observation that knockdown of either LDHA or PDK1 in B12 cells further potentiated sensitivity to $A\beta$ and other neurotoxins. Moreover, genetic silencing of either LDHA or

PDK1 in A β -resistant cells resulted in re-sensitization to A β toxicity, suggesting that these enzymes play an important role in protecting cells against A β toxicity (Newington et al., 2011).

3.4.2 Protective role of LDHA and PDK1

Elevated LDHA and PDK1 expression may confer resistance to A β , H₂O₂ and staurosporine by a variety of mechanisms. Although A β is known to trigger an increase in H₂O₂ production resulting in free radical damage and cell death, H_2O_2 accumulation is not observed in AB resistant cells (Sagara et al., 1996). Moreover, cells selected for resistance against A β toxicity are also resistant to exogenously applied H₂O₂ and neurotoxins known to induce oxidative stress, suggesting that A β and H₂O₂ promote cell death by a similar mechanism (Dargusch and Schubert, 2002; Sagara et al., 1996). Additionally, the observation that pre-treatment of CNS primary cultures or PC12 and B12 cells with catalase, an antioxidant that detoxifies H_2O_2 , results in protection against A β -induced cell death further suggests that H_2O_2 mediates A β toxicity (Behl et al., 1994). H_2O_2 treatment has been shown to induce transient $\Delta \psi_m$ hyperpolarization and a subsequent delayed burst of endogenous ROS in mouse primary neurons and human neuroblastoma cells. Furthermore, chemical inhibition of mitochondrial hyperpolarization was shown to protect neuronal cells from oxidative stress-induced cell death (Qin et al., 2011). In this study, PDK1 or LDHA overexpression also prevented the transient increase in $\Delta \psi_m$ following H₂O₂ exposure.

Interestingly, overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 also resulted in increased resistance to staurosporine, an apoptosis inducing agent that was initially believed to promote toxicity in a ROS-independent manner (Ruegg and Burgess, 1989). Staurosporine has been well characterized as a potent inducer of apoptosis through inhibition of protein kinases (Herbert et al., 1990; Ruegg and Burgess, 1989). However, several studies have shown that staurosporine-induced apoptosis in neurons is partly dependent on mitochondrial derived ROS (Kruman et al., 1998; Morais Cardoso et al., 2002; Pong et al., 2001). Given that oxidative stress is tightly associated with $A\beta$ and H_2O_2 induced cell death, overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 is likely to protect cells by reducing mitochondrial ETC activity and associated ROS production.

In this study we observed decreased $\Delta \psi_m$ and O₂ consumption in cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 compared to control cells which was maintained following toxin exposure. In contrast, control cells underwent a sharp increase in $\Delta \psi_m$ followed by rapid depolarization and cell death in the presence of all toxins. A positive $\Delta \psi_m$ is created by the ETC which transfers protons (H^{+}) into the intermembrane space. The resulting electrochemical gradient is subsequently used to synthesize ATP. Thus if ETC activity is low, in the case of reduced mitochondrial respiration, then $\Delta \psi_m$ would also be low. Loss of $\Delta \psi_m$ altogether mediates the release of proapoptotic factors through the mitochondrial transition pore. In cells overexpressing PDK1, the observed decrease in $\Delta \psi_m$ and O₂ consumption is likely reflective of a decrease in ETC activity as a result of PDH inhibition (McFate et al., 2008). PDK1mediated inhibition of PDH results in decreased entry of pyruvate into the TCA cycle and a subsequent decrease in the production of the electron donors NADH and FADH₂ necessary for ETC activity. In LDHA overexpressing cells, LDHA competes with the mitochondrial NADH/NAD⁺ shuttle systems to regenerate NAD⁺ (Golshani-Hebroni and Bessman, 1997). Therefore, the overexpression of LDHA or PDK1 likely limits the availability of both pyruvate and NADH in the mitochondria thereby decreasing respiration and $\Delta \psi_m$ (Fantin et al., 2006).

Previous studies revealed that more ROS is generated at higher mitochondrial membrane potentials, with dramatic increases in ROS being produced when mitochondrial membranes reach potentials of 140 mV or more (Korshunov et al., 1997). Conversely a small decrease (10mV) in $\Delta \psi_m$ significantly attenuates ROS production (up to 70%) via complex I of the ETC, suggesting that moderate attenuation of membrane potential can result in significant changes in the oxidative potential of the cell (Miwa and Brand, 2003). Interestingly we observed that cells overexpressing LDHA or PDK1 exhibited decreased mitochondrial membrane potentials with or without exposure to toxins, which likely contributed to their resistance through the associated decrease in mitochondrial ROS. Moreover, the observed hyperpolarization prior to depolarization and cell death in H₂O₂ exposed control cells was likely associated with a burst in ROS production. Collectively, our findings suggest that cells exhibiting a lower $\Delta \psi_m$ and decreased mitochondrial ROS production under basal conditions may have a unique advantage over cells exhibiting higher $\Delta \psi_m$ when faced with a toxic stressor such as A β .

3.4.3 Glucose metabolism in the AD brain

Recent [¹⁸F]-FDG PET imaging studies in tg-AD (APP_{SweLon}/PS1_{M146L}) mice revealed a dynamic picture of glucose utilization within the brain (Poisnel et al., 2011). In 3, 6 and 12 month old tg-AD mice, it was found that there was an age-dependent increase in glucose uptake in the cortex, hippocampus and striatum; areas associated with high plaque accumulation (Poisnel et al., 2011). However, this study did not discern what proportion of glucose was processed by aerobic glycolysis versus mitochondrial respiration. Here we looked at 12 month old APP/PS1 mice and observed a decrease in both LDHA and PDK1 expression in the frontal cortex when compared to age matched controls. Thus, it is possible that at early stages of pathogenesis in tg-AD mice, nerve cells exploit the Warburg effect and increase glucose uptake to protect against A β toxicity. However, if LDHA and PDK1 expression decreases in older mice then more glycoltyic flux would be processed through the mitochondria leading to increased ROS production, elevated apoptosis and ultimately cognitive impairment. A more intensive longitudinal study of the Warburg effect in AD mice is necessary to offer more insight into the metabolic state of affected neurons.

Interestingly, a study measuring the regional distribution of aerobic glycolysis in the human brain revealed that areas most susceptible to amyloid toxicity exhibit high aerobic glycolysis (Vlassenko et al., 2010). In the developing nervous system, aerobic glycolysis is believed to account for 90% of glucose consumed (Powers et al., 1998). During childhood this fraction accounts for 35% of glucose utilization and finally drops to 10-12% in the adult brain (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). PET studies of cognitively normal individuals have shown an ageassociated decrease in FDG uptake in regions of the brain frequently affected in AD, although these studies did not determine what proportion of glucose was processed by aerobic glycolysis versus oxidative phosphorylation (Cunnane et al., 2011). However, a recent neuroimaging study revealed a strong correlation between the spatial distribution of $A\beta$ deposition and aerobic glycolysis in both cognitively normal individuals and AD patients (Vlassenko et al., 2010). Thus, aerobic glycolysis may be elevated in areas of the brain most susceptible to insult as a pre-emptive protective mechanism or in response to $A\beta$ accumulation during aging (Figure 3.10). Loss of this protective mechanism may render certain areas of the brain susceptible to $A\beta$ -induced neurotoxicity. Figure 3.10 Proposed model describing the relationship between aerobic glycolysis and **AD.** In the normal young adult brain aerobic glycolysis (the Warburg effect) is elevated in regions known to be susceptible to $A\beta$ deposition. Aerobic glycolysis is maintained, in part, by increased lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1) LDHA converts pyruvate to lactate with the concomitant regeneration of expression. nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) which is necessary to sustain glycolysis. PDK1 phosphorylates and inhibits pyruvate dehydrogenase resulting in decreased oxidative phosphorylation (OXOPHOS), mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \psi_m$) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production. The age-associated increase in Aβ deposition and concomitant decrease in aerobic glycolysis may render certain populations of neurons vulnerable to $A\beta$ toxicity in the elderly. In cognitively normal individuals, gradual $A\beta$ deposition triggers increased expression of LDHA and PDK1 resulting in elevated aerobic glycolysis, lowered $\Delta \psi_{\rm m}$ and diminished ROS. As a result of increased aerobic glycolysis nerve cells become resistant to A^β toxicity. In individuals who develop Alzheimer's disease the inability to either activate or maintain aerobic glycolysis renders nerve cells more susceptible to Aβmediated mitochondrial dysfunction and increased ROS production leading to synaptic loss and ultimately widespread nerve cell death.


This study examined AD post mortem tissue and observed a decrease in PDK1 expression in the frontal cortex. Decreased PDK1 expression, may contribute to loss of aerobic glycolysis in brain areas with A β deposition which, in turn, may trigger an increase in mitochondrial respiration, ROS production and nerve cell death. A recent study showed that inhibition of respiratory complexes in a cell culture model leads to an increase in both ROS and A β production, further potentiating toxicity (Leuner et al., 2012). Similarly, AD mice treated with a complex I inhibitor also exhibit an increase in A β levels (Leuner et al., 2012). In both models, ROS-dependent accumulation of A β was reduced by treatment with antioxidants. Therefore mitochondrial ROS production appears to be tightly associated with A β production *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Leuner et al., 2012). The decreased ROS production afforded by the Warburg effect may not only be intrinsically neuroprotective but may actually attenuate A β production in AD. In future studies it will be important to perform immunohistochemical analysis on brain tissues to determine the spatial relationship between PDK1 expression and A β deposition.

Although we propose that glucose is the main fuel source for $A\beta$ -resistant neurons, alternative substrates, such as lactate, may be also used to meet the energy demands of brain cells. The astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle theory postulates that glucose is predominately taken up by glia and metabolized glycolytically to lactate which is subsequently secreted and taken up by neurons (Aubert et al., 2005). In neurons, lactate is converted to pyruvate which enters the TCA cycle and drives oxidative phosphorylation. Preliminary studies have shown that addition of lactate to the culture media of either PC12 or B12 cells failed to alleviate $A\beta$ sensitivity (unpublished observations). Furthermore, exogenous lactate failed to rescue the elevated sensitivity of $A\beta$ -resistant PC12 and B12 clonal nerve cell lines to glucose deprivation (unpublished data). These findings suggest that exogenous lactate itself is unlikely to fuel the neuroprotective response associated with aerobic glycolysis.

3.5 Conclusions

PDK1 and LDHA appear to be central mediators of A β -resistance by altering mitochondrial activity which results in a decrease in both $\Delta \psi_m$ and mitochondrial ROS production. In addition, overexpression of either of these enzymes confers resistance to other stressors

including H_2O_2 and staurosporine. Overexpression of these key Warburg effect enzymes decreases mitochondrial respiration while maintaining ATP production which appears to contribute to the protective role of these proteins. Decreased expression of LDHA and PDK1 in mouse primary cortical neurons may also contribute to their sensitivity to A β . Likewise, decreased expression of both LDHA and PDK1 in 12 month old tg-AD (APP/PS1) mice suggests that loss of this neuroprotective mechanism may potentiate cognitive impairment. Loss of PDK1-mediated aerobic glycolysis in AD patients may hasten both memory loss and nerve cell death and could be used as a biomarker of disease progression. Moreover, identification of compounds that mimic or augment PDK1 activity may have clinical relevance for the treatment of AD.

3.6 References

Aubert, A., Costalat, R., Magistretti, P.J., and Pellerin, L. (2005). Brain lactate kinetics: Modeling evidence for neuronal lactate uptake upon activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 16448-16453.

Ballard, C., Gauthier, S., Corbett, A., Brayne, C., Aarsland, D., and Jones, E. (2011). Alzheimer's disease. Lancet *377*, 1019-1031.

Behl, C., Davis, J.B., Lesley, R., and Schubert, D. (1994). Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. Cell 77, 817-827.

Bonnet, S., Archer, S.L., Allalunis-Turner, J., Haromy, A., Beaulieu, C., Thompson, R., Lee, C.T., Lopaschuk, G.D., Puttagunta, L., Harry, G., *et al.* (2007). A mitochondria-K⁺ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. Cancer Cell *11*, 37-51.

Bouras, C., Hof, P.R., Giannakopoulos, P., Michel, J.P., and Morrison, J.H. (1994). Regional distribution of neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in the cerebral cortex of elderly patients: a quantitative evaluation of a one-year autopsy population from a geriatric hospital. Cereb Cortex *4*, 138-150.

Butterfield, D.A., Reed, T., Newman, S.F., and Sultana, R. (2007). Roles of amyloid betapeptide-associated oxidative stress and brain protein modifications in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. Free Radic Biol Med *43*, 658-677.

Cardoso, S.M., Santos, S., Swerdlow, R.H., and Oliveira, C.R. (2001). Functional mitochondria are required for amyloid beta-mediated neurotoxicity. Faseb J *15*, 1439-1441.

Caspersen, C., Wang, N., Yao, J., Sosunov, A., Chen, X., Lustbader, J.W., Xu, H.W., Stern, D., McKhann, G., and Yan, S.D. (2005). Mitochondrial Abeta: a potential focal point for neuronal metabolic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J *19*, 2040-2041.

Cumming, R.C., Dargusch, R., Fischer, W.H., and Schubert, D. (2007). Increase in expression levels and resistance to sulfhydryl oxidation of peroxiredoxin isoforms in amyloid beta-resistant nerve cells. J Biol Chem 282, 30523-30534.

Cunnane, S., Nugent, S., Roy, M., Courchesne-Loyer, A., Croteau, E., Tremblay, S., Castellano, A., Pifferi, F., Bocti, C., Paquet, N., *et al.* (2011). Brain fuel metabolism, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition *27*, 3-20.

Dargusch, R., and Schubert, D. (2002). Specificity of resistance to oxidative stress. J Neurochem *81*, 1394-1400.

Dineley, K.T., Xia, X., Bui, D., Sweatt, J.D., and Zheng, H. (2002). Accelerated plaque accumulation, associative learning deficits, and up-regulation of alpha 7 nicotinic receptor protein in transgenic mice co-expressing mutant human presenilin 1 and amyloid precursor proteins. J Biol Chem 277, 22768-22780.

Dumont, M., Wille, E., Stack, C., Calingasan, N.Y., Beal, M.F., and Lin, M.T. (2009). Reduction of oxidative stress, amyloid deposition, and memory deficit by manganese superoxide dismutase overexpression in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Faseb J *23*, 2459-2466.

Fantin, V.R., St-Pierre, J., and Leder, P. (2006). Attenuation of LDH-A expression uncovers a link between glycolysis, mitochondrial physiology, and tumor maintenance. Cancer Cell *9*, 425-434.

Fernandez-Vizarra, P., Fernandez, A.P., Castro-Blanco, S., Serrano, J., Bentura, M.L., Martinez-Murillo, R., Martinez, A., and Rodrigo, J. (2004). Intra- and extracellular Abeta and PHF in clinically evaluated cases of Alzheimer's disease. Histol Histopathol *19*, 823-844.

Golshani-Hebroni, S.G., and Bessman, S.P. (1997). Hexokinase binding to mitochondria: a basis for proliferative energy metabolism. J Bioenerg Biomembr 29, 331-338.

Hansen, M.B., Nielsen, S.E., and Berg, K. (1989). Re-examination and further development of a precise and rapid dye method for measuring cell growth/cell kill. J Immunol Methods *119*, 203-210.

Hardy, J.A., and Higgins, G.A. (1992). Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. Science 256, 184-185.

Herbert, J.M., Seban, E., and Maffrand, J.P. (1990). Characterization of specific binding sites for [3H]-staurosporine on various protein kinases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *171*, 189-195.

Hynes, J., Swiss, R.L., and Will, Y. (2012). High-throughput analysis of mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Methods Mol Biol *810*, 59-72.

Kim, J.W., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2006). HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Cell Metab *3*, 177-185.

Koppenol, W.H., Bounds, P.L., and Dang, C.V. (2011). Otto Warburg's contributions to current concepts of cancer metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer *11*, 325-337.

Korshunov, S.S., Skulachev, V.P., and Starkov, A.A. (1997). High protonic potential actuates a mechanism of production of reactive oxygen species in mitochondria. FEBS Lett *416*, 15-18.

Kruman, I., Guo, Q., and Mattson, M.P. (1998). Calcium and reactive oxygen species mediate staurosporine-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and apoptosis in PC12 cells. J Neurosci Res *51*, 293-308.

Le, A., Cooper, C.R., Gouw, A.M., Dinavahi, R., Maitra, A., Deck, L.M., Royer, R.E., Vander Jagt, D.L., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2010). Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 2037-2042.

Leuner, K., Schutt, T., Kurz, C., Eckert, S.H., Schiller, C., Occhipinti, A., Mai, S., Jendrach, M., Eckert, G.P., Kruse, S.E., *et al.* (2012). Mitochondria-derived ROS lead to enhanced amyloid beta formation. Antioxid Redox Signal *9*, 9.

Lu, H., Dalgard, C.L., Mohyeldin, A., McFate, T., Tait, A.S., and Verma, A. (2005). Reversible inactivation of HIF-1 prolyl hydroxylases allows cell metabolism to control basal HIF-1. J Biol Chem 280, 41928-41939.

Lu, H., Forbes, R.A., and Verma, A. (2002). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 activation by aerobic glycolysis implicates the Warburg effect in carcinogenesis. J Biol Chem 277, 23111-23115.

Lustbader, J.W., Cirilli, M., Lin, C., Xu, H.W., Takuma, K., Wang, N., Caspersen, C., Chen, X., Pollak, S., Chaney, M., *et al.* (2004). ABAD directly links Abeta to mitochondrial toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Science *304*, 448-452.

Manczak, M., Anekonda, T.S., Henson, E., Park, B.S., Quinn, J., and Reddy, P.H. (2006). Mitochondria are a direct site of A beta accumulation in Alzheimer's disease neurons: implications for free radical generation and oxidative damage in disease progression. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 1437-1449.

Markesbery, W.R. (1997). Oxidative stress hypothesis in Alzheimer's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 23, 134-147.

McFate, T., Mohyeldin, A., Lu, H., Thakar, J., Henriques, J., Halim, N.D., Wu, H., Schell, M.J., Tsang, T.M., Teahan, O., *et al.* (2008). Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity controls metabolic and malignant phenotype in cancer cells. J Biol Chem 283, 22700-22708.

Michelakis, E.D., Sutendra, G., Dromparis, P., Webster, L., Haromy, A., Niven, E., Maguire, C., Gammer, T.L., Mackey, J.R., Fulton, D., *et al.* (2010). Metabolic modulation of glioblastoma with dichloroacetate. Sci Transl Med *2*, 31ra34.

Miwa, S., and Brand, M.D. (2003). Mitochondrial matrix reactive oxygen species production is very sensitive to mild uncoupling. Biochem Soc Trans *31*, 1300-1301.

Morais Cardoso, S., Swerdlow, R.H., and Oliveira, C.R. (2002). Induction of cytochrome cmediated apoptosis by amyloid beta 25-35 requires functional mitochondria. Brain Res *931*, 117-125.

Mosconi, L. (2005). Brain glucose metabolism in the early and specific diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. FDG-PET studies in MCI and AD. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging *32*, 486-510.

Newington, J.T., Pitts, A., Chien, A., Arseneault, R., Schubert, D., and Cumming, R.C. (2011). Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cell lines is mediated by the Warburg effect. PLoS One *6*, e19191.

Papandreou, I., Cairns, R.A., Fontana, L., Lim, A.L., and Denko, N.C. (2006). HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell Metab *3*, 187-197.

Poisnel, G., Herard, A.S., El Tannir El Tayara, N., Bourrin, E., Volk, A., Kober, F., Delatour, B., Delzescaux, T., Debeir, T., Rooney, T., *et al.* (2011). Increased regional cerebral glucose uptake in an APP/PS1 model of Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging *11*, 11.

Pong, K., Doctrow, S.R., Huffman, K., Adinolfi, C.A., and Baudry, M. (2001). Attenuation of staurosporine-induced apoptosis, oxidative stress, and mitochondrial dysfunction by synthetic superoxide dismutase and catalase mimetics, in cultured cortical neurons. Exp Neurol *171*, 84-97.

Powers, W.J., Rosenbaum, J.L., Dence, C.S., Markham, J., and Videen, T.O. (1998). Cerebral glucose transport and metabolism in preterm human infants. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *18*, 632-638.

Price, J.L., and Morris, J.C. (1999). Tangles and plaques in nondemented aging and "preclinical" Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 45, 358-368.

Qin, G., Liu, J., Cao, B., Li, B., and Tian, S. (2011). Hydrogen peroxide acts on sensitive mitochondrial proteins to induce death of a fungal pathogen revealed by proteomic analysis. PLoS One *6*, e21945.

Ribeiro, F.M., Black, S.A., Cregan, S.P., Prado, V.F., Prado, M.A., Rylett, R.J., and Ferguson, S.S. (2005). Constitutive high-affinity choline transporter endocytosis is determined by a carboxyl-terminal tail dileucine motif. J Neurochem *94*, 86-96.

Ruegg, U.T., and Burgess, G.M. (1989). Staurosporine, K-252 and UCN-01: potent but nonspecific inhibitors of protein kinases. Trends Pharmacol Sci 10, 218-220.

Sagara, Y., Dargusch, R., Klier, F.G., Schubert, D., and Behl, C. (1996). Increased antioxidant enzyme activity in amyloid beta protein-resistant cells. J Neurosci *16*, 497-505.

Schubert, D., Heinemann, S., Carlisle, W., Tarikas, H., Kimes, B., Patrick, J., Steinbach, J.H., Culp, W., and Brandt, B.L. (1974). Clonal cell lines from the rat central nervous system. Nature 249, 224-227.

Selkoe, D.J. (1991). The molecular pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Neuron 6, 487-498.

Selkoe, D.J. (1998). The cell biology of beta-amyloid precursor protein and presenilin in Alzheimer's disease. Trends Cell Biol *8*, 447-453.

Selkoe, D.J. (2004). Alzheimer disease: mechanistic understanding predicts novel therapies. Ann Intern Med *140*, 627-638.

Semenza, G.L. (2010). HIF-1: upstream and downstream of cancer metabolism. Curr Opin Genet Dev 20, 51-56.

Semenza, G.L., Jiang, B.H., Leung, S.W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J.P., Maire, P., and Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem *271*, 32529-32537.

Soucek, T., Cumming, R., Dargusch, R., Maher, P., and Schubert, D. (2003). The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. Neuron *39*, 43-56.

Tillement, L., Lecanu, L., and Papadopoulos, V. (2011). Alzheimer's disease: effects of betaamyloid on mitochondria. Mitochondrion 11, 13-21.

Vaishnavi, S.N., Vlassenko, A.G., Rundle, M.M., Snyder, A.Z., Mintun, M.A., and Raichle, M.E. (2010). Regional aerobic glycolysis in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17757-17762.

Vlassenko, A.G., Vaishnavi, S.N., Couture, L., Sacco, D., Shannon, B.J., Mach, R.H., Morris, J.C., Raichle, M.E., and Mintun, M.A. (2010). Spatial correlation between brain aerobic glycolysis and amyloid-beta (Abeta) deposition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17763-17767.

Warburg, O. (1956). On the origin of cancer cells. Science 123, 309-314.

Zhou, M., Zhao, Y., Ding, Y., Liu, H., Liu, Z., Fodstad, O., Riker, A.I., Kamarajugadda, S., Lu, J., Owen, L.B., *et al.* (2010). Warburg effect in chemosensitivity: targeting lactate dehydrogenase-A re-sensitizes taxol-resistant cancer cells to taxol. Mol Cancer *9*, 33.

Chapter 4

4 Novel drugs protect against Aβ and glutamate toxicity in nerve cells and sustain the expression of Warburg effect enzymes

4.1 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is an irreversible neurodegenerative disease that results in progressive cognitive decline. AD is the most common form of dementia, with an estimated 500,000 Canadians currently suffering from the disease or related dementias (Honjo et al., 2012). With our aging population, the number of people living with AD is expected to more than double over the next 25 years making the treatment of AD a concern of global proportions (Honjo et al., 2012). At the cellular level AD is characterized by the accumulation of extracellular deposits of amyloid beta (A β) peptide, intracellular tangles composed of hyperphosphorylated tau protein and wide spread nerve cell loss (Selkoe, 2004). Despite over a century of research there is still no cure for the disease and treatment strategies remain limited. Moreover, except in rare familial cases of AD, the exact cause of sporadic forms of the disease remains unknown posing additional difficulty when searching for viable treatment options. To date, most drug development strategies in AD research have been based on a pathology-centered approach which focuses on the identification of a molecular target related to disease pathology and the development of a novel drug targeted at a single candidate molecule (Pangalos et al., 2007). However, AD is not likely to be caused by a single molecular target and drug development strategies that focus on multiple targets in a favored pathway or single targets in multiple pathways are likely to show more efficacy (Pangalos et al., 2007). Unfortunately, this drug development strategy has, to date, yielded few novel drugs for the treatment of AD (Pangalos et al., 2007). Recently, a research group at the Salk Institute in California took an innovative approach to drug discovery which led to the development of new neurotrophic drugs that hold promise for the treatment of AD (Chen et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2008).

Curcumin is a curcuminoid; a polyphenolic compound found in the ancient curry spice turmeric and has long been used in Indian traditional medicine to treat various ailments

(Chainani-Wu, 2003; Grynkiewicz and Slifirski, 2012). Interestingly, curcumin can protect PC12 cells, a rat pheochromocytoma derived cell line, against Aß induced toxicity and reduce oxidative stress and damage in these cells (Kim et al., 2001). Curcumin has also been shown to inhibit Aβ aggregation into fibrils and destabilize existing fibrils *in vitro*, likely contributing to its protective effects (Jiang et al., 2012). Additionally, curcumin inhibits key players involved in the activation of inflammation which is known to play a role in the pathogenesis of AD (Ammon et al., 1993; Pan et al., 2000; Xu et al., 1997). Collectively, in *vitro* evidence suggests that curcumin may act as a neuroprotective compound as a result of its anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory and anti-aggregate activity (Cole et al., 2007; Ringman et al., 2005). More recent animal studies indicate that curcumin may have therapeutic potential for treating diverse neurodegenerative diseases including AD (Cole et al., 2007). More specifically, curcumin has been shown to reduce oxidative damage, inflammation and plaque burden by up to 50% in an AD transgenic mouse model carrying the familial linked APP Swedish mutation (APPswe) (Lim et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2005). Similar results were obtained when 22 month old Sprague-Dawley rats were fed curcumin while receiving central nervous system (CNS) infusions of A β (Frautschy et al., 2001). Moreover, dietary curcumin prevented Aβ induced memory deficits in the same rodent model (Frautschy et al., 2001).

Although curcumin has good therapeutic potential due to its safety, extensive history of use and inexpensive cost, it failed to protect nerve cells against neurotrophic factor withdraw which is closely associated with AD pathology (Elliott and Ginzburg, 2006; Liu et al., 2008; Wainer, 1989). Additionally, the EC₅₀, half maximal effective concentration, at which curcumin is effective in cell culture assays is high (10-100 μ M) (Liu et al., 2008). These shortcomings of curcumin prompted researchers to synthesize a hybrid molecule of curcumin, CNB-001, in an attempt to improve its effectiveness as a neuroprotective compound. CNB-001 was selected from a variety of curcumin derivatives for its ability to protect against loss of neurotrophic factor support, oxidative stress, glucose starvation and A β toxicity (Liu et al., 2008). Moreover, CNB-001 enhanced long term potentiation and memory in rats (Maher et al., 2010). However, the researchers sought to further improve the potency and stability of CNB-001 by developing a derivative called J147 (Chen et al., 2011). J147 is a potent (EC₅₀ almost 100X lower than CNB-001), orally active compound that not only to prevented memory loss in AD transgenic mice, but also enhanced memory in cognitively normal mice (Chen et al., 2011). Furthermore, J147 was shown to reduce soluble Aβ levels in the hippocampus (Chen et al., 2011). At the cellular level, J147 appears to reduce the levels of pro-oxidant enzymes and heat shock proteins associated with stress and increase the expression of proteins involved in synaptic function (Chen et al, 2011). However, the exact molecular mechanisms by which J147 elicits neuroprotection is poorly defined (Chen et al., 2011). Interestingly, mice fed J147 showed increased expression of brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)(Chen et al., 2011), a member of the nerve growth factor family which plays a central role in the support and survival of neurons and maintenance of synaptic plasticity in the CNS, particularly in affected brain regions in AD BDNF plays an essential role in long term patients (Huang and Reichardt, 2001). potentiation and memory (Bekinschtein et al., 2008; Figurov et al., 1996) and the progression of AD is associated with the progressive loss in BDNF (Laske et al., 2006). Therefore, the ability of J147 to enhance memory in normal mice and prevent memory loss in AD mice may, in part, be due to the increased expression of BDNF and the subsequent activation of downstream signalling pathways (Chen et al., 2011). In light of the fact that CNB-001 and J147 are derivatives of curcumin, they are likely to have pleiotrophic effects by binding to various molecular targets. Further investigation into these molecular targets is essential for understanding the mechanisms by which both CNB-001 and J147 are neuroprotective.

Interestingly, we have recently shown that activation of aerobic glycolysis or the Warburg effect in nerve cells facilitates resistance to A β toxicity (Newington et al., 2011). Aerobic glycolysis results in increased lactate production in the presence of oxygen and is a common feature of cancer cells (Bonnet et al., 2007; Warburg, 1956). Though aerobic glycolysis is a much less efficient means of producing ATP, it appears to offer a survival advantage for cancer cells, in addition to nerve cells exposed to a variety of neurotoxins including A β (Fantin et al., 2006; McFate et al., 2008; Michelakis et al., 2010; Michelakis et al., 2008; Newington et al., 2011; Newington et al., 2012). Aerobic glycolysis in A β resistant nerve cells is mediated by lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA), the enzyme responsible for the conversion of pyruvate to lactate, and pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) thereby actively repressing mitochondrial metabolism (Newington et al., 2011). PDH converts pyruvate to acetyl-CoA, a metabolite which drives the citric acid cycle thereby increasing the production

of the electron donors NADH and FADH2. NADH and FADH2 subsequently donate their electrons to the electron transport chain (ETC). Thus inhibiting the production of acetyl CoA at the level of PDH reduces the overall rate of respiration and production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), a toxic species which is closely associated with $A\beta$ induced cell death. Interestingly, the overexpression of either LDHA or PDK1 in sensitive cells confers resistance to A β and other neurotoxins and is accompanied by decreased mitochondrial ROS (Newington et al., 2012). Moreover loss of PDK1 is observed in the brains of AD transgenic (APPswe/PS1dE9) mice and post mortem brain tissue from human patients with AD (Newington et al., 2012). Drugs which augment aerobic glycolysis through upregulation of PDK1 and LDHA may protect against nerve cell loss and associated cognitive decline in patients with AD. However, there currently are no known drugs which effectively regulate the expression of these enzymes. Thus we sought to investigate whether CNB-001 or J147 could increase the expression of these enzymes which could contribute to their neuroprotective effects. In this study we show that CNB-001 or J147 protect HT22 cells and primary nerve cells against glutamate toxicity and AB induced cell death respectively. Treatment with either of these drugs was associated with maintenance of LDHA and PDK1 expression following exposure to neurotoxins. Moreover, PDK1 expression, which decreases in 12 month old AD transgenic mice, is rescued when mice were fed CNB-001. These results indicate a possible role for LDHA and PDK1 in the protective effects elicited by CNB-001 and J147.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Materials

Cell culture reagents including: Dulbecco's modified Eagles medium (DMEM), penicillin/streptomycin (P/S), DMEM without phenol red and Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS) were purchased from Biowhittaker (Walkersville, MD, USA) (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Dialyzed fetal bovine serum (FBS) was obtained from PAA Laboratories Inc. (Etobicoke, ON, Canada). TrypLE Express, Neurobasal Medium, N₂ Supplement, B₂₇ Supplement, Glutamax-1 (100X) and Hanks Balanced Salts Solution were obtained from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Protease inhibitor cocktail (100X) was purchased from Cell Signaling (Danvers, MA, USA). Amyloid beta (Aβ) peptide (25-35) was purchased from California peptide research (San Francisco, CA, USA). Poly-L-Ornithine, L-glutamic acid, Propidium Iodide (PI), dihydrochloride, dimethyl formamide, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 3-(4,5-dimethlythiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) were all purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO, USA). DNase 1 and Trypsin Inhibitor were purchased from Roche (Laval, Quebec, Canada). Cell TraceTM Calcein Green, AM (Molecular probes) was purchased from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA).

4-((1E)-2-(5-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxystyryl-)-1-phenyl-1H-pyrazoyl-3-yl)vinyl)-2-methoxy-

phenol) (CNB-001) and 1-(2,4-dimethylphenyl)-2-(3-methoxybenzylidene) hydrazine chloride (J147) were provided by Dr. David Schubert (The Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA) and synthesized as described (Chen et al., 2011). For cell culture experiments CNB-001 and J147 were dissolved in DMSO at appropriate stock concentrations and stored at -80°C. Stock solutions were diluted with water to reach working concentrations. A β was prepared at a concentration of 1 mM in sterile deionized water and left to rock overnight at room temperature to promote fibril formation. The following day, A β was aliquoted and stored at -20°C.

4.2.2 Cell Culture

HT22 cells are an immortalized mouse hippocampal cholinergic line subcloned from the HT4 line which has been selected for its sensitivity to glutamate toxicity (Morimoto and Koshland, 1990). HT22 cells were obtained from Dr. David Schubert (The Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA) and cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% P/S as previously described (Chen et al., 2011; Dargusch and Schubert, 2002). Primary cortical neurons were prepared from day 17 mouse embryos as previously described (Ribeiro et al., 2005). Primary cultures were maintained in Neurobasal Media supplemented with 2 mM glutamine, 50 units/mL P/S and N2/B27 supplements and incubated for 48 hr (Newington et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2005). All cells were grown in a humidified incubator at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

For cell viability experiments HT22 cells were seeded at $2x10^3$ cells per well in 96 well dishes and incubated for 24 hr. The following day CNB-001 was added at a final concentration of 0.5 μ M or 1 μ M to the appropriate test wells and cells were incubated at 37°C. J147 was added a concentration of 50 nM or 100 nM to the appropriate test wells and cells and cells were incubated at 37°C. Two hours following the administration of either drug, 2 mM

glutamate was added to the appropriate test wells and cells were incubated overnight. The following day, a MTT assay was performed as previously described (Newington et al., 2012). The absorption values at 595 nm were measured on a microplate reader (BioRad Model 3550). The results are presented as the percentage of the control untreated cells.

4.2.3 Immunoblot analysis

HT22 and mouse primary cortical cells from treated and untreated subconfluent cultures were washed twice in cold DPBS and harvested in an SDS extraction buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.5, 2% SDS, 1 mM PMSF and 1X protease inhibitor cocktail). Protein extracts were quantified by a Lowry assay and equal [protein] were loaded and resolved by 12% SDS PAGE and electroblotted onto PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad Richmond, CA, USA). Membranes were probed with the following antibodies: polyclonal anti-LDHA (1:1000; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA), polyclonal anti-PDK1 (1:1000; Stressgen, San Diego, CA, USA) and a monoclonal anti- β actin (1:2000; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) followed by incubation with an appropriate horseradish peroxidase (HRP) -conjugated secondary antibody (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). The blots were developed using Pierce ECL western blotting substrate (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) and visualized with a Bio-Rad Molecular Imager (ChemiDoc XRS, Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). Densitometric analysis was performed using Image J software. Band densities were standardized against β -actin, and the ratio of LDHA or PDK1-specific bands relative to the β -actin band was determined.

4.2.4 Fluorescence Microscopy

Cell viability in primary nerve cell cultures was determined by staining with propidium iodide (PI) and calcein green. Primary cells were seeded at 1.6×10^6 cells per 35 mm dish and incubated for 48 hr at 37°C. Following an initial incubation period the media was changed and either CNB-001 (0.5 μ M or 1 μ M) or J147 (10 nM, 50 nM or 100 nM) was added to the appropriate test dishes. Following a 2 hr incubation cells were treated with A β_{25-35} (10 μ M) and were put back in the incubator for 48 hr. At this time the media was aspirated and replaced with DPBS containing PI (0.1 μ g/ml) and calcein green (1 μ M) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. Following incubation, cells were washed with 1X DPBS and placed back in fresh DPBS. Cells were visualized by fluorescence microscopy (Zeiss-AxioObserver, 40X

objective) and pictures were taken using a Q Imaging (Retiga 1300 monochrome 10-bit) camera and Q Capture software. Pictures were taken of three random fields of view.

4.2.5 AD mouse tissue

The APP/PS1 transgenic mouse line both expresses chimeric mouse/human APP (Mo/HuAPP695swe) and mutant human presenilin 1 (PS1-dE9) in the CNS. Both or these mutations are associated with the familial forms of the disease. At three months of age male transgenic mice and their non-transgenic littermates were fed a high fat diet with or without CNB-001 (500 ppm). Food consumption and body weights were monitored weekly, to ensure there were no differences between groups. The mice were sacrificed at 12 months of age. Cortical tissue from these mice fed CNB-001 was generously provided by Dr. David Schubert (The Salk Institute, La Jolla, CA). Brain tissue was extracted and frozen as previously described (Cumming et al., 2007; Soucek et al., 2003). Cortical tissue was processed for western blot analysis as previously described (Newington et al., 2012). Protein extracts were analyzed by immunoblot analysis as described above.

4.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Data are presented as means \pm SD resulting from a least three independent experiments. Data were analyzed statistically using a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test or by a T-test (VassarStats). Results were considered statistically significant at P<0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 CNB-001 and J147 protect cells exposed to glutamate and preserves PDK1 and LDHA expression

CNB-001 protects against glutamate induced excitotoxicity in mouse primary cortical neurons (Liu et al., 2008). Similarly, J147 protects rat cortical neurons (E18 cells) from glutamate toxicity (Chen et al., 2011). We sought to determine if CNB-001 or J147 could also protect a hippocampal nerve cell line, HT22, from glutamate induced toxicity. Treatment of HT22 cells with glutamate (2 mM) for 24 hr resulted in a 55% reduction in cell viability (Figure 4.1, P<0.01). Interestingly, incubation of HT22 cells with J147 or CNB-001 prior to glutamate exposure resulted in a significant increase in cell viability (Figure 4.1, P<0.01). Immunoblot analysis of HT22 cells treated with 2 mM glutamate for 24 hr revealed

a significant loss of both PDK1 and LDHA expression (Figure 4.2, P<0.01). Densitometric analysis revealed a 36% reduction in PDK1 expression and a 58% reduction in LDHA expression. Expression of these enzymes was maintained by pre-treatment with either J147 or CNB-001 at varying concentrations. More specifically, treatment of HT22 cells with 100 nM J147 or 1 μ M CNB-001 prior to glutamate exposure significantly increased the expression of both PDK1 and LDHA to levels similar or higher than the control (P<0.01). Therefore J147 and CNB-001 appear to be protective against glutamate toxicity in HT22 cells. Moreover, treatment with either of these drugs preserves PDK1 and LDHA expression following glutamate exposure, which may contribute, in part, to their protective effects.

Figure 4.1 CNB-001 and J147 protect HT22 cells from glutamate toxicity. Cell viability of HT22 cells was significantly decreased following 24 hr exposure to 2 mM glutamate (*P<0.01). Cell viability significantly increased compared to glutamate treatment alone when cells were pretreated for 2 hr with CNB-001 (001) at 0.5 μ M or 1 μ M prior to glutamate treatment (*P<0.01). Similarly pre-treatment with J147 (50 nM or 100 nM) prior to glutamate exposure significantly increased cell viability when compared to glutamate treatment alone (*P<0.01). There was a significant increase in cell viability with increased concentrations of CNB-001 or J147 (*P<0.01). Cell viability was measured by MTT assay. Data represent the mean ± SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



Figure 4.2 CNB-001 and J147 maintain PDK1 and LDHA expression in HT22 cells exposed to glutamate. (A) Western blot analysis of HT22 cells treated with glutamate (2 mM) for 24 hr revealed a significant decrease in the expression of both PDK1 and LDHA (*P<0.01). In contrast, pre-treatment for 2 hr with J147 (50 nM or 100 nM) prior to glutamate exposure (2 mM) significantly increased the expression of PDK1 (**P<0.05) and LDHA (50 nM, **P<0.05; 100 nM, *P<0.01) when compared to cells treated with glutamate alone. Similarly, cells exposed to CNB-001 (001; 0.5 μ M or 1 μ M) prior to treatment with glutamate exhibited significantly higher levels of PDK1 and LDHA (*P<0.01) compared to glutamate treatment alone. Densitometric analysis of PDK1 and LDHA band intensities relative to actin are found below (**B** and **C** respectively). Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/actin or PDK1/actin ratio of the treated cells to the same ratio of the control cell line (24 hr). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.





4.3.2 CNB-001 or J147 protects against Aβ toxicity and maintains PDK1 and LDHA expression in primary nerve cells

Treatment of primary rat hippocampal neurons with either CNB-001 or J147 prevents Aß toxicity (Chen et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2008). We examined whether CNB-001 or J147 could elicit similar protective effects in mouse primary cortical neurons. Cell viability was examined using the fluorescent dyes Calcein Green and PI, and visualized by fluorescent microscopy. Cells treated with A β_{25-35} (10 μ M) for 48 hr showed a significant increase in PI positive cells, indicative of non viable or dead cells (Figure 4.3 A and B, P<0.01). When cells were incubated with either CNB-001 (1 µM) or J147 (50 nM) prior to treatment with A β , there were significantly less dead cells (PI positive cells) and more live cells (Calcein Green, positive) suggesting that both compounds are protective in mouse primary cortical nerve cells (Figure 4.4 A and B, P<0.01). Immunoblot analysis of primary cortical neurons treated with A β_{25-35} (10 μ M) for 48 hr revealed a significant decrease in PDK1 and LDHA when compared to untreated cells (Figure 4.4, P<0.05). Interestingly, exposure to CNB-001 prior to treatment with A β prevented decreases in PDK1 and LDHA expression. Treatment with J147 prior to exposure to A β also maintained expression of PDK1 and LDHA at levels similar to control cells (Figure 4.5). Densitometric analysis revealed that PDK1 expression was maintained at a significantly higher level following pre-treatment with 100nM J147 and that LDHA expression was maintained to a significantly higher degree following pretreatment with 50 nM J147 prior to A β exposure (P<0.01 and P<0.05 respectively). Thus, exposure to CNB-001 or J147 maintains expression of PDK1 and LDHA following treatment with A β ; events which may contribute to the neuroprotective properties of these drugs.

Figure 4.3 CNB-001 and J147 protect primary cortical neurons from A β toxicity. (A) Cell viability was measured in mouse primary cortical neurons by staining cells with Calcein green which labels viable cells and propidium iodide (PI) which labels dead cells. Cell viability was reduced when cells are incubated with A β_{25-35} (10 µM) for 48 hr. An increase in cell survival was observed when cells were treated with CNB-001 (001; 1µM) or J147 (50 nM) for 2 hr prior to treatment with A β . (B) There was a significant increase in PI positive cells treated with A β_{25-35} (10 µM) for 48 hr when compared to control cells (*P<0.01). In contrast there was a significant decrease in PI positive cells when cells were pre-treated with A β alone (*P<0.01). Pictures were taken from 3 random fields of view for each treatment. Data represent the mean ± SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.



+Αβ

Figure 4.4 CNB-001 increases PDK1 and LDHA in primary cortical neurons treated with A β . (A) Immunoblot analysis of primary cortical neurons revealed a significant decrease in both PDK1 and LDHA when cells were treated with A β_{25-35} (10 μ M) for 48 hr when compared to control cells (*P<0.01). (B) Densitometric analysis revealed incubating cells with CNB-001 (001; 0.5 μ M or 1 μ M) for 2 hr prior to treatment with A β significantly increased the expression of PDK1 at 48 hr compared to cells treated with A β alone (*P<0.01). (C) A significant increase in the expression of LDHA is also observed when cells are pre-treated with 001 compared to cells treated only with A β (**P<0.05). Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/actin or PDK1/actin ratio of treated cells to the same ratio of the control cell line (48 hr). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.







Figure 4.5 J147 maintains the expression of PDK1 and LDHA in primary cortical neurons exposed to A β . (A) Western blot analysis of primary cortical neurons treated with A β_{25-35} (10 μ M) for 48 hrs exhibited a significant decrease in the expression of PDK1 and LDHA compared to untreated cells (*P<0.01). PDK1 and LDHA expression increased when cells were treated with different concentrations of J147 for 2 hr prior to exposure to A β . (B) Densitometric analysis revealed a significant increase in PDK1 was observed when cells were pre-treated with 100 nM J147 prior to exposure to A β when compared to cells treated with A β (**P<0.05). (C) A significant increase in LDHA was observed when cells were treated with 50 nM J147 prior to A β treatment compared to cells treated with A β alone (**P<0.05). Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the LDHA/actin or PDK1/actin ratio of the treated cells to the same ratio of the control cell line (48 hr). Data represent the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. Data were analyzed by a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey test.









4.3.3 CNB-001 maintains PDK1 expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice

CNB-001 enhances both long term potentiation and memory in rats (Maher et al., 2010). In addition, this compound protects against A β toxicity in primary hippocampal nerve cells (Liu et al., 2008). Interestingly we have previously shown that 12 month old AD transgenic (APPswe/PS1dE9) mice exhibit a loss of PDK1 and LDHA expression when compared to control mice (Newington et al., 2012). Therefore, we wondered whether AD transgenic mice fed CNB-001 would show altered expression of PDK1 or LDHA. Interestingly, 12 month old mice fed CNB-001, starting at 3 months of age, displayed a significant increase in PDK1 when compared to AD untreated mice (Figure 4.6, P<0.001). More specifically we observed a 1.7 fold increase in PDK1 expression. We did not however observe any significant change in LDHA expression when mice were fed CNB-001 (data not shown). These results suggest that the ability of CNB-001 to sustain PDK1 expression in AD transgenic mice may play a role in the memory enhancing properties of this compound.

Figure 4.6 CNB-001 preserves PDK1 expression in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. Immunoblot analysis of cortical tissue from 12 month old AD transgenic (APP/PS1) mice fed a high fat diet with or without CNB-001 (001; 500 ppm) revealed a significant increase in PDK1 expression in mice fed 001 compared to control mice (*P<0.001). Relative intensity was calculated by comparing the PDK1/actin ratio of the AD mice fed CNB-001 to the same ratio of the control (APP/PS1). Data were analyzed by a one-tailed T-Test.





4.4 Discussion

Uncovering new drugs for the effective treatment or prevention of AD is crucial to reducing the financial, physical and emotional burden of this devastating disease. In previous studies it was shown that curcumin elicited neuroprotective effects and showed therapeutic potential for the treatment of AD in transgenic mice models of the disease (Lim et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2005). The engineered curcumin derivatives CNB-001 and J147 displayed enhanced neuroprotective properties against common stressors associated with AD and promoted improved memory in wild type mice (Chen et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2008; Maher et al., 2010). Moreover, J147 prevented synaptic loss and cognitive decline in AD transgenic mice (Chen et al., 2011). Despite evidence indicating reductions in pro-oxidant enzymes and a reduction in soluble A β , the mechanism by which CNB-001 or J147 protects nerve cells against AD pathology including AB toxicity remains unclear (Chen et al., 2011). Importantly, these compounds, similar to curcumin, exhibit a range of biological activities suggesting that they have affinity for multiple molecular targets (Chen et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2008). Interestingly, the data presented here suggests that PDK1 and possibly LDHA could potentially be targets, either direct or indirect, for these drugs. The maintained expression or activity of these proteins when faced with stressors associated with AD may contribute to the protective effects afforded by these compounds.

4.4.1 Glutamate toxicity and aerobic glycolysis

Glutamate is the principle excitatory neurotransmitter in the CNS and plays an important role in learning and memory (Collingridge and Lester, 1989). Overstimulation of glutamate receptors or exicitoxicity as a result of excessive glutamate release can cause nerve cell death and plays an important role in neurodegeneration and AD (Hynd et al., 2004; Sattler and Tymianski, 2001). Additionally, extracellular glutamate can induce a unique oxidative stress-induced programmed cell death termed oxytosis (Tan et al., 2001). Excess glutamate can affect the oxidative potential of the cell through a cystine/glutamate antiporter system (Bannai and Kitamura, 1980; Murphy et al., 1989; Sato et al., 1999). Cystine uptake, which plays an essential role in the production of the antioxidant glutathione (GSH), is inhibited by excess extracellular glutamate resulting in GSH depletion, oxidative stress and cell death (Murphy et al., 1989). Oxidative glutamate toxicity or oxytosis appears to also play an important role in nerve cell death and neurodegenerative disorders including AD (Tan et al., 2001). Oxytosis has been modeled and studied in hippocampal HT22 nerve cells which lack glutamate receptors but die within 48 hours following exposure to glutamate (Dargusch and Schubert, 2002; Tan et al., 2001). Similar to HT22 cells, many neurons in the brain lack glutamate receptors and are susceptible to oxytosis induced by excess glutamate associated with ischemia, trauma and neurodegeneration (Maher, 2006). Thus glutamate toxicity in HT22 cells is a valuable model for testing protective molecules for the treatment of AD. Here it is shown that glutamate exposure results in decreased levels of the Warburg effect enzymes PDK1 and LDHA in HT22 cells.

Both PDK1 and LDHA expression have shown to be protective against a variety of neurotoxins that induce oxidative stress and cell death (Newington et al., 2012). Moreover, overexpression of either PDK1 or LDHA reduces mitochondrial ROS production, thus loss of these proteins in HT22 cells following glutamate exposure could further exacerbate oxidative stress induced by this molecule (Newington et al., 2012). Interestingly, both CNB-001 and J147 protect against glutamate toxicity which is associated with maintenance of PDK1 and LDHA levels. Although it could be argued that CNB-001 and J147 mediated effects on PDK1 and LDHA expression in glutamate treated cells are merely a reflection of increased survival, this is unlikely because even cells treated with glutamate alone were harvested under conditions in which at least 90% of the remaining adherent cells, following washes, were alive (data not shown). Both PDK1 and LDHA have been previously shown to play an important role in protection against A β toxicity (Newington et al., 2011). Moreover, Aß resistant cells and glutamate resistant HT22 cells display similar cross resistance to a variety of other neurotoxins suggesting similar resistance mechanisms are elicited by these cells (Dargusch and Schubert, 2002). Therefore it is plausible that, similar to A β resistant nerve cells, PDK1 and LDHA may contribute to protection against glutamate toxicity in HT22 cells. Furthermore, maintenance of these proteins through treatment with CNB-001 or J147 could potentially contribute to the survivability of nerve cells lacking ionotropic glutamate receptors in the AD brain.

4.4.2 Protective role for maintenance of a Warburg effect in nerve cells exposed to Aβ

We have previously shown a time dependent loss of both PDK1 and LDHA expression when primary cortical neurons are exposed to $A\beta$ (Newington et al., 2012). Furthermore, expression of these enzymes is decreased in the cortex of 12 month old AD transgenic (APPswe/PS1dE9) mice a time at which cognitive impairments are present (Newington et al., 2012). Moreover, there is a significant decrease in the levels of PDK1 in post mortem tissue taken from the frontal cortex of individuals diagnosed with AD (Newington et al., 2012). Both PDK1 and LDHA expression divert energy metabolism away from mitochondria which are known to be dysfunctional in AD (Lezi and Swerdlow, 2012). Importantly, cells which have been depleted of endogenous mtDNA, and which lack ETC activity, are insensitive to the toxic effects of A β stressing the importance of functional mitochondria in A β induced cell death (Cardoso et al., 2001). A β has been shown to physically associate with mitochondria in AD transgenic mice, suggesting that the peptide causes impaired mitochondrial metabolism by promoting the increased offloading of electrons from the ETC thereby increasing H₂O₂ levels in the cell (Manczak et al., 2006). Blocking the ability of A β to associate with mitochondria inhibits A β -induced nerve cell death and associated ROS production (Lustbader et al., 2004). Interesting, preliminary studies in our lab have found that Aβ-resistant PC12 cells exhibit dramatically decreased intracellular accumulation of Aβ (T. Rappon, personal communication). The role of elevated Warburg effect enzymes in promoting increased clearance of intracellular $A\beta$, including mitochondrial localized $A\beta$, awaits further investigation.

Deficiencies in essential enzymes involved in mitochondrial respiration have been reported in the brains of patients with AD (Brooks et al., 2007; Gibson et al., 1998; Kish, 1997; Liang et al., 2008). Thus redirecting energy metabolism away from the mitochondria through increased PDK1 and/or LDHA activity not only reduces toxic ROS production but would allow for adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production in cells with dysfunctional mitochondria. The expression of these enzymes when cells are exposed to $A\beta$ would likely direct the conversion of pyruvate to lactate and reduce metabolic flux in the mitochondria. A subsequent reduction in mitochondrial ETC activity would reduce the production of superoxide, a natural byproduct of ETC activity due to the early offloading of electrons onto molecular oxygen. Moreover, when mitochondria become dysfunctional they cannot produce enough ATP required by a cell for survival, thus diverting energy production to aerobic glycolysis through the activities of PDK1 and LDHA would allow for maintenance of energy supply despite the loss of mitochondrial metabolism. Decreased levels of PDK1 are observed in 12 month old AD transgenic mice. Interestingly, PDK1 expression is preserved in the cortex of AD transgenic mice fed CNB-001. Unfortunately, we did not have control mice (non transgenic) or control mice fed 001 to make a full analysis of the effects of CNB-001 on PDK1 expression. There was no observable difference in LDHA expression, however LDHA expression is often not reflective of LDHA activity thus future studies may look to examine LDHA activity in these brain samples (Newington et al., 2012). However, loss of PDK1 and not LDHA expression is observed in the human AD post-mortem brain thus preservation of PDK1 may be more important to confer protection against nerve cell death associated with AD.

4.4.3 Activation of PDK1 or LDHA by CNB-001 and J147

Though it appears that both CNB-001 and J147 have the ability to sustain the expression of the protective enzymes LDHA and PDK1, it remains unclear whether these drugs actually play a direct role in maintaining their expression. Given that both CNB-001 and J147 are derivatives of curcumin, we hypothesize that these compounds are likely to act in a similar manner and share common molecular targets. Curcumin has been shown to modulate a number of molecular targets including growth factors and their receptors, transcription factors, cytokines, enzymes and genes (Pari et al., 2008). In examining the current identified targets of curcumin there does not appear to be a clear link to transcriptional or post transcriptional regulation of these enzymes. In fact curcumin appears to negatively regulate transcription factors known to play a role in the transcription of these enzymes (Pari et al., 2008). For example hypoxia inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) is a well known transcriptional regulator of both PDK1 and LDHA that is activated in low oxygen conditions to mediate the switch from oxidative metabolism to lactate production (Kim et al., 2006; Semenza et al., 1996). Treatment of breast cancer cells with curcumin inhibited HIF-1 α gene expression resulting in decreased HIF-1 activity (Bae et al., 2006; Choi et al., 2006; Thomas et al., 2008). Moreover, treatment of HT22 cells with CNB-001 or J147 failed to induce the expression of transfected luciferase reporter driven by the HIF-1 α promoter with or without

glutamate treatment (data not shown). In addition to regulating enzymes involved in glucose metabolism, HIF-1 activates enzymes that play a critical role in cancer biology including enzymes involved in invasion, cell survival, angiogenesis and drug resistance (Semenza, 2003). Thus with more than 60 identified transcriptional targets of HIF-1, it does not appear to be an appealing candidate to target increased expression of PDK1 and LDHA for the treatment of AD (Semenza, 2003). Moreover, HIF-1 has been shown to activate enzymes responsible for increased production of A β (Wang et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2007). Therefore, a mechanism in which PDK1 and LDHA are activated independent of HIF-1 could offer significant therapeutic potential.

Importantly, these results suggest that maintenance of PDK1 and LDHA expression in HT22 cells and primary cortical neurons treated with CNB-001 and J147 likely occurs independent of HIF-1. This however this does not exclude the possibility that these drugs could play a role in their transcriptional regulation. Interestingly, some preliminary evidence in our lab suggests that CNB-001 and J147 promote increased transcription of PDK1 (R. Harris, personal communication) but further investigation is necessary to confirm these findings. Alternatively, it is possible that CNB-001 and J147 maintain LDHA and PDK1 levels through post translational mechanisms which may be important to examine in future studies. Though we could not find a clear mechanism for maintenance of these proteins by examining the known molecular targets of curcumin it is important to note that these newly derived drugs are derivatives of curcumin which may possess novel molecular targets that have not yet been identified such as LDHA and PDK1. Determining the molecular targets of both CNB-001 and J147 could offer further insight into how these drugs sustain PDK1 and LDHA expression when cells are exposed to stressors associated with AD. Moreover testing these drugs in cells with decreased PDK1 and LDHA expression could help in determining if these proteins are necessary for the protection afforded by these compounds. Unfortunately, attempts to use shRNA mediated knockdown of either LDHA or PDK1 transcripts in primary neurons where not successful due to the limited transfection/nucleofection properties of this cell type. Future experiments using adenoviral or lentiviral technologies to silence LDHA or *PDK1* expression will help resolve the importance of these enzymes in mediating CNB-001 and J147 neuroprotective effects.

4.5 Conclusions

We are in need of developing new compounds for the treatment of AD, which effectively reduce nerve cell loss and cognitive decline associated with the disease. CNB-001 and J147 are promising candidates with the potential of slowing disease progression and providing immediate cognitive benefits to patients (Chen et al., 2011). Their ability to maintain the expression of the protective enzymes PDK1 and LDHA in both HT22 cells and primary cortical neurons suggests that these compounds might promote increased neuron survival in vivo when exposed to diverse neurotoxins associated with AD. Moreover, maintenance of PDK1 in AD transgenic mice fed CNB-001 may contribute to decreases in the production ROS, memory deficits and eventual nerve cell death. It remains unclear how these protective compounds sustain the expression of these enzymes, but it likely occurs independent of HIF-1. Activation of these enzymes independent of HIF-1 may have clinical relevance in the treatment of AD. Future research into determining the molecular targets of these drugs may reveal novel candidates for the treatment of AD and lead to a further understanding of how they elicit their protective effects. Moreover, further investigation of compounds, in addition to CNB-001 and J147, which activate PDK1 and LDHA expression may offer a neuroprotective strategy for the treatment of AD and other neurodegenerative disorders.

4.6 References

Ammon, H.P., Safayhi, H., Mack, T., and Sabieraj, J. (1993). Mechanism of antiinflammatory actions of curcumine and boswellic acids. J Ethnopharmacol *38*, 113-119.

Bae, M.K., Kim, S.H., Jeong, J.W., Lee, Y.M., Kim, H.S., Kim, S.R., Yun, I., Bae, S.K., and Kim, K.W. (2006). Curcumin inhibits hypoxia-induced angiogenesis via down-regulation of HIF-1. Oncol Rep *15*, 1557-1562.

Bannai, S., and Kitamura, E. (1980). Transport interaction of L-cystine and L-glutamate in human diploid fibroblasts in culture. J Biol Chem 255, 2372-2376.

Bekinschtein, P., Cammarota, M., Katche, C., Slipczuk, L., Rossato, J.I., Goldin, A., Izquierdo, I., and Medina, J.H. (2008). BDNF is essential to promote persistence of long-term memory storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 2711-2716.

Bonnet, S., Archer, S.L., Allalunis-Turner, J., Haromy, A., Beaulieu, C., Thompson, R., Lee, C.T., Lopaschuk, G.D., Puttagunta, L., Harry, G., *et al.* (2007). A mitochondria-K⁺ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. Cancer Cell *11*, 37-51.

Brooks, W.M., Lynch, P.J., Ingle, C.C., Hatton, A., Emson, P.C., Faull, R.L., and Starkey, M.P. (2007). Gene expression profiles of metabolic enzyme transcripts in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res *1127*, 127-135.

Cardoso, S.M., Santos, S., Swerdlow, R.H., and Oliveira, C.R. (2001). Functional mitochondria are required for amyloid beta-mediated neurotoxicity. Faseb J *15*, 1439-1441.

Chainani-Wu, N. (2003). Safety and anti-inflammatory activity of curcumin: a component of tumeric (Curcuma longa). J Altern Complement Med *9*, 161-168.

Chen, Q., Prior, M., Dargusch, R., Roberts, A., Riek, R., Eichmann, C., Chiruta, C., Akaishi, T., Abe, K., Maher, P., *et al.* (2011). A novel neurotrophic drug for cognitive enhancement and Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One *6*, e27865.

Choi, H., Chun, Y.S., Kim, S.W., Kim, M.S., and Park, J.W. (2006). Curcumin inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1 by degrading aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator: a mechanism of tumor growth inhibition. Mol Pharmacol *70*, 1664-1671.

Cole, G.M., Teter, B., and Frautschy, S.A. (2007). Neuroprotective effects of curcumin. Adv Exp Med Biol 595, 197-212.

Collingridge, G.L., and Lester, R.A. (1989). Excitatory amino acid receptors in the vertebrate central nervous system. Pharmacol Rev *41*, 143-210.

Cumming, R.C., Dargusch, R., Fischer, W.H., and Schubert, D. (2007). Increase in expression levels and resistance to sulfhydryl oxidation of peroxiredoxin isoforms in amyloid beta-resistant nerve cells. J Biol Chem 282, 30523-30534.
Dargusch, R., and Schubert, D. (2002). Specificity of resistance to oxidative stress. J Neurochem *81*, 1394-1400.

Elliott, E., and Ginzburg, I. (2006). The role of neurotrophins and insulin on tau pathology in Alzheimer's disease. Rev Neurosci 17, 635-642.

Fantin, V.R., St-Pierre, J., and Leder, P. (2006). Attenuation of LDH-A expression uncovers a link between glycolysis, mitochondrial physiology, and tumor maintenance. Cancer Cell *9*, 425-434.

Figurov, A., Pozzo-Miller, L.D., Olafsson, P., Wang, T., and Lu, B. (1996). Regulation of synaptic responses to high-frequency stimulation and LTP by neurotrophins in the hippocampus. Nature *381*, 706-709.

Frautschy, S.A., Hu, W., Kim, P., Miller, S.A., Chu, T., Harris-White, M.E., and Cole, G.M. (2001). Phenolic anti-inflammatory antioxidant reversal of Abeta-induced cognitive deficits and neuropathology. Neurobiol Aging *22*, 993-1005.

Gibson, G.E., Sheu, K.F., and Blass, J.P. (1998). Abnormalities of mitochondrial enzymes in Alzheimer disease. J Neural Transm *105*, 855-870.

Grynkiewicz, G., and Slifirski, P. (2012). Curcumin and curcuminoids in quest for medicinal status. Acta Biochim Pol *59*, 201-212.

Honjo, K., Black, S.E., and Verhoeff, N.P. (2012). Alzheimer's disease, cerebrovascular disease, and the beta-amyloid cascade. Can J Neurol Sci *39*, 712-728.

Huang, E.J., and Reichardt, L.F. (2001). Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. Annu Rev Neurosci 24, 677-736.

Hynd, M.R., Scott, H.L., and Dodd, P.R. (2004). Glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity and neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Neurochem Int *45*, 583-595.

Jiang, T., Zhi, X.L., Zhang, Y.H., Pan, L.F., and Zhou, P. (2012). Inhibitory effect of curcumin on the Al(III)-induced Abeta(4)(2) aggregation and neurotoxicity in vitro. Biochim Biophys Acta *1822*, 1207-1215.

Kim, D.S., Park, S.Y., and Kim, J.K. (2001). Curcuminoids from Curcuma longa L. (Zingiberaceae) that protect PC12 rat pheochromocytoma and normal human umbilical vein endothelial cells from betaA(1-42) insult. Neurosci Lett *303*, 57-61.

Kim, J.W., Tchernyshyov, I., Semenza, G.L., and Dang, C.V. (2006). HIF-1-mediated expression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase: a metabolic switch required for cellular adaptation to hypoxia. Cell Metab *3*, 177-185.

Kish, S.J. (1997). Brain energy metabolizing enzymes in Alzheimer's disease: alphaketoglutarate dehydrogenase complex and cytochrome oxidase. Ann N Y Acad Sci 826, 218-228. Laske, C., Stransky, E., Leyhe, T., Eschweiler, G.W., Wittorf, A., Richartz, E., Bartels, M., Buchkremer, G., and Schott, K. (2006). Stage-dependent BDNF serum concentrations in Alzheimer's disease. J Neural Transm *113*, 1217-1224.

Lezi, E., and Swerdlow, R.H. (2012). Mitochondria in neurodegeneration. Adv Exp Med Biol *942*, 269-286.

Liang, W.S., Reiman, E.M., Valla, J., Dunckley, T., Beach, T.G., Grover, A., Niedzielko, T.L., Schneider, L.E., Mastroeni, D., Caselli, R., *et al.* (2008). Alzheimer's disease is associated with reduced expression of energy metabolism genes in posterior cingulate neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 4441-4446.

Lim, G.P., Chu, T., Yang, F., Beech, W., Frautschy, S.A., and Cole, G.M. (2001). The curry spice curcumin reduces oxidative damage and amyloid pathology in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse. J Neurosci *21*, 8370-8377.

Liu, Y., Dargusch, R., Maher, P., and Schubert, D. (2008). A broadly neuroprotective derivative of curcumin. J Neurochem *105*, 1336-1345.

Lustbader, J.W., Cirilli, M., Lin, C., Xu, H.W., Takuma, K., Wang, N., Caspersen, C., Chen, X., Pollak, S., Chaney, M., *et al.* (2004). ABAD directly links Abeta to mitochondrial toxicity in Alzheimer's disease. Science *304*, 448-452.

Maher, P. (2006). Redox control of neural function: background, mechanisms, and significance. Antioxid Redox Signal *8*, 1941-1970.

Maher, P., Akaishi, T., Schubert, D., and Abe, K. (2010). A pyrazole derivative of curcumin enhances memory. Neurobiol Aging *31*, 706-709.

Manczak, M., Anekonda, T.S., Henson, E., Park, B.S., Quinn, J., and Reddy, P.H. (2006). Mitochondria are a direct site of A beta accumulation in Alzheimer's disease neurons: implications for free radical generation and oxidative damage in disease progression. Hum Mol Genet *15*, 1437-1449.

McFate, T., Mohyeldin, A., Lu, H., Thakar, J., Henriques, J., Halim, N.D., Wu, H., Schell, M.J., Tsang, T.M., Teahan, O., *et al.* (2008). Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex activity controls metabolic and malignant phenotype in cancer cells. J Biol Chem 283, 22700-22708.

Michelakis, E.D., Sutendra, G., Dromparis, P., Webster, L., Haromy, A., Niven, E., Maguire, C., Gammer, T.L., Mackey, J.R., Fulton, D., *et al.* (2010). Metabolic modulation of glioblastoma with dichloroacetate. Sci Transl Med 2, 31ra34.

Michelakis, E.D., Webster, L., and Mackey, J.R. (2008). Dichloroacetate (DCA) as a potential metabolic-targeting therapy for cancer. Br J Cancer *99*, 989-994.

Morimoto, B.H., and Koshland, D.E., Jr. (1990). Excitatory amino acid uptake and Nmethyl-D-aspartate-mediated secretion in a neural cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 3518-3521. Murphy, T.H., Miyamoto, M., Sastre, A., Schnaar, R.L., and Coyle, J.T. (1989). Glutamate toxicity in a neuronal cell line involves inhibition of cystine transport leading to oxidative stress. Neuron 2, 1547-1558.

Newington, J.T., Pitts, A., Chien, A., Arseneault, R., Schubert, D., and Cumming, R.C. (2011). Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cell lines is mediated by the Warburg effect. PLoS One *6*, e19191.

Newington, J.T., Rappon, T., Albers, S., Wong, D.Y., Rylett, R.J., and Cumming, R.C. (2012). Overexpression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 and lactate dehydrogenase A in nerve cells confers resistance to amyloid beta and other toxins by decreasing mitochondrial respiration and reactive oxygen species production. J Biol Chem 287, 37245-37258.

Pan, M.H., Lin-Shiau, S.Y., and Lin, J.K. (2000). Comparative studies on the suppression of nitric oxide synthase by curcumin and its hydrogenated metabolites through down-regulation of IkappaB kinase and NFkappaB activation in macrophages. Biochem Pharmacol *60*, 1665-1676.

Pangalos, M.N., Schechter, L.E., and Hurko, O. (2007). Drug development for CNS disorders: strategies for balancing risk and reducing attrition. Nat Rev Drug Discov *6*, 521-532.

Pari, L., Tewas, D., and Eckel, J. (2008). Role of curcumin in health and disease. Arch Physiol Biochem *114*, 127-149.

Ribeiro, F.M., Black, S.A., Cregan, S.P., Prado, V.F., Prado, M.A., Rylett, R.J., and Ferguson, S.S. (2005). Constitutive high-affinity choline transporter endocytosis is determined by a carboxyl-terminal tail dileucine motif. J Neurochem *94*, 86-96.

Ringman, J.M., Frautschy, S.A., Cole, G.M., Masterman, D.L., and Cummings, J.L. (2005). A potential role of the curry spice curcumin in Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 2, 131-136.

Sato, H., Tamba, M., Ishii, T., and Bannai, S. (1999). Cloning and expression of a plasma membrane cystine/glutamate exchange transporter composed of two distinct proteins. J Biol Chem 274, 11455-11458.

Sattler, R., and Tymianski, M. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of glutamate receptormediated excitotoxic neuronal cell death. Mol Neurobiol 24, 107-129.

Selkoe, D.J. (2004). Alzheimer disease: mechanistic understanding predicts novel therapies. Ann Intern Med *140*, 627-638.

Semenza, G.L. (2003). Targeting HIF-1 for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 3, 721-732.

Semenza, G.L., Jiang, B.H., Leung, S.W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J.P., Maire, P., and Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J Biol Chem 271, 32529-32537.

Soucek, T., Cumming, R., Dargusch, R., Maher, P., and Schubert, D. (2003). The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. Neuron *39*, 43-56.

Tan, S., Schubert, D., and Maher, P. (2001). Oxytosis: A novel form of programmed cell death. Curr Top Med Chem *1*, 497-506.

Thomas, S.L., Zhong, D., Zhou, W., Malik, S., Liotta, D., Snyder, J.P., Hamel, E., and Giannakakou, P. (2008). EF24, a novel curcumin analog, disrupts the microtubule cytoskeleton and inhibits HIF-1. Cell Cycle *7*, 2409-2417.

Wainer, B.H. (1989). Neurotrophic factors and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 10, 540-542; discussion 552-543.

Wang, R., Zhang, Y.W., Zhang, X., Liu, R., Hong, S., Xia, K., Xia, J., Zhang, Z., and Xu, H. (2006). Transcriptional regulation of APH-1A and increased gamma-secretase cleavage of APP and Notch by HIF-1 and hypoxia. Faseb J *20*, 1275-1277.

Warburg, O. (1956). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science 124, 269-270.

Xu, Y.X., Pindolia, K.R., Janakiraman, N., Chapman, R.A., and Gautam, S.C. (1997). Curcumin inhibits IL1 alpha and TNF-alpha induction of AP-1 and NF-kB DNA-binding activity in bone marrow stromal cells. Hematopathol Mol Hematol *11*, 49-62.

Yang, F., Lim, G.P., Begum, A.N., Ubeda, O.J., Simmons, M.R., Ambegaokar, S.S., Chen, P.P., Kayed, R., Glabe, C.G., Frautschy, S.A., *et al.* (2005). Curcumin inhibits formation of amyloid beta oligomers and fibrils, binds plaques, and reduces amyloid in vivo. J Biol Chem 280, 5892-5901.

Zhang, X., Zhou, K., Wang, R., Cui, J., Lipton, S.A., Liao, F.F., Xu, H., and Zhang, Y.W. (2007). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha)-mediated hypoxia increases BACE1 expression and beta-amyloid generation. J Biol Chem 282, 10873-10880.

Chapter 5

5 General Discussion and Conclusions

5.1 Summary

5.1.1 Summary of Findings

Understanding the mechanisms by which nerve cells become resistant to the toxic effects of Aß could reveal novel targets for the treatment and/or prevention of AD. By examining nerve cells selected for resistance against A β toxicity I have shown that these cells exhibit a shift in metabolism to favor increased lactate production reminiscent of the Warburg effect in cancer cells. Interestingly, Aβ-resistant nerve cells express increased levels of PDK1 accompanied by increased LDHA activity and lactate production when compared to control cells. As a result of these metabolic changes, the production of mitochondrial derived ROS, which is closely associated with $A\beta$ toxicity, is markedly diminished in resistant relative to sensitive cells. Inhibiting LDHA or PDK1 expression or activity re-sensitizes resistant cells to A β induced cell death, suggesting that these enzymes play a central role in conferring resistance to A_β. Importantly, PDK1 and LDHA overexpressing cells exhibit decreased ROS production and oxygen consumption but maintain ATP pools under both normal culture conditions and following A β treatment. These findings indicate that activation of aerobic glycolysis in nerve cells confers resistance to $A\beta$, while maintaining sufficient energy reserves for cell survival. Similar to cancer cells, the stabilization of HIF-1a likely accounts for the observed metabolic changes in A β resistant cells (Soucek et al., 2003). Intriguingly, decreased expression of both LDHA and PDK1 was observed in cortical extracts of 12 month old AD transgenic (APPswe/PSEN1dE9) mice. A loss of PDK1 expression was also observed in post-mortem cortical tissue from AD patients. Collectively, these findings indicate that PDK1- or LDHA-mediated aerobic glycolysis protects against Aβ-toxicity while maintaining cellular ATP levels (Figure 5.1). Loss of these proteins may contribute to the cognitive decline and nerve cell death observed in AD. Moreover, overexpression of either PDK1 or LDHA in a rat CNS cell line confers resistance to not only A β but a variety of other neurotoxins. These findings suggest that expression of these enzymes may be linked to a

broad acting neurotoxin resistance mechanism and may have relevance to other neurodegenerative diseases.

Currently there is no cure for AD and treatment remains limited to reducing the symptoms associated with the disease, rather than slowing disease progression. Here I have identified a novel resistance mechanism in nerve cells which confers resistance to $A\beta$ toxicity *in vitro*. Identifying molecules or drugs that activate this pathway in nerve cells may have important therapeutic potential. I tested the effects of two newly derived neurotrophic drugs (CNB-001 and J147) on expression levels of rate limiting Warburg effect enzymes in nerve cells exposed to glutamate and $A\beta$; two stressors closely associated with AD. Interestingly, treatment with either CNB-001 or J147 maintained the expression of the protective enzymes LDHA and PDK1 when nerve cells were exposed to either glutamate or $A\beta$. Moreover, transgenic AD mice fed CNB-001 from 3 to 12 months of age exhibited increased PDK1 expression when compared to control fed mice. These results suggest that one mechanism by which these drugs exhibit a neuroprotective effect may occur via the upregulation or maintenance of Warburg effect enzymes. Activation of aerobic glycolysis in mice fed J147 may not only elicit neuroprotective effects, but may also contribute to the immediate cognitive benefits including improvements in learning and memory (Chen et al., 2011).

Figure 5.1 Aerobic glycolysis in A β resistant cells. The stabilization of hypoxia inducible factor 1 α (HIF1 α) in amyloid beta (A β) resistant cells stimulates increased expression of glucose transporters and glycolytic enzymes thereby increasing the conversion of glucose to pyruvate. Additionally, HIF-1 induces the transcription of lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA), resulting in an increase in the conversion of pyruvate to lactate. Futhermore HIF-1 suppresses mitochondrial respiration by upregulating pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDK1). PDK1 phosphorylates and inhibits pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) resulting in decreased flux through the tricarboxcylic acid (TCA) cycle and repressed oxidative phosphorylation (OXOHOS). Decreased OXOPHOS attenuates mitochondrial ROS production rendering cells more resistant to apoptosis in the presence of A β . In cells failing to undergo aerobic glycolysis, increased mitochondrial respiration potentiates A β mediated ROS production to toxic levels resulting in cell death.



5.1.2 Limitations of study

A major limitation to this study was the heavy reliance on modeling in immortalized cell lines. Though these cell lines behave similar to nerve cells, they have undergone transformation which allows them to proliferate indefinitely through the acquisition of spontaneous or induced mutations which can drastically alter the biology of the cell. Importantly, mature adult nerve cells *in vivo* do not proliferate following differentiation. Future studies should focus on recapitulating the findings presented here in primary nerve cell cultures as this cell type represents a better, more physiologically relevant *in vitro* model. Though I made attempts to both over express and knockdown the expression of PDK1 and LDHA in primary nerve cells I was unable to achieve successful results with the plasmids and transfection technologies that I had available. Future studies which make use of adenoviral vectors to overexpress or knockdown LDHA or PDK1 and test for A β sensitivity and resistance would lend further support to aerobic glycolysis as a protective mechanism elicited by nerve cells against A β toxicity.

The use of A β_{25-35} instead of A β_{1-42} was another major limitation to this study. Though A β_{25-35} 35 does elicit toxicity and exhibits similar properties of the full length peptide, it is not present in the brains AD patients. Thus the use of $A\beta_{1-42}$ would offer more physiological relevance to the findings presented here. It is important to note that $A\beta_{1-42}$ was used to verify the effects elicited by A β_{25-35} exposure, but not in replicates of 3. In addition, this study did not examine the effects of a scrambled peptide (non-functional A β peptide) on toxicity as a negative control. The use of this peptide would lend support to the specific toxicity of A β_{25} -₃₅. However, previous studies examining A β toxicity in PC12 cells, showed the use of a AB25-35 scrambled peptide sequence had no effect on cell viability (Behl et al. 1994). Additionally in the present study cell viability assays were carried out with MTT. MTT is a tetrazole that is reduced to a purple formazan by mitochondrial reductase in viable cells. Given that this study examines mitochondrial function and mitochondrial reductase enzymes are found in the electron transport chain it is possible that a reduction in the amount of formazan (purple) formed could be a result of reduced mitochondrial activity independent of viability. The consistent use of trypan blue or propidium iodide/calcein green live dead assays throughout this study may have provided a more reliable indicator of cell viability or

171

death. Importantly, cells were examined by light microscopy prior to adding MTT to dishes to visually confirm decreased cell numbers relative to untreated cells. Moreover, when trypan blue exclusion analysis was performed, the results were in concordance with the MTT assay, suggesting that the use of MTT as a measure of cell viability was not a significant issue.

Another major limitation to this study was the lack of *in vivo* evidence supporting a role for the Warburg effect in neuronal resistance to A β . Moreover, I examined whole tissue extracts from cortical brain regions taken from transgenic AD mice and AD patients, which did not allow the ability to distinguish between glial cells and nerve cells. In light of the fact that some areas of the brain contain glial cells in excess of nerve cells by a 10 to 1 ratio, it would be valuable to examine the longitudinal expression patterns of PDK1 and LDHA in surviving neurons and astrocytes in AD brain to determine if a cell type specific expression pattern correlates with A β sensitivity. Furthermore, it would also be of interest to examine astrocytic resistance to A β *in vitro* to determine if these cells exploit a similar resistance mechanism. To determine if aerobic glycolysis contributes to resistance *in vivo* it would be useful to monitor the effects of attenuated LDHA and/or PDK1 levels on memory and neurodegeneration in AD mice. By crossing Cre/lox mediated conditional knockout models, in which LDHA or PDK1 genes are deleted in neuronal or glial cell compartments, to AD transgenic mice this could be achieved. One could then examine the effect of attenuated neural or glial expression of Warburg effect enzymes on susceptibility to AB toxicity. Though aerobic glycolysis appears to contribute to resistance against A β in vitro, it is imperative to demonstrate a similar effect in vivo.

Though preliminary studies with CNB-001 and J147, suggest that these compounds may activate and/or sustain a Warburg effect in nerve cells, these studies failed to determine if the neuroprotective effects elicited by these drugs rely on LDHA and/or PDK1. Thus in the future it would be important to determine if the neuroprotective effects of CNB-001 and J147 still exist in either nerve cell lines or primary nerve cultures in which LDHA and PDK1 is knocked down using siRNAs specific to each transcript. In addition, examining the longitudinal expression of these enzymes in mice fed either drug would be valuable in determining their role with respect to neuroprotection. Given that there does not appear to be

a direct link between CNB-001 or J147 and LDHA or PDK1 expression, further investigation in the mechanisms by which these drugs activate and/or maintain the expression of these enzymes is crucial to fully understanding their neuroprotective properties.

5.2 Global perspective of findings

5.2.1 Aerobic glycolysis and the AD brain

Aging and AD are associated with a decreased rate of cerebral glucose consumption, possibly contributing to both nerve cell loss and memory decline (Heiss et al., 1991; Mielke et al., 1998). Although a reduction in cerebral glucose metabolism, as measured by FDG-PET, is commonly used in the diagnosis of AD, recent evidence suggest that glucose utilization is more complex in the AD brain (Mosconi, 2005; Vlassenko et al., 2010). A recent PET imaging study which measured both glucose consumption and oxygen utilization, revealed a strong correlation between the spatial distribution of elevated aerobic glycolysis and AB plaques in brain tissue from patients with AD, as well as normal individuals with high levels of A β -deposition but without clinical manifestation of the disease (Vlassenko et al., 2010). In the developing nervous system, aerobic glycolysis is believed to account for 90% of glucose consumed (Powers et al., 1998). During childhood this fraction accounts for 35% of glucose utilization and finally drops to 10-12% in the adult brain (Vaishnavi et al., 2010). PET studies of cognitively normal individuals have shown an age-associated decrease in FDG uptake in regions of the brain frequently affected in AD, although these studies did not determine what proportion of glucose was processed by aerobic glycolysis versus oxidative phosphorylation (Cunnane et al., 2011). Moreover, recent imaging analysis of patients with AD revealed regional variations in atrophy, hypometabolism and A β deposition (La Joie et al., 2012). These observed variations are likely reflective of region specific pathological or compensatory mechanisms (La Joie et al., 2012). Interestingly, a recent neuroimaging study that attempted to correlate multimodal neuronal parameters (cortical thickness, glucose metabolism and hippocampal volume) with $A\beta$ deposition (PIB-PET) in cognitively normal older individuals, found no association between PIB uptake and the multimodal neurodegenerative biomarkers (Wirth et al., 2013). Surprisingly, improved neuronal integrity and cognitive function correlated with the presence of high A β burden in brain regions that are most affected in AD (Wirth et al., 2013). In another recent study of cognitively normal elderly subjects, using both PIB-PET and FDG-PET, it was

revealed that increased glucose uptake was associated with better verbal episodic memory in individuals with elevated amyloid levels (Ossenkoppele et al., 2013). These observations prompted to authors to speculate that $A\beta$ can trigger a neural compensation mechanism that enables elderly, presumably on the path to AD, to at least temporarily suppress the neurotoxic effects of $A\beta$ and preserve cognitive function by increasing brain activity (Ossenkoppele et al., 2013). These findings lend support to our own observations and suggest that aerobic glycolysis may be elevated in areas of the brain most susceptible to insult as a pre-emptive protective mechanism or in response to $A\beta$ accumulation during aging. Loss of this protective mechanism may render certain areas of the brain susceptible to $A\beta$ -induced neurotoxicity.

5.2.2 AD and cancer

Interestingly, cancer survivors have a lower risk of developing AD than those without cancer (Driver et al., 2012). In contrast, patients who suffered from AD had a lower incident of cancer (Driver et al., 2012). It is possible that individuals with cancer also have a higher propensity to activate aerobic glycolysis, as this form of metabolism confers a growth and survival advantage (i.e. anti-apoptotic function) to cancer cells (Koppenol et al., 2011). However, individuals who survive cancer may still have higher innate levels of aerobic glycolysis, presumably in areas of the brain, which may protect against the development of AD. In contrast, patients with AD may have lower levels of aerobic glycolysis, which not only renders them susceptible to the toxic effects of A β but also leads to decreased susceptibility to developing cancer. A similar trend has been observed in Parkinson's disease (Bajaj et al., 2010; Driver et al., 2007a; Driver et al., 2007b). Thus it may be valuable in the future to examine aerobic glycolysis in a Parkinson's disease context. Taken together these data suggest an inverse association between cancer and the development of neurodegenerative diseases. Future studies that examine the direct relationship between aerobic glycolysis, AD and cancer may provide more insight into this fascinating inverse relationship.

5.2.3 Lactate is a neuroprotective metabolite

Although aerobic glycolysis and associated lactate production has been shown to enhance memory, the effect of this metabolism on age-dependent or AD-related memory decline and neuronal loss has never formally been examined. Interestingly, L-lactate treatment following an ischemic insult is neuroprotective and attenuates neurological deficits in mice (Berthet et al., 2012; Berthet et al., 2009). Intracerebroventricular or intravenous injection of lactate has also been shown to exert a neuroprotective effect during experimentally induced hypoglycemia or cerebral ischemia (Berthet et al., 2012; Berthet et al., 2009; Wyss et al., 2011). Lactate also exerts neuroprotective effects via transcriptional activation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) expression in human astrocytes and the SH-SY5Y cell line (Coco et al., 2012). BDNF is a necessary factor for the survival of nerve cells within the CNS, and is also essential for long term memory storage (Bekinschtein et al., 2008). In addition, under normoxic conditions lactate can promote HIF-1 stabilization by inhibiting prolylhydroxylase 2 activity, the enzyme responsible for HIF-1a degradation (De Saedeleer et al., 2012). Stabilization of HIF-1 increases glycolysis and lactate production; events associated with resistance to A β toxicity. Moreover, exogenous lactate has been shown to increase both MCT1 and COX mRNA and protein expression in L6 cells (Hashimoto et al., 2007). Thus lactate can elicit a number of events leading to activation of transcription factors known to elicit protective effects. Furthermore, several studies have reported that lactate increases vasodilation (Gordon et al., 2008; Yamanishi et al., 2006); and continuous lactate production in the activated brain may serve as a signaling mechanism to increase blood flow and fuel delivery to the brain. Therefore lactate may function as a versatile signaling molecule by both activating neuroprotective

metabolism and promoting increased blood flow to certain regions of the brain. These changes mediated by increased lactate production may contribute to resistance against the toxic effects of $A\beta$ in AD brain.

5.2.4 Astrocytic lactate production and memory

Lactate has long been considered a metabolic dead end; a harmful metabolite for the CNS (Chih et al., 2001; Chih and Roberts Jr, 2003). However, this viewpoint has changed in light of growing evidence indicating that lactate transport from astrocytes to neurons is essential for long term memory (Alberini, 2009; Newman et al., 2011). Memory is a process in which information is encoded, stored and retrieved. Short term memories involve the retention of information for a brief period of time and are dependent on post translational modifications of proteins (Silva et al., 1998; Yin and Tully, 1996). Long term memories are formed after learning, retention, and consolidation which require the activation of signalling cascades that lead to gene activation, protein synthesis and the growth of new synaptic connections (Silva et al., 1998; Yin and Tully, 1996). The cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) is a

nuclear protein that modulates transcription and plays a central role in long term memory following phosphorylation dependent activation (Gibbs et al., 2006; Silva et al., 1998; Yin and Tully, 1996). Not surprisingly, memory and learning are metabolically demanding processes, which appear in part to be dependent on glycogen metabolism (Belanger et al., 2011; Newman et al., 2011; Rafiki et al., 2003). Glycogen represents the major energy reserve in the brain and is stored exclusively in astrocytes, not neurons (Brown et al., 2004; Newman et al., 2011; Vilchez et al., 2007). During periods of low glucose or increased activity glycogen is broken down to lactate to fuel neuronal metabolism (Brown et al., 2004). A role for glycogenolysis in long term memory formation was first observed by Gibbs and colleagues who found that intracerebral injection of 1,4-dideoxy-1,4-imino-D-arabinitol (DAB) (a glycogen phosphorylase inhibitor), in day-old chickens resulted in a dose-dependent inhibition of long term memory (Rafiki et al., 2003). More recently a more intensive study investigating the importance of astrocytic glycogenolysis and long term memory was performed by Suzuki et al. who examined learning and memory in rats using an inhibitory avoidance (IA) test. To test for the importance of glycogenolysis in hippocampal astrocytes rats were injected with DAB either 15 min before or immediately after IA training (Belanger et al., 2011). Training led to a significant increase in extracellular lactate in the hippocampus which was abolished by DAB administration (Belanger et al., 2011; Newman et al., 2011). DAB had no effect on short term memory (tested an hour after) but significantly blocked long term memory (tested at 24hr)(Belanger et al., 2011). Importantly, L-lactate co-administered with DAB significantly rescues memory loss (Belanger Similar results were obtained testing spatial working memory in rats using et al., 2011). spontaneous alteration tasks (Newman et al., 2011). Furthermore, astrocytic glycogenolysis also appears to be required for phosphorylation of CREB (pCREB) a key molecular event linked to memory formation (Belanger et al., 2011). DAB-induced reduction of pCREB activation was also rescued by exogenous L-lactate suggesting a possible signalling role for lactate (Belanger et al., 2011; Belanger and Magistretti, 2009).

The ability to shuttle (uptake and release) lactate to various regions of the brain is dependent on MCT activity. Examination of both MCT mRNA and protein levels in mouse cortical tissues, revealed that MCT1 and MCT4 were expressed almost exclusively in astrocytes, whereas MCT2 was strongly expressed in neurons (Debernardi et al., 2003; Pellerin et al., 2005). Based on these finding Suzuki and colleagues demonstrated the importance of CNS lactate transport

on memory by using intrahippocampal injections of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides to individually decrease expression of MCT1, MCT2 and MCT4 (Belanger et al., 2011). Decreased expression of MCT1 or MCT4 in astrocytes resulted in disrupted long-term memory formation that was rescued by exogenous administration of lactate but not glucose (Belanger et al., 2011). Disrupting the expression of neuronal MCT2 also resulted in loss of long-term memory which was not rescued by exogenous lactate or glucose, indicating that transport of lactate into neurons is required for long-term memory formation (Belanger et al., 2011). Taken together these results suggest that the astrocytic lactate export by MCT-1 and/or MCT-4, and subsequent import into neurons through MCT2, is essential for long term memory (Belanger et al., 2011). However, the role of lactate transport in memory loss associated with neurodegenerative diseases has remained largely unexplored. In examining cortical tissue from the AD transgenic mice or AD postmortem tissue, we did not distinguish between nerve and glial cell when examining the expression of the Warburg effect enzymes. Loss of LDHA and/or PDK1 in astrocytes may contribute to memory loss associated with AD.

5.2.5 Exercise induced lactate production enhances memory

During periods of physical exertion such as exercise, systemic lactate levels increase. Under resting conditions the brain releases small amounts of lactate which increases during exercise or hypoxia (Overgaard et al., 2012). During exercise the cerebral uptake of lactate also increases. As such, the brain plays an active role in the clearance of excessive lactate during exercise (Ide et al., 2000; Overgaard et al., 2012; Quistorff et al., 2008; Rasmussen et al., 2011; van Hall et al., 2009). The oxidation of lactate in the brain may account for as much as 33% the total energy substrate used by the brain (Overgaard et al., 2012). In contrast, cerebral glucose uptake is reduced by ~25% when cerebral lactate uptake is increased, suggesting that the brain preferentially consumes lactate during exercise (Rasmussen et al., 2011). Therefore, it appears that lactate is an important fuel source for brain metabolism both under normal conditions and during exercise. Given the importance of glycogen derived lactate for long term memory, it is feasible that exercise may benefit memory and cognitive function. Indeed, a study that examined the effects of a single bout of exercise on motor memory found that subjects that exercised before or after practice of a motor skill displayed significantly better retention of that skill 24 hrs and 7 days after practicing compared to subjects that did not exercise (Roig et al., 2012). These findings suggest a single bout of exercise before or after learning a motor skill

177

can improve long-term retention of that skill. Moreover, regular exercise has not only been shown to have a positive effect on memory retention but also appears to reduce the risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases including AD. Notably, exercise ameliorated memory deficits and A β deposition in APP transgenic mice (Maesako et al., 2012). In addition, a longitudinal study that followed 716 older individuals without dementia over 4 years assessed the link between exercise and AD (Buchman et al., 2012). The outcome of the study revealed that a higher level of total daily physical activity was associated with a reduced risk of AD (Buchman et al., 2012). Similar results were obtained when individuals were followed over a 14 year period (Scarmeas et al., 2009).

Interestingly BDNF is significantly elevated in response to exercise, possibly through increased lactate production, which may also account for some of the neuroprotective effects of exercise (Ferris et al., 2007). It should be noted that intravenous sodium-lactate administration in AD patients failed to improve cognitive functioning, although it did slightly improve semantic memory (Kalman et al., 2005). However, this study only examined the effects of a single 20 min intravenous administration of sodium-lactate on cognitive function. Because lactate was only administered for a short period it is unknown if longer periods or multiple administrations would improve cognitive function in AD patients. The systematic administration of glucose to AD patients does however improve memory (Manning et al., 1993). In contrast, insulin deficiency in AD transgenic mice exacerbates the AD phenotype (Wang et al., 2010). Notably, AD patients are at an increased risk for Type II diabetes, indicating an important association between glucose uptake and disease progression (Janson et al., 2004). Furthermore, patients with Type II diabetes are at increased risk for developing cognitive defects, AD or related dementias (Biessels and Kappelle, 2005; Whitmer, 2007). Collectively, these observations suggest that glucose uptake, aerobic glycolysis and associated lactate production may play a key role in promoting neuronal survival and preventing memory loss during aging and in AD. However, the role of aerobic glycolysis in maintaining CNS neuronal function during aging and preventing AD progression has never experimentally been examined. Clearly alterations in brain metabolism are tightly linked to AD and future research should focus on mechanisms that either enhance glucose uptake, aerobic glycolysis or lactate production.

5.3 Conclusions and Future Studies

5.3.1 Conclusions and suggestions for future research

In light of recent research, lactate has emerged as an important metabolite in the brain. These new findings accompanied by the findings presented here have altered the context in which we should look at the brain and its functioning. Importantly, given that metabolic dysfunction is tightly linked to neurodegenerative diseases, including AD, further studies measuring aerobic glycolysis and lactate production *in vitro* and *in vivo* are warranted. Examining the effects of exogenous lactate on AB sensitivity in primary nerve cells may lend support that this metabolite plays an important role in neuroprotection. Moreover, determining the effects of knocking down the expression of cellular lactate transporters (MCT's) in both A β resistant cells and primary nerve cells (MCT's) may also reveal the importance of this metabolite to modulating A β sensitivity. Considering the relationship between aerobic glycolysis in the AD brain, as well as the observed protective effect of aerobic glycolysis against A β *in vitro*, it would be valuable to perform a longitudinal study of aerobic glycolysis in normal and AD patients using FDG-PET to determine if elevated or sustained aerobic glycolysis correlates with better clinical outcome. Recent results from the dominantly inherited Alzheimer's network (DIAN) study showed that AB accumulation preceded detectable atrophy and hypometabolism by decades (Bateman et al., 2012). Interestingly, the caudate nucleus had very high levels of A β deposition but did not exhibit hypometabolism or neuronal loss throughout the course of disease progression (Bateman et al., 2012). Assuming that the caudate nucleus is resistant to the toxic effects of AD it would be valuable to determine if aerobic glycolysis is also elevated in this brain region.

A significant proportion of elderly individual's exhibit sufficient plaque accumulation warranting a neuropathology-based classification as probable AD, yet are normal by cognitive assessments (Bouras et al., 1994; Price and Morris, 1999). Assuming A β accumulation produces neurotoxicity and dementia, then increased CNS aerobic glycolysis may arise as a protective mechanism to enable these individuals to evade cognitive decline. Examining the brains of non-demented individuals with AD neuropathology (NDAN), may shed light on these neuroprotective mechanisms. Given the protective nature of LDHA and PDK1 *in vitro*, it would be of interest to examine the expression patterns of these enzymes in NDAN individuals.

Moreover, AD transgenic mice also may provide an interesting model for uncovering neuroprotective mechanisms that arise from the constitutive and progressive production of $A\beta$ in the CNS. Although AD transgenic mice have high plaque loads by 6 months of age, most fail to exhibit nerve cell loss and cognitive defects until 12 months, a timepoint in which we see a decline in PDK1 expression (Savonenko et al., 2005). Thus young AD mice may offer a model of A β -resistance. Moreover, the creation of transgenic mice, may help further define the role of this metabolism in preventing cognitive decline in older transgenic mice. These studies would provide a strong rationale for identifying compounds which activate aerobic glycolysis and enhance CNS function. The wealth of new research demonstrating the importance of aerobic glycolysis in the brain holds promise that activation of this form of metabolism may offer a new therapeutic strategy for the treatment of AD and other neurodegenerative diseases.

5.4 References

Alberini, C.M. (2009). Transcription factors in long-term memory and synaptic plasticity. Physiol Rev 89, 121-145.

Bajaj, A., Driver, J.A., and Schernhammer, E.S. (2010). Parkinson's disease and cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Causes Control *21*, 697-707.

Bateman, R.J., Xiong, C., Benzinger, T.L., Fagan, A.M., Goate, A., Fox, N.C., Marcus, D.S., Cairns, N.J., Xie, X., Blazey, T.M., *et al.* (2012). Clinical and biomarker changes in dominantly inherited Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med *367*, 795-804.

Bekinschtein, P., Cammarota, M., Katche, C., Slipczuk, L., Rossato, J.I., Goldin, A., Izquierdo, I., and Medina, J.H. (2008). BDNF is essential to promote persistence of long-term memory storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *105*, 2711-2716.

Belanger, M., Allaman, I., and Magistretti, P.J. (2011). Brain energy metabolism: focus on astrocyte-neuron metabolic cooperation. Cell Metab *14*, 724-738.

Belanger, M., and Magistretti, P.J. (2009). The role of astroglia in neuroprotection. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 11, 281-295.

Berthet, C., Castillo, X., Magistretti, P.J., and Hirt, L. (2012). New Evidence of Neuroprotection by Lactate after Transient Focal Cerebral Ischaemia: Extended Benefit after Intracerebroventricular Injection and Efficacy of Intravenous Administration. Cerebrovasc Dis *34*, 329-335.

Berthet, C., Lei, H., Thevenet, J., Gruetter, R., Magistretti, P.J., and Hirt, L. (2009). Neuroprotective role of lactate after cerebral ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29, 1780-1789.

Biessels, G.J., and Kappelle, L.J. (2005). Increased risk of Alzheimer's disease in Type II diabetes: insulin resistance of the brain or insulin-induced amyloid pathology? Biochem Soc Trans *33*, 1041-1044.

Bouras, C., Hof, P.R., Giannakopoulos, P., Michel, J.P., and Morrison, J.H. (1994). Regional distribution of neurofibrillary tangles and senile plaques in the cerebral cortex of elderly patients: a quantitative evaluation of a one-year autopsy population from a geriatric hospital. Cereb Cortex *4*, 138-150.

Brown, A.M., Baltan Tekkok, S., and Ransom, B.R. (2004). Energy transfer from astrocytes to axons: the role of CNS glycogen. Neurochem Int *45*, 529-536.

Buchman, A.S., Boyle, P.A., Yu, L., Shah, R.C., Wilson, R.S., and Bennett, D.A. (2012). Total daily physical activity and the risk of AD and cognitive decline in older adults. Neurology 78, 1323-1329.

Chen, Q., Prior, M., Dargusch, R., Roberts, A., Riek, R., Eichmann, C., Chiruta, C., Akaishi, T., Abe, K., Maher, P., *et al.* (2011). A novel neurotrophic drug for cognitive enhancement and Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One *6*, e27865.

Chih, C.P., He, J., Sly, T.S., and Roberts, E.L., Jr. (2001). Comparison of glucose and lactate as substrates during NMDA-induced activation of hippocampal slices. Brain Res *893*, 143-154.

Chih, C.P., and Roberts Jr, E.L. (2003). Energy substrates for neurons during neural activity: a critical review of the astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle hypothesis. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *23*, 1263-1281.

Coco, M., Caggia, S., Musumeci, G., Perciavalle, V., Graziano, A.C., Pannuzzo, G., and Cardile, V. (2012). Sodium L-lactate differently affects brain-derived neurothrophic factor, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and heat shock protein 70 kDa production in human astrocytes and SH-SY5Y cultures. J Neurosci Res 22, 23154.

Cunnane, S., Nugent, S., Roy, M., Courchesne-Loyer, A., Croteau, E., Tremblay, S., Castellano, A., Pifferi, F., Bocti, C., Paquet, N., *et al.* (2011). Brain fuel metabolism, aging, and Alzheimer's disease. Nutrition *27*, 3-20.

De Saedeleer, C.J., Copetti, T., Porporato, P.E., Verrax, J., Feron, O., and Sonveaux, P. (2012). Lactate Activates HIF-1 in Oxidative but Not in Warburg-Phenotype Human Tumor Cells. PLoS One 7, e46571.

Debernardi, R., Pierre, K., Lengacher, S., Magistretti, P.J., and Pellerin, L. (2003). Cell-specific expression pattern of monocarboxylate transporters in astrocytes and neurons observed in different mouse brain cortical cell cultures. J Neurosci Res *73*, 141-155.

Driver, J.A., Beiser, A., Au, R., Kreger, B.E., Splansky, G.L., Kurth, T., Kiel, D.P., Lu, K.P., Seshadri, S., and Wolf, P.A. (2012). Inverse association between cancer and Alzheimer's disease: results from the Framingham Heart Study. Bmj *344*, e1442.

Driver, J.A., Kurth, T., Buring, J.E., Gaziano, J.M., and Logroscino, G. (2007a). Prospective case-control study of nonfatal cancer preceding the diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. Cancer Causes Control *18*, 705-711.

Driver, J.A., Logroscino, G., Buring, J.E., Gaziano, J.M., and Kurth, T. (2007b). A prospective cohort study of cancer incidence following the diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev *16*, 1260-1265.

Ferris, L.T., Williams, J.S., and Shen, C.L. (2007). The effect of acute exercise on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function. Med Sci Sports Exerc *39*, 728-734.

Gibbs, M.E., Anderson, D.G., and Hertz, L. (2006). Inhibition of glycogenolysis in astrocytes interrupts memory consolidation in young chickens. Glia *54*, 214-222.

Gordon, G.R., Choi, H.B., Rungta, R.L., Ellis-Davies, G.C., and MacVicar, B.A. (2008). Brain metabolism dictates the polarity of astrocyte control over arterioles. Nature *456*, 745-749.

Hashimoto, T., Hussien, R., Oommen, S., Gohil, K., and Brooks, G.A. (2007). Lactate sensitive transcription factor network in L6 cells: activation of MCT1 and mitochondrial biogenesis. Faseb J *21*, 2602-2612.

Heiss, W.D., Szelies, B., Kessler, J., and Herholz, K. (1991). Abnormalities of energy metabolism in Alzheimer's disease studied with PET. Ann N Y Acad Sci 640, 65-71.

Ide, K., Schmalbruch, I.K., Quistorff, B., Horn, A., and Secher, N.H. (2000). Lactate, glucose and O2 uptake in human brain during recovery from maximal exercise. J Physiol *522 Pt 1*, 159-164.

Janson, J., Laedtke, T., Parisi, J.E., O'Brien, P., Petersen, R.C., and Butler, P.C. (2004). Increased risk of type 2 diabetes in Alzheimer disease. Diabetes *53*, 474-481.

Kalman, J., Palotas, A., Bodi, N., Kincses, T.Z., Benedek, G., Janka, Z., and Antal, A. (2005). Lactate infusion fails to improve semantic categorization in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res Bull *65*, 533-539.

Koppenol, W.H., Bounds, P.L., and Dang, C.V. (2011). Otto Warburg's contributions to current concepts of cancer metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer *11*, 325-337.

La Joie, R., Perrotin, A., Barre, L., Hommet, C., Mezenge, F., Ibazizene, M., Camus, V., Abbas, A., Landeau, B., Guilloteau, D., *et al.* (2012). Region-Specific Hierarchy between Atrophy, Hypometabolism, and beta-Amyloid (Abeta) Load in Alzheimer's Disease Dementia. J Neurosci *32*, 16265-16273.

Maesako, M., Uemura, K., Kubota, M., Kuzuya, A., Sasaki, K., Hayashida, N., Asada-Utsugi, M., Watanabe, K., Uemura, M., Kihara, T., *et al.* (2012). Exercise is more effective than diet control in preventing high fat diet-induced beta-amyloid deposition and memory deficit in amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 287, 23024-23033.

Manning, C.A., Ragozzino, M.E., and Gold, P.E. (1993). Glucose enhancement of memory in patients with probable senile dementia of the Alzheimer's type. Neurobiol Aging *14*, 523-528.

Mielke, R., Kessler, J., Szelies, B., Herholz, K., Wienhard, K., and Heiss, W.D. (1998). Normal and pathological aging--findings of positron-emission-tomography. J Neural Transm *105*, 821-837.

Mosconi, L. (2005). Brain glucose metabolism in the early and specific diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease. FDG-PET studies in MCI and AD. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging *32*, 486-510.

Newman, L.A., Korol, D.L., and Gold, P.E. (2011). Lactate produced by glycogenolysis in astrocytes regulates memory processing. PLoS One *6*, e28427.

Ossenkoppele, R., Madison, C., Oh, H., Wirth, M., van Berckel, B.N., and Jagust, W.J. (2013). Is Verbal Episodic Memory in Elderly with Amyloid Deposits Preserved Through Altered Neuronal Function? Cereb Cortex 28, 28.

Overgaard, M., Rasmussen, P., Bohm, A.M., Seifert, T., Brassard, P., Zaar, M., Homann, P., Evans, K.A., Nielsen, H.B., and Secher, N.H. (2012). Hypoxia and exercise provoke both lactate release and lactate oxidation by the human brain. Faseb J *26*, 3012-3020.

Pellerin, L., Bergersen, L.H., Halestrap, A.P., and Pierre, K. (2005). Cellular and subcellular distribution of monocarboxylate transporters in cultured brain cells and in the adult brain. J Neurosci Res *79*, 55-64.

Powers, W.J., Rosenbaum, J.L., Dence, C.S., Markham, J., and Videen, T.O. (1998). Cerebral glucose transport and metabolism in preterm human infants. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab *18*, 632-638.

Price, J.L., and Morris, J.C. (1999). Tangles and plaques in nondemented aging and "preclinical" Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 45, 358-368.

Quistorff, B., Secher, N.H., and Van Lieshout, J.J. (2008). Lactate fuels the human brain during exercise. Faseb J 22, 3443-3449.

Rafiki, A., Boulland, J.L., Halestrap, A.P., Ottersen, O.P., and Bergersen, L. (2003). Highly differential expression of the monocarboxylate transporters MCT2 and MCT4 in the developing rat brain. Neuroscience *122*, 677-688.

Rasmussen, P., Wyss, M.T., and Lundby, C. (2011). Cerebral glucose and lactate consumption during cerebral activation by physical activity in humans. Faseb J *25*, 2865-2873.

Roig, M., Skriver, K., Lundbye-Jensen, J., Kiens, B., and Nielsen, J.B. (2012). A single bout of exercise improves motor memory. PLoS One 7, e44594.

Savonenko, A., Xu, G.M., Melnikova, T., Morton, J.L., Gonzales, V., Wong, M.P., Price, D.L., Tang, F., Markowska, A.L., and Borchelt, D.R. (2005). Episodic-like memory deficits in the APPswe/PS1dE9 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: relationships to beta-amyloid deposition and neurotransmitter abnormalities. Neurobiol Dis *18*, 602-617.

Scarmeas, N., Luchsinger, J.A., Schupf, N., Brickman, A.M., Cosentino, S., Tang, M.X., and Stern, Y. (2009). Physical activity, diet, and risk of Alzheimer disease. Jama *302*, 627-637.

Silva, A.J., Kogan, J.H., Frankland, P.W., and Kida, S. (1998). CREB and memory. Annu Rev Neurosci 21, 127-148.

Soucek, T., Cumming, R., Dargusch, R., Maher, P., and Schubert, D. (2003). The regulation of glucose metabolism by HIF-1 mediates a neuroprotective response to amyloid beta peptide. Neuron *39*, 43-56.

Vaishnavi, S.N., Vlassenko, A.G., Rundle, M.M., Snyder, A.Z., Mintun, M.A., and Raichle, M.E. (2010). Regional aerobic glycolysis in the human brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17757-17762.

van Hall, G., Stromstad, M., Rasmussen, P., Jans, O., Zaar, M., Gam, C., Quistorff, B., Secher, N.H., and Nielsen, H.B. (2009). Blood lactate is an important energy source for the human brain. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 29, 1121-1129.

Vilchez, D., Ros, S., Cifuentes, D., Pujadas, L., Valles, J., Garcia-Fojeda, B., Criado-Garcia, O., Fernandez-Sanchez, E., Medrano-Fernandez, I., Dominguez, J., *et al.* (2007). Mechanism suppressing glycogen synthesis in neurons and its demise in progressive myoclonus epilepsy. Nat Neurosci *10*, 1407-1413.

Vlassenko, A.G., Vaishnavi, S.N., Couture, L., Sacco, D., Shannon, B.J., Mach, R.H., Morris, J.C., Raichle, M.E., and Mintun, M.A. (2010). Spatial correlation between brain aerobic glycolysis and amyloid-beta (Abeta) deposition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *107*, 17763-17767.

Wang, X., Zheng, W., Xie, J.W., Wang, T., Wang, S.L., Teng, W.P., and Wang, Z.Y. (2010). Insulin deficiency exacerbates cerebral amyloidosis and behavioral deficits in an Alzheimer transgenic mouse model. Mol Neurodegener *5*, 46.

Whitmer, R.A. (2007). Type 2 diabetes and risk of cognitive impairment and dementia. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 7, 373-380.

Wirth, M., Madison, C.M., Rabinovici, G.D., Oh, H., Landau, S.M., and Jagust, W.J. (2013). Alzheimer's Disease Neurodegenerative Biomarkers Are Associated with Decreased Cognitive Function but Not beta-Amyloid in Cognitively Normal Older Individuals. J Neurosci *33*, 5553-5563.

Wyss, M.T., Jolivet, R., Buck, A., Magistretti, P.J., and Weber, B. (2011). In vivo evidence for lactate as a neuronal energy source. J Neurosci *31*, 7477-7485.

Yamanishi, S., Katsumura, K., Kobayashi, T., and Puro, D.G. (2006). Extracellular lactate as a dynamic vasoactive signal in the rat retinal microvasculature. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol *290*, H925-934.

Yin, J.C., and Tully, T. (1996). CREB and the formation of long-term memory. Curr Opin Neurobiol *6*, 264-268.

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Jordan Newington
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Western Ontario Windsor, Ontario, Canada 2004-2008 B.Sc.
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2008-2013 Ph.D.
Honours and Awards:	Ontario Graduate Scholarship 2012-2013
	Queen Elizabeth II 2012-2013 (Declined)
	Graduate Research Award in Alzheimer's disease and Dementia Alzheimer's Society London and Middlesex 2011-2012
	Queen Elizabeth II 2011-2012
	Graduate Student Teaching Award 2011
	Center for Population, Health and Aging Annual Interdisciplinary Research Event Best Poster 2011
	Graduate Research Award in Alzheimer's disease and Dementia Alzheimer's Society London and Middlesex 2011-2012
	Dean's Honour List 2007, 2008
Related Work Experience	Undergraduate Course Instructor The University of Western Ontario 2012

Teaching Assistant

The University of Western Ontario 2008-2013

Laboratory Research Assistant The University of Western Ontario

2008

Publications:

Newington, J., Harris R., and Cumming, R. Re-evaluating metabolism in Alzheimer's disease from the perspective of the astrocyte-neuron lactate shuttle model. *Journal of Neurodegenerative Diseases* (In Press)

Arseneault, R., Chien, A., **Newington, J.**, Rappon, T., Harris, R., and Cumming, R. Attenuation of LDHA expression in cancer cells leads to redox-dependent alterations in cytoskeletal structure and cell migration. *Cancer Letters* (In Press)

Newington, J., Rappon, T., Albers,, S., Wong, D.Y., Rylett, R. J., and Cumming R. (2012) Overexpression of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase and lactate dehydrogenase A in nerve cells confers resistance to amyloid beta and other toxins by decreasing mitochondrial respiration and ROS production. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287:37245-37258.

Newington, J., Pitts, A., Chien, A., Arseneault, R., Shubert, D., and Cumming R. (2011). Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cells is mediated by the Warburg effect. *PLoS One*. 6(4): e19191. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019191.

Pitts, A., Dailey, K., **Newington, J.,** Chien, A., Arseneault, R., Cann, T., Thompson, L., and Cumming R. (2012) Dithiol-based compounds maintain expression of antioxidant protein peroxiredoxin1 that counteracts toxicity of mutant huntingtin. *J. Biol. Chem.* Vol.287 No. 27 p22717-22729.

Presentations:

Newington, J. Genetic engineering in animals. (2012) Guest lecture for Genetic Engineering

-3593. Western University

Newington, J. Nerve cells and Alzheimer's disease. (2012) Guest lecture for Virtual

Researcher on call. Western University

*Newington, J., and Cumming, R. PDK1 and LDHA confer resistance to neurotoxins including A β through mitochondrial remodeling. (2011) Society for Neuroscience Annual Conference. Washington DC, Poster presentation.

*Newington, J., and Cumming, R. Amyloid beta resistance and the Warburg effect: Reexamining Alzheimer's disease from a cancer perspective. (2011) Biology Graduate Research Forum.Western University, Oral Presentation. *Newington, J., and Cumming, R. Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cells is mediated by the Warburg effect. (2011) Centre for Population, Health and Aging: Annual Interdisciplinary Research Event. Western University, Oral Presentation.

*Newington, J., and Cumming, R. Amyloid beta resistance in nerve cells is mediated by the Warburg effect (2010) Society for Neuroscience Annual Conference. San Diego CA, Poster presentation.

*presenter

Academic Services:

September 2012-2013: Graduate Education Committee Representative

September 2012-2013: Advisory Committee member for two 4th year honours projects

September 2011-2012: Advisory Committee member for two 4th year honours projects

January 2011: Society of Graduate Students Election Appeal Board

September 2010-2012: Society of Graduate Students Representative

September 2010-2011: Advisory Committee member for one 4th year honours project

September 2009-2010: Western Undergraduate Research Journal: Health and Natural Science

Volunteer Experience:

2011-present: SARI Therapeutic Riding Center Program Committee. Sari Therapeutic Riding Centre, London, Ontario

2004-present: Certified Therapeutic Riding Instructor (CTRII). Sari Therapeutic Riding Centre, London, Ontario

2005-present: Hospitality meal service. St. Johns Evangelist Church, London, Ontario